Public Document Pack

SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ
www.southlakeland.gov.uk

You are requested to attend a meeting of
the Planning Committee
on Thursday, 29 July 2021, at 10.00 a.m.
in the Assembly Room, Kendal Town Hall, Kendal
Committee Membership
Councillors
Rupert Audland
Brian Cooper
Michael Cornah
Pete Endsor
Judy Filmore
Gill Gardner
Chris Hogg
John Holmes
Vicky Hughes
Janette Jenkinson
Malcolm Lamb (Vice-Chairman)
Susanne Long
Pete McSweeney (Chairman)
David Webster
Substitute Members
Philip Dixon (Substitute)
Kevin Lancaster (Substitute)
Mark Wilson (Substitute)

Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”.
Note – Due to the ongoing Covid-19 Pandemic, any Members of the public who wish to
observe the meeting, are required to contact committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk , at
least 24 hours before the meeting.
Tuesday, 20 July 2021
Linda Fisher, Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer)
For all enquiries, please contact:Committee Administrator:
Adam Moffatt
Telephone:
01539 733333
e-mail:
committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Page Nos.
PART I

1

APOLOGIES
To receive apologies for absence, if any.

2

MINUTES

5 - 34

To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the
meetings of the Committee held on 25 February 2021 and 25 March 2021
(copies attached).

3

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this
Agenda.
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct,
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s
Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.)
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as
any other registrable or other interests.
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting.

4

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS
To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be
considered in the presence of the press and public.

5

TERMS OF REFERENCE
To note the Terms of Reference for the Planning Committee (copy attached).

6

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so by no
later than 0:01am (one minute past midnight) two working days before the
meeting. Information on how to make the application can be obtained by
viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the
Committee Services Team on 01539 733333.
(1)
Planning Applications
Planning applications for which requests to speak have been made.
(2)

Agenda Items
Agenda items for which requests to speak have been made.

35 - 36

7

PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0310 - KENDAL SKI CLUB, CANAL
HEAD NORTH, KENDAL

37 - 62

To consider a proposal for the extension of the existing ski lodge and extension
of the existing ski slope at Kendal Ski Club, Canal Head North, Kendal.

8

PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0783 - LAND OFF BRIGSTEER
ROAD, KENDAL

63 - 208

To consider an application for the erection of 88 dwellings and associated works
on the land off Brigsteer Road, Kendal.

9

PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2021/0101 - KENDAL RUGBY UNION
FOOTBALL CLUB, MINT BRIDGE, SHAP ROAD, KENDAL

209 - 222

To consider a proposal seeking the variation of condition 19 (Open Hours)
attached to planning permission SL/2015/0016.

10

PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2021/0102 - KENDAL RUGBY UNION
FOOTBALL CLUB, MINT BRIDGE, SHAP ROAD, KENDAL

223 - 238

To consider a proposal for the change of use of the land to allow seasonal
camping at Kendal Rugby Union Football Club, Mint Bridge, Shap Road,
Kendal.

11

PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2021/0025 - 15 THE PARK, OLD
HUTTON, KENDAL
To consider an application to erect a 3m x 3.9m raised timber deck to the rear of
the property at No. 15 The Park, Old Hutton, Kendal.

PART II
Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information)
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number)
There are no items in this part of the Agenda.

239 - 248

This page is intentionally left blank

Item No.2
129
25.02.2021

Planning Committee
PLANNING COMMITTEE

Minutes of the proceedings at a virtual meeting of the Planning Committee held on
Thursday, 25 February 2021, at 10.00 a.m.
Present
Councillors
Pete McSweeney (Chairman)
Vicky Hughes (Vice-Chairman)
Rupert Audland
Helen Chaffey
Brian Cooper
Michael Cornah

Judy Filmore
Gill Gardner
John Holmes
Janette Jenkinson

Malcolm Lamb
Susanne Long
David Webster

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Dave Khan.
Officers
Mark Lynch
Andrew Martin
Nic Unwin
Louisa Wania
Matthew Emmott
Chris Gordon

P/88

Principal Specialist
Principal Planning Officer
Specialist - Development Management
Case Management Officer
Shared ICT Support Officer
Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENT
Following confirmation that the live stream of the meeting had commenced, the Chairman
welcomed everyone to the virtual meeting of South Lakeland District Council’s Planning
Committee, in doing so, thanking all officers involved.
The Chairman referred to the new Government legislation allowing councils to conduct
remote meetings and explained in detail to all taking part, and for the benefit of members
of the public, the procedures for the meeting. He then invited Members of the Planning
Committee to introduce themselves, to advise whether they were taking part by video or
audio and to confirm that they were able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members
participating in the meeting. All Members present, including the Chairman himself, having
indicated that this was the case, he referred to officers present at the meeting who would
introduce themselves when asked to address the meeting.

P/89

MINUTES
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the minutes
of the meeting of the Committee held on 28 January 2021.

Page 5

130
25.02.2021

P/90

Planning Committee

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
RESOLVED – That it be noted that –
Councillor Filmore declared a non-pecuniary interest in Minute No. P/6 Planning
Application No. SL/2019/1032 – Holme House Farm, Skelsmergh, Kendal. Councillor
Filmore stated that she knew the applicant however was attending the meeting with an
open mind and asked the Chair whether she would be able to attend the proceedings for
this item, to which the Chair agreed that she could indeed attend and vote on this item of
the agenda.
Councillor Gardner declared a non-pecuniary interest in Minute No. P/7 Planning
Application No. SL/2020/0364 – Cark Manor, Cark-in-Cartmel, Grange-over-Sands.
Councillor Gardner stated that she knew the applicant and would be disconnecting from
the hearing at this point.

P/91

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS
RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the agenda.

P/92

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
RESOLVED – That it be noted that applications to speak under the Council’s Public
Participation scheme have been received in respect of the following items:Minute No. P/6 (Planning Application No. SL/2019/1032); and
Minute No. P/7 Planning Application No. SL/2020/0364.
The Chairman advised that the participants would be dialled into the meeting to make
their address at the appropriate time.

P/93

PLANNING APPLICATION
SKELSMERGH, KENDAL

NO.

SL/2019/1032

-

HOLME

HOUSE

FARM,

Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation displayed at the meeting had been
circulated to Members and displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before
the meeting.
The Principal Planning Officer presented the report with accompanying slides of photos
and plans of the site from July 2020. He stated that the application had been made with all
matters reserved. The proposal of this planning application was to strip all caravans and
commercial buildings on the site and replace these existing structures with five detached
dwellings and one or more shared-use buildings.
The Principal Planning Officer addressed the flood risk issue, stating that, for the
purposes of determining this application, the Environment Agency had accepted the
applicants’ Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which regarded the site as being within Flood
Zone 1. However, the Environment Agency has also made it clear that its published
Environment Agency Flood Map for Planning remained unchanged, and still showed the
site to be within Flood Zone 3. The Principal Planning Officer then presented all other
relevant considerations to the Members, including the location surroundings, relevant
planning policies applicable to this proposal, and the period of non-use.

Page 6

131
25.02.2021

Planning Committee

The Principal Planning Officer concluded his presentation of the report by stating that he
recommended the approval of this planning application subject to the adoption of the
“Shadow Habitat Regulations Assessment” produced by Environmental Solutions Limited
and subject to the adoption of Conditions 1-20.
Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public
participants, speaking in support of the application, be dialled into the meeting to
make their representations.
Councillors Jon Owen, Chris Rowley and Pat Bell as well as Tim Moss, speaking on
behalf of the applicants addressed the Planning Committee in favour of the application
The Principal Planning Officer responded to concerns raised during public participation.
The Principal Planning Officer responded to questions raised by Members.
A motion to approve the application with the removal of Condition 5 was proposed and
seconded and a vote was taken on the motion, during which all Planning Committee
Members confirmed that they had, without interruption heard the full presentation and
discussion on the item.
Members thanked the Planning Officer for a comprehensive report and gave consideration
to the application. Lengthy discussion took place during which Members discussed
Condition 5 which had been set out in the report.
The motion was lost.
A motion to approve the application subject to all conditions was proposed and seconded
and a vote was taken on the motion, during which all Planning Committee Members
confirmed that they had, without interruption heard the full presentation and discussion on
the item and it was
RESOLVED: That Planning Application No. SL/2019/1032 be approved, subject to the
following conditions, including the conditions recommended by the local highway
authority, as reworded in the Committee Update:Note - Conditions recommended by the highway authority were to be reworded.
a) adoption by the Planning Committee of the “Shadow Habitat Regulations Assessment,
Holme House Farm, Skelsmergh, Report Ref. JN00473/D01, produced by Environmental
Solutions Ltd. and dated June 2020” to meet the Council’s responsibilities as a competent
authority in accordance with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017
(as amended by The Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit)
Regulations 2019); and
b) the following conditions:
Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:
•

Location Plan, PP (11)

•

New Build Zones, (PP) 03 Rev D;

All other submitted plans have been treated as illustrative only.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

Page 7

132
25.02.2021

Planning Committee

Condition (2) “Reserved matters” in the context of this application means: (1) access; (2)
layout of the entire site (including an overall landscaping strategy); and details of the (3)
appearance, (4) scale and (5) landscaping of each individual dwelling or shared-use
building hereby approved. The landscaping associated with each individual dwelling or
shared-use building means detailed proposals consistent with the overall landscaping
strategy.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
Condition (3) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later
than whichever is the later of the following dates:
a) FIVE YEARS from the date of this permission; or
b) the expiration of TWO YEARS from the final approval of: (1) the access to, and layout
of, the entire site (including an overall landscaping strategy); and (2) the appearance,
scale and landscaping of at least one of the five dwellings hereby approved
Application for the approval of the reserved matters referred to in b) must be made not
later than THREE years from the date of this permission.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.
Condition (4) No development of any individual dwelling or shared-use building shall
commence until the reserved matters relating to that individual dwelling or shared-use
building have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development on site.
Condition (5) The gross internal floorspace of each of the five dwellings hereby approved,
together with the cumulative footprints of any other structures erected as permitted
development within the curtilage of each dwelling for purposes incidental to the enjoyment
of the dwellinghouse pursuant to The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), or any Order revoking or re-enacting
that Order, shall not exceed 140 sq. m. The curtilage of any of the five dwellings hereby
approved must lie within the “Blue Zone” or “Red Zone” on drawing (PP) 03 Rev D.
REASON: To ensure that the replacement dwellings do not exceed a size that would
compromise the objectives of policy CS1.2 (The Development Strategy) of the South
Lakeland Core Strategy.
Condition (6) The shared-use building(s) hereby approved must lie within the “White
Zone”, “Red Zone” or “Blue Zone” on drawing (PP) 03 Rev D and shall be limited to a
cumulative footprint not exceeding 480 sq.m. Use of the shared-use buildings must be
restricted to: (1) shared incidental residential uses reasonably necessary to support any
cohousing objectives for all five dwellings hereby approved; and/or (2) shared space for
agricultural storage, production and related activities associated with the farming and
general management of the land contained within the red and blue lines on drawing (PP)
11.
REASON: To ensure that: (1) any co-housing objectives are adequately supported; and
(2) the space dedicated to individual dwellings does not exceed a size that would
compromise the objectives of policy CS1.2 (The Development Strategy) of the South
Lakeland Core Strategy.

Page 8

133
25.02.2021

Planning Committee

Landscaping
Condition (7) The overall landscaping strategy required by condition 2 shall include: (1)
provision for the retention and enhancement of the existing tree belt located between the
eastern boundary of the application site (but still within the blue line on drawing PP (11))
and public footpath number 570030; and (2) a maintenance strategy for the landscaping
of all the land within the red and blue lines on drawing (PP) 11 for the lifetime of the
development. Any further details of landscaping submitted in compliance with condition 2
must accord with the overall landscaping strategy and, thereafter, must be maintained in
accordance with the agreed maintenance strategy.
REASON: To safeguard and enhance the character of the area in accordance with policy
DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the South
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Condition (8) The development of any individual dwelling or shared-use building shall
proceed in accordance with an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and an Arboricultural
Method Statement that shall first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
local planning authority as part of the reserved matters application for that individual
dwelling or shared-use building. The Arboricultural Impact Assessment must assess the
potential impact on any of the 47 individual trees and 8 groups of trees identified in the
“Tree Locations & Constraints” information submitted with this application. Any trees
identified for retention must be included in the details of landscaping for that individual
dwelling or shared-use building required by condition 2 and must be protected during the
course of development in accordance with the agreed Arboricultural Method Statement.
REASON: To protect existing trees in accordance with policy DM4 (Green and Blue
Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the South Lakeland Development
Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Accessible and adaptable homes
Condition (9) The dwellings hereby approved shall be constructed to meet the Building
Regulations M4(2) standards for accessible and adaptable homes.
REASON: To comply with policy DM11 (Accessible and Adaptable Homes) of the South
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Broadband
Condition (10) None of the dwellings hereby approved shall be first occupied until
connected to the necessary infrastructure to enable access to high speed (superfast)
broadband, unless this is unfeasible in the terms set out in policy DM8 (High Speed
Broadband for New Developments) of the South Lakeland Development Management
Policies Development Plan Document.
REASON: To comply with policy DM8 (High Speed Broadband for New Developments) of
the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Sustainable construction
Condition (11) Each of the dwellings and shared-use buildings shall be constructed in
accordance with a specification produced to accommodate as many of the provisions
within the “List of Measures that support and enhance habitat creation, urban greening
and respond to the effects of climate change” contained in Appendix 1 of the Development
Management Policies Development Plan Document as is reasonably practicable in the
circumstances. No development shall commence until the scheme has been submitted to,

Page 9

134
25.02.2021

Planning Committee

and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme can be submitted as
part of a relevant reserved matters application as required by condition 2.
REASON: To incorporate measures that support and enhance habitat creation and urban
greening ensuring that provision reflects the local biodiversity evidence base and reduces
the factors contributing to, and responds to the effects of climate change, in accordance
with policy DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) of the South Lakeland
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Land contamination
Condition (12) No individual dwelling or shared-use building shall be first occupied until:
(1) gas protection measures for that dwelling/building together with a capping system for
the garden and other soft landscaping areas within the curtilage of any dwelling, have
been installed in accordance with a scheme that shall first have been submitted, and
approved in writing by, the local planning authority; and (2) a validation report and
statement/certificate from an appropriately qualified person detailing any contamination
identified during the construction of that dwelling/building and any remediation undertaken
(including material removed in the clearance of the site) has also been submitted, and
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme for gas protection and,
where relevant, the capping system can be submitted as part of a relevant reserved
matters application as required by condition 2.
REASON: To safeguard human and environmental health in accordance with policy DM7
(Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South Lakeland
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Flood risk
Condition (13) The finished ground floor levels of the dwellings and shared-use building(s)
hereby approved shall be set no lower than 79.1m AOD.
REASON: To reduce the risk of flooding in accordance with policy CS8.8 (Development
and Flood Risk) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy and policy DM6 (Flood Risk
Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems) of the South Lakeland Development
Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Condition (14) No development of any individual dwelling or shared-use building shall
commence until a surface water drainage scheme for that individual dwelling or shareduse building has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority. The scheme must accord with: (1) the principles established in the Level 2
Scoping Study Flood Risk & Drainage Impact Assessment produced by the Flood Risk
Consultancy Limited (Report No: 2019-021 Revision B) dated 05 December 2019; (2) the
hierarchy of drainage options in the national planning practice guidance, achieving the
most sustainable option that is practicable, evidenced by reference to an assessment of
site conditions; and (3) the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage
Systems (March 2015), or any equivalent replacement standards. The scheme must also
include provisions for long-term management. The scheme can be submitted as part of a
relevant reserved matters application as required by condition 2. Thereafter, no individual
dwelling or shared-use building hereby approved shall be first occupied until it has been
connected to the approved surface water drainage scheme. Thereafter, the surface water
drainage scheme shall be maintained for the lifetime of the development.
REASON: To promote the use of a sustainable surface water drainage scheme in
accordance with policy DM6 (Flood Risk Management and Sustainable Drainage

Page 10

135
25.02.2021

Planning Committee

Systems) of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.
Foul drainage
Condition (15) No individual dwelling or shared-use building shall be first occupied until it
has been connected to a system of foul drainage, the details of which shall first have been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. Foul and surface
water must drain to separate systems. The required details can be submitted as part of a
relevant reserved matters application as required by condition 2.
REASON: To ensure that the development is supported by the essential necessary
infrastructure in accordance with policy DM1 (General Requirements for all development)
of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Biodiversity
Condition (16) Any works of demolition must proceed in accordance with the conclusions
and recommendations of the Bat Update Survey Letter Report, Holme House Farm,
Skelsmergh, Kendal, produced by Lucy Gibson Consulting and dated 27 May 2020.
REASON: To mitigate the potential impacts on protected species in accordance with
policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.
Condition (17) No development shall commence until a scheme demonstrating that the
development will achieve a minimum 10% biodiversity net gain, measured using the Defra
Biodiversity Metric 2.0 (or such later version as may be promoted by Defra at the time that
the required scheme is submitted), has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
local planning authority. The required details can be submitted as part of the first reserved
matters application submitted in compliance with condition 2. Thereafter, the development
shall proceed in accordance with the approved scheme and the net gain shall be
maintained for the lifetime of the development.
REASON: To meet the requirements of: (1) policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure,
Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the of the South Lakeland Development
Management Policies Development Plan Document; (2) paragraph 170 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.; and (3) section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act 2006.
Condition (18) No development shall commence until a Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) containing measures to mitigate the impacts of the approved
development on protected species and the River Kent Special Area of Conservation
(SAC) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The
CEMP must include the following:
•
A biosecurity protocol, including management measures to deal with invasive
species during construction, if a reassessment of the site shows that invasive species are
still present.
•
Details of an unfenced buffer zone for foraging otters extending back at least 10m
from the eastern bank of the River Sprint.
•
Identification of areas for the storage of machinery, plant and materials during
construction. These areas cannot be within the 10m buffer zone referred to above.

Page 11

136
25.02.2021

Planning Committee

•
Details of any temporary construction routes within the 10m buffer zone referred to
above. These routes must be specified with a geotextile underlay and an ecologically
neutral surface material.
•
Pollution prevention measures for the control of noise and dust and to ensure that
no waste, including contaminated surface water runoff, generated by construction
activities (including the storage or burning of waste) or the remediation of existing pollution
(including the removal of asbestos or existing fuel tanks) makes its way directly or
indirectly into the River Sprint.
The required details can be submitted as part of the first reserved matters application
submitted in compliance with condition 2.
All construction work must proceed in accordance with the approved CEMP. In addition:
•
If it is essential for any excavations to be left open overnight then a means of
escape should be provided with a plank situated at no more than forty five degrees within
the excavation.
•
All lighting associated with the construction phase of the project must be directed
away from the River Sprint and the associated woodland.
REASON: To mitigate the potential impacts on: (1) the River Kent and Tributaries Site of
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI); (2) the River Kent Special Area of Conservation (SAC);
and (3) protected species, all in accordance with policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and
geodiversity) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.
Lighting
Condition (19) No individual dwelling or shared-use building shall be first occupied until
any external lighting required for that dwelling/building has been installed in accordance
with a scheme that shall first have been submitted, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The scheme must include confirmation from a qualified ecologist that it
has been designed to minimize harmful impacts on:
(1) the River Kent and Tributaries Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI); (2) the River
Kent Special Area of Conservation (SAC); and
(3) protected species. The scheme can be submitted as part of a relevant reserved
matters application as required by condition 2.
Thereafter, any external lighting shall be maintained in accordance with the approved
scheme.
REASON: To mitigate the potential impacts on: (1) the River Kent and Tributaries Site of
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI); (2) the River Kent Special Area of Conservation (SAC);
and (3) protected species, all in accordance with policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and
geodiversity) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.
Construction hours
Condition (20) Construction work shall be limited to daylight hours only and never on Bank
Holidays nor otherwise outside the hours of 0800 – 1800 Monday to Friday or 0900 –
1300 on Saturdays.
REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity and ecological interest of the
existing area in accordance with: (1) policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) of the
South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure and

Page 12

137
25.02.2021

Planning Committee

Open Space) and DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality)
of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Access
Condition (21 None of the dwellings or shared-use buildings hereby approved shall be first
occupied until the first 10 metres of the access drive measured from the carriageway edge
of the adjacent highway has been surfaced in bituminous or cement-bound materials.
REASON: To maintain highway safety in accordance with policy CS10.2 (Transport
impact of new development) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.
Condition (22) No structure, vehicle or object of any kind shall be erected, parked or
placed and no trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or be permitted to be grown
within the visibility splay to the east of the site entrance with Garth Row Lane.
REASON: To maintain highway safety in accordance with policy CS10.2 (Transport
impact of new development) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.
Note – Councillor Gardner left the meeting at this stage in the proceedings (11.50
a.m.).
Note – The Committee voted to adjourn for a break at 11.50 a.m. and reconvened at
11.55 a.m. when a roll call was taken, all Members confirming that they were
present, that they were able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members
participating in the meeting.

P/94

PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0364 - CARK MANOR, CARK-IN-CARTMEL,
GRANGE-OVER-SANDS
The Specialist (Development Management) presented the report. He summarised the
proposal which sought full planning permission for the change of use from dwelling (Use
Class C3) to mixed use dwelling and holiday let (Sui Generis). The application also
involved the construction of a car park and access track to the existing access onto Sunny
Bank Road. He stated that the proposal did not require any internal or external alterations
or division of the existing Cark Manor.
He then turned to the objections raised by the public against the proposal. The material
matters raised were (1) the loss of privacy due to the intensification of use of the
premises, (2) noise generated from the proposed car park and intensification of use of the
premises, (3) loss of light from proposed planting, (4) light pollution, and (5) highway
safety impacts from the intensification of vehicle movements. The Specialist stated that at
most Cark Manor, under this proposal, could be let to 20 different individuals potentially
travelling in 20 different cars.
The Specialist (Development Management) recommended the Committee to approve the
application subject to the Conditions 1-10. He stated that the amenity impact of the
proposal was limited through the recommended conditions and that the proposal would
provide a benefit to the local economy.
Ms Rachel Leather addressed the Committee in favour of the application, speaking on
behalf of the applicants. She stated that other locations for the construction of the car park
had been investigated and it was concluded that these locations would have had a far
greater impact on the environment, listed buildings, and so forth. She said that the
property was shielded from the car park by a stone wall. Ms Leather clarified that the

Page 13

138
25.02.2021

Planning Committee

applicants’ business model stated that Cark Manor was going to be let only to groups, it
was not going to be let by room. She further stated that there was a possibility that guests
were to be chauffeured to the manor in order to minimise car movement and traffic. She
concluded her representation by stating that this development would support the local
economy, especially in the face of a global pandemic.
The Specialist (Development Management) responded to questions raised by Members.
Members discussed the usage of the property, alternative parking solutions and whether
the manager and owners would have to ensure that the number of people present at the
property was limited to a maximum of 20.
A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on
the motion, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had,
without interruption, heard the full presentation and discussion on the item and it was
RESOLVED – That Planning Application No. SL/2020/0364 be approved, subject to the
following conditions:
Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years
from the date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.
Condition (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:
•

Site Location Plan, date received 25/06/2020

•

Proposed Site Plan AMENDED (1829 PL01 rev F (003)), date received 03/12/2020

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
Condition (3) Prior to first use of the holiday let use, visibility splays providing clear
visibility of 25 metres to the east of the southern access measured 2.4 metres down the
centre of the access road to the nearside channel line of the carriageway edge has been
provided at the junction of the access road with the county highway. Notwithstanding the
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or
any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no
structure, vehicle or object of any kind shall be erected, parked or placed and no trees,
bushes or other plants shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the visibility splay
which obstruct the visibility splays.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
Condition (4) Prior to the first use of the holiday let use, full details of the proposed one
way system to access and exit the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first
use of the holiday let use and be maintained operational thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
Condition (5) Details of measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to prevent
surface water discharging onto or off the highway from the access toad which slopes
down towards the highway shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval
prior to its construction. The surfacing of the access road on a bound material shall extend

Page 14

139
25.02.2021

Planning Committee

for at least 5 metres inside the site, as measured from the highway boundary. Any
approved works shall be implemented prior to the development being completed and shall
be maintained operational thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
Condition (6) Prior to the first use of the holiday let use, full details of both hard and soft
landscape works and boundary treatments (including tree planting, hedgerows and earth
works) will be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
agreed scheme shall be carried out as approved to the agreed timetable. Any trees /
shrubs which are removed, die, become severely damaged or diseased within five years
of their planting shall be replaced in the next planting season with trees / shrubs of similar
size and species to those originally required to be planted.
Reason: These details are required to safeguard and enhance the character of the area
and secure high quality landscaping in accordance with Policies DM1, DM2 and DM4 of
the of the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. The details
are additionally required to safeguard the setting of a heritage asset.
Condition (7) Prior to the first use of the holiday let use, a scheme of biodiversity net gain
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed
scheme shall be carried out as approved to the agreed timetable and remain in perpetuity.
Reason: These details are required to secure a biodiversity net gain for the proposal in
accordance with Policy DM4 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.
Condition (8) The building known as ‘Cark Manor’ shall not be occupied by more than 20
individuals at any one time.
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residents and in the interests of
highway safety in accordance with Policy DM1 of the Development Management Policies
DPD, Policy CS10.2 of the Core Strategy and Paras 109 and 127 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.
Condition (9) A bound register of all occupants of the holiday let use shall be maintained
at all times and shall be made available for inspection by the Local Planning Authority on
request. The register shall comprise consecutively numbered pages, which shall be kept
in order, and each entry shall contain the name and address of the principal occupier
together with the dates of occupation and number of occupants.
Reason: To comply with the Council’s development strategy set out within Policy CS1.2 of
the Core Strategy.
Condition (10)
a) No external lighting shall be installed unless and until a scheme for the provision of
external lighting has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme shall include full details of the location, design, luminance levels,
light spillage and hours of use of all external lighting within the site.
b) The approved lighting scheme shall be implemented in full prior to first occupation of
the development hereby approved.
Reason: These details are required to be approved before the commencement of
development to safeguard and enhance the character of the area and to minimise light

Page 15

140
25.02.2021

Planning Committee

pollution in accordance with Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document.

The meeting ended at 12.33 p.m.

Page 16

141
25.03.2021

Planning Committee
PLANNING COMMITTEE

Minutes of the proceedings at a virtual meeting of the Planning Committee held on
Thursday, 25 March 2021, at 10.00 a.m.
Present
Councillors
Pete McSweeney (Chairman)
Vicky Hughes (Vice-Chairman)
Rupert Audland
Helen Chaffey
Brian Cooper
Michael Cornah

Judy Filmore
Gill Gardner
John Holmes
Janette Jenkinson

Malcolm Lamb
Susanne Long
David Webster

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Dave Khan.
Officers
Cat Brumwell
Tom Dugdale
Chris Gordon
Mark Lynch
Andrew Martin
Simon McVey
Nic Unwin

P/95

Case Management Officer
Case Management Officer
Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist
Principal Specialist
Principal Planning Officer
Operational Lead Support Services
Specialist - Development Management

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENT
Following confirmation that the live stream of the meeting had commenced, the Chairman
welcomed everyone to the virtual meeting of South Lakeland District Council’s Planning
Committee, in doing so, thanking all officers involved in the process for their work on the
project.
The Chairman referred to the new Government legislation allowing councils to conduct
remote meetings and explained in detail to all taking part, and for the benefit of members
of the public, the procedures for the meeting. He then invited Members of the Planning
Committee to introduce themselves, to advise whether they were taking part by video or
audio and to confirm that they were able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members
participating in the meeting. All Members present, including the Chairman himself, having
indicated that this was the case, he referred to officers present at the meeting who would
introduce themselves when asked to address the meeting.

P/96

MINUTES
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the updated
minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 25 February 2021.

Page 17

142
25.03.2021

P/97

Planning Committee

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
RESOLVED – That the following declaration of interest be noted:(1) Councillor Gardner declared an interest in agenda item 10 Planning Application no.
SL/2020/0337 Fairfield Lodge, Priest Lane, Cartmel; and
(2) Councillor Dixon declared an interest in agenda item 11 Planning application no.
SL/2020/0103 Grange Promenade, Grange-over-Sands, LA11 7DH.
Members of the Planning Committee having reserved their positions for the determination
of the Planning application at the Council meeting were advised they could take part and
determine the application. With the exception of Councillor Dixon all took part in the item.

P/98

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS
RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the Agenda.

P/99

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
RESOLVED – That it be noted that applications to speak under the Council’s Public
Participation scheme have been received in respect of the following items:Minute No. P/16 Planning Application No. SL/2019/0841 – The Courthouse, Burneside
Road, Kendal, LA9 4NF
Minute No. P/17 Planning Application No. SL/2020/0337 – Fairfield Lodge, Priest Lane,
Cartmel

P/100

VERBAL UPDATE ON SECTION 106 AGREEMENTS
RESOLVED - The Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist (Monitoring Officer)
stated that in the two years that she had held the role, 24 of a total of 35 Section 106
Agreements had been completed. She further explained that there were 14 currently
undergoing the process, of which 3 probably will have been completed by the 30 March
2021. Immense progress had been made. She stated that the aim was to ensure
completion as soon as possible so developers were able to implement the agreements
made by Councillors.

P/101

PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0830 - THE PASTURES TEMPLAND LANE
ALLITHWAITE, GRANGE-OVER-SANDS
RESOLVED – Planning Application No. SL2020/0830 – The Pastures Templand Lane
Allithwaite, Grange-over-Sands was withdrawn prior to the hearing.

P/102

PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2021/0052 - THE PASTURES TEMPLAND LANE
ALLITHWAITE, GRANGE-OVER-SANDS
The Principal Specialist presented Planning Application No. SL/2021/0052 which sought
approval for the siting of two holiday lodges on the southern part of The Pastures, where
previous planning permission had already been granted for three lodges, two of which had
been implemented. The proposal sought to erect two lodges in lieu of the one. Referring
to the site plans and photographs, he illustrated the features of the site, pointing out that
the proposed lodges would reflect the existing ones stylistically and assure a degree of

Page 18

143
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

homogeneity. The Officers recommended approval of the application subject to the
conditions attached, with the added recommendation that approval also be subject to a
change of condition 6.
Members thanked the Principal Specialist for presenting the report and gave consideration
to the application. Members specifically raised questions as to why work had begun on the
site prior to the approval of the planning permission. The Principal Specialist agreed that
this was frustrating, but stated that unfortunately it was not an offence and hence could
not cloud judgment when making a decision on the approval of the application.
A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on
the motion, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had,
without interruption, heard the full presentation and discussion on the item and it was RESOLVED – that the application be approved, subject to the following conditions: –
Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years
from the date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.
Condition (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans: Site Location Plan - Drawing No. Plan 01 received 27th
January 2021, Proposed site plan Drawing No Plan 03 received 27th January 2021, Extra
boundary hedge planting at Meadows End specification dated 12th January 2021, Plan
and elevations 2008069-0 received 22nd January 2021, Metrotile slate-charcoal grey roof
specification received 22nd January 2021, Facing material boarding wall specification
received 22nd January 2021 and Bird Box design received 22nd January 2021.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
Condition (3) The lodges shall not be occupied other than as holiday accommodation.
They shall not be used at any time as sole and principal residences by any occupants.
Reason: To safeguard the local tourist economy in accordance with Policy DM18 of the
Councils Development Management Policies.
Condition (4) The owner/operator of the site known as 'The Pastures' as outlined on the
Site Location Plan shall maintain an up-to-date register of the names of all of the
individual caravan owners and occupiers and their main home addresses, and shall make
the following information available to the Local Planning Authority upon request: - copies
of the register; - a copy of the licence between the site owner / operator; and - the lodge
owner / occupier for each pitch.
Reason: To safeguard the local tourist economy in accordance with Policy DM18 of the
Councils Development Management Policies.
Condition (5). Within the next planting season, unless agreed otherwise in writing by the
Local Planning Authority the approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented.
Any trees/shrubs, which are removed, die, become severely damaged or diseased within
five years of their planting shall be replaced in the next planting season with rees / shrubs
of similar size and species to those originally required to be planted unless the Local
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Page 19

144
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

Reason: These details are required to safeguard and enhance the character of the area
and secure high quality landscaping in accordance with saved Policy DM1 of the Councils
Development Management Policies.
Condition (6) a) No site clearance, preparatory work or development shall take place until
a scheme for the protection of the retained trees (the tree protection plan) and the
appropriate working methods (the arboricultural method statement) in accordance with
Clause 7 of British Standard BS5837 - Trees in Relation to Construction Recommendations has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. b) The tree protection measures shall be carried out as described and
approved, and shall be maintained until the development is completed.
Reason: These details are required to be approved before the commencement of
development to ensure the protection and retention of important landscape features in
accordance with Policy DM1 of the Councils Development Management Policies.
Note – Condition 6 was amended. The applicant submitted the tree protection plan
prior to the hearing, and has been checked and approved by Officers. Therefore the
Condition has been changed to one which required the applicant to implement the
agreed plan completely for the duration of the development.
Condition (7) No external lighting shall be installed until a lighting scheme, including
details of the design, size, luminance level and shielding arrangements have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting shall be
installed in accordance with the approved scheme and retained thereafter.
Reason: These details are required to be approved before the commencement of
development to safeguard and enhance the character of the area in accordance with
Policy DM1 of the Councils Development Management Policies.
Condition (8) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the written approval of the Local
Planning Authority shall be obtained for the construction and siting of any buildings,
structures, erections, motorhomes or touring caravans (whether temporary or otherwise)
to be placed or parked on the site.
Reason: To preserve the local environment and landscape in accordance with Policy DM1
of the Councils Development Management Policies.
Condition (9) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the written approval of the Local
Planning Authority shall be obtained for the placing of any overhead electricity service
lines on the site.
Reason: To preserve the local environment and landscape in accordance with Policy DM1
of the Councils Development Management Policies.
Condition (10) Within three months of the first occupation of the lodges, the approved bird
boxes shall be placed on the lodges and retained thereafter.
Reason: In order to provide a gain in biodiversity and in accordance with Policy DM4 of
the Councils Development Management Policies.

Page 20

145
25.03.2021

P/103

Planning Committee

PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2019/0841 - THE COURTHOUSE, BURNESIDE
ROAD, KENDAL, LA9 4NF
The Principal Planning Officer presented Planning Application No. SL/2019/0841 which
sought to demolish the existing building and redevelop the site with 64 retirement living
apartments for older people (sixty years of age and/or partner over fifty years of age),
guest apartment, communal facilities, access, car parking and landscaping. Referring to
site plans and photographs, the Principal Planning Officer illustrated the applicant’s
proposal and its relationship to the surrounding neighbourhood properties. He stated that
although there were considerable constraints and points of contention, given the proposed
building’s size, the site benefited from the fact that it was surrounded by dense planting on
the North West side.
Note – The Live Stream ended unexpectedly at 10.30. The hearing was adjourned
until 10.45. The Live Stream re-commenced at 10.46. The Chairman repeated the
introduction to the meeting and a roll call was held. All Members confirmed that
they were able to hear and see the proceedings clearly.
The Principal Planning Officer continued where he left off and turned to the issue of flood
risk. Referring to site plans and photographs, the Principal Planning Officer outlined the
potential flood risk. He highlighted that the proposed site pitched the ground floor of
habitable accommodation at a level of 47.90m AOD, marked by the top of a substructure
that underpinned the whole building. This level was to ensure that the habitable
accommodation was safe from flooding. The Principal Planning Officer turned to the
character of the proposed site, stating that the existing Magistrates Court was a quite
unobstrusive structure, and that the site and surrounding gateway location of Burneside
Road could benefit from a more assertive building. The Principal Planning considered the
landscaping aspects of the proposal. He highlighted that the strong belt of existing
planting was to remain unchanged for the most part. The Principal Planning Officer stated
that surrounding propoerties had comfortable relationships with the proposal. He noted
that the relationships between the residential buildings on Dockray Road and the site are
much narrower, however, after having undertaken additional daylight assessments, the
site passed the BRE test and with the combination of the belt of dense planting, the
relationship between the buildings on Dockray Road and the site had been deemed as
acceptable by Officers. The Principal Planning Officer acknowledged that one of the
greatest public contentions regarding the proposal was the issue of parking. He noted that
there was already a great deal of pressure on Dockray Road in particular and he fully
accepted the comments made by the public regarding possible congestion issues. He also
made reference to the National Cycle Network and Public Rights of Way.
The Principal Planning Officer recommended the application for approval, subject to:
a) adoption by the Planning Committee of the “Habitat Regulations Assessment Report,
Tyler Grange, Report Number: 12519_R02a_GP_LP, 27 September 2019” to meet the
Council’s responsibilities as a competent authority in accordance with The Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended by The Conservation of Habitats
and
Species
(Amendment)
(EU
Exit)
Regulations
2019);
and
b) conditions.
Simon Cater, representing the applicant, addressed the Planning Committee in favour of
the application. He stated that there had been no objection to the application from the
Town Council and that the applicant had worked with the Council and two independent
assessors in preparation of this Planning Application. He stated that the site was well
located for retirement homes and that there was a need for housing for older people,

Page 21

146
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

which this development would contribute to fulfilling. He stated that in fact housing for
older people was ranked nationally as being in ‘critical need’ and that it was the only form
of housing which held such description. He stated that the application was a great
opportunity to provide housing for older people, which would free up existing housing for
young families. It would also contribute to reduce NHS spending due to a reduction in
health challenges. He concluded his representation stating that the site was well
positioned to provide housing for older people due to its close proximity to the high-street
in Kendal.
The Principal Planning Officer responded to questions raised by Members, many of which
related to the lack of affordable housing in the scheme. The Principal Planning Officer
directed Members to the detailed analysis in the report and offered some further
explanation in respect of the benchmark land value that had been established for the
scheme and the variables relating to finance and profit that were so critical in determining
the potential for a contribution towards affordable housing. He also responded to a
question about the significance of the recent High Court case in Islington, explaining that
the judgment effectively reinforced the approach to establishing a benchmark land value
that had been adopted by the various consultants employed to comment on the current
application.
Members thanked the Principal Planning Officer for a well written report and gave
consideration to the application. A motion to approve the application was proposed and
seconded and a vote was taken on the motion, during which all Planning Committee
Members confirmed that they had, without interruption heard the full presentation and
discussion on the item and it was
RESOLVED – That the application be approved, subject to:a) adoption by the Planning Committee of the “Habitat Regulations Assessment Report,
Tyler Grange, Report Number: 12519_R02a_GP_LP, 27 September 2019” to meet the
Council’s responsibilities as a competent authority in accordance with The Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended by The Conservation of Habitats
and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019); and
b) the following conditions:
Condition (1): The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the
expiration of THREE YEARS from the date hereof.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.
Condition (2): The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:
 PLANNING - Site Plan – ROOF (41+23) 64 Option, 30044KD-P002 Revision C
 PLANNING - Site Plan - GRND FLOOR (41+23) 64 Option, 30044KD-P003
Revision C
 PLANNING - Ground Floor Plan, (41 + 23) 64 Option, 30044KD-P004 Revision B
 PLANNING – First Floor Plan (41 + 23) 64 Option, 30044KD-P005 Revision B
 PLANNING – Second Floor Plan (41 + 23) 64 Option, 30044KD-P006 Revision A
 PLANNING – Third Floor Plan (41 + 23) 64 Option, 30044KD-P007 Revision A
 PLANNING – Roof Plan (41 + 23) 64 Option, 30044KD-P008 Revision A

Page 22

147
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

 PLANNING – North West Elevation, (41 + 23) 64 Option, 30044KD-P009 Revision
B
 PLANNING – North East Elevation, (41 + 23) 64 Option, 30044KD-P0010 Revision
B
 PLANNING – South East Elevation, (41 + 23) 64 Option, 30044KD-P0011
Revision B
 PLANNING – South West Elevation, (41 + 23) 64 Option, 30044KD-P0012
Revision B
 PLANNING - Substructure Layout, (39 + 25) 64 Option, 30044KD-P0013 Revision
A
 PLANNING - Section A-A & C-C, 30044KD-P014, Revision A
 PLANNING - Section B-B & D-D, (39 + 25) 64 Option, 30044KD-P0015 Revision A
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
External materials
Condition (3): External walls and roofs shall be finished in accordance with the materials
shown on the approved plans, and in accordance with stone and slate specifications that
shall first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.
Notwithstanding any annotations to the contrary on the approved plans, all stone and slate
must comprise natural, locally-sourced materials.
REASON: To ensure compliance with: (1) policies CS8.6 (Historic Environment) and
CS8.10 (Design) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM1 (General
Requirements for all development), DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) and
DM3 (Historic Environment) of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document.
Accessible and adaptable homes
Condition (4): All of the apartments hereby approved shall be constructed to meet the
Building Regulations M4(2) standards for accessible and adaptable homes and three of
the dwellings shall be constructed to Building Regulations M4(3) wheelchair adaptable
standards.
Reason: To secure an appropriate level of compliance with Policy DM11 of the
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Broadband
Condition (5): No individual apartment hereby approved shall be first occupied until
connected to the necessary infrastructure to enable access to high speed (superfast)
broadband.
Reason: To comply with Policy DM8 (High Speed Broadband for New Developments) of
the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Highways
Condition (6): Occupation of the apartments (excluding any on-site staff) shall be
restricted at all times to people of 60 years of age and above, or those of at least 55 years
of age and living with a spouse or partner of 60 years or above.
REASON: To ensure that predicted traffic trip generation rates and parking demand are
adhered to, in the interests of ensuring highway safety and to safeguard the amenity of
the existing area in accordance with: (1) policy CS10.2 (Transport impact of new

Page 23

148
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

development) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM7 (Addressing
Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) and DM9 (Parking Provision, new
and loss of car parks) of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies
Development
Plan Document.
Condition (7): None of the apartments hereby approved shall be first occupied until the
parking, access and manoeuvring areas shown on approved drawing PLANNING - Site
Plan - GRND FLOOR (41+23) 64 Option, 30044KD-P003 Revision C have been
constructed and made available for. Thereafter, all parking, access and manoeuvring
areas must be retained as approved for the lifetime of the development.
REASON: To maintain highway safety in accordance with: (1) policy CS10.2 (Transport
impact of new development) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM1
(General Requirements for all development) and DM9 (Parking Provision, new and loss of
car parks) of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.
Construction management
Condition (8): No development shall commence until a Construction Environment
Management Plan (CTMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The CTMP shall include:


details of designated areas for construction vehicle parking, maneuvering, loading
and unloading;
 details of storage areas for construction plant and materials;
 details of measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;
 measures to control noise and vibration from plant, equipment and procedures
during construction, including from any rock pecking and excavations;
 confirmation of an embargo on the burning of waste material;
 a scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting from excavations;
 details of a construction lighting scheme, designed to minimise light spillage from
the site boundary;
 procedures for the cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway;
 details of proposed wheel washing facilities;
 procedures for the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent
spillage or deposit of any materials on the highway;
 management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway including the
footway;
 details of any proposed temporary access points (vehicular / pedestrian);
 details of surface water management during the construction phase;
 details of any mitigation needed to prevent interference with public rights of way
throughout the duration of the construction phase; and
 a biosecurity protocol to protect the adjacent River Kent SSS/SAC.
Thereafter, the construction phase of the development shall proceed in accordance with
the approved CTMP.
REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity and ecological interest of the
existing area in accordance with: (1) policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) of the
South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure and
Open Space) and DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality)
of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.

Page 24

149
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

Condition (9): Construction work shall not take place outside the hours of 0800 – 1800
Monday to Friday or 0900 – 1300 on Saturdays, nor at any time on bank holidays.
REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity and ecological interest of the
existing area in accordance with: (1) policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) of the
South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure and
Open Space) and DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality)
of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Noise
Condition (10): No individual apartment hereby approved shall be first occupied until a
validation report has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority confirming that ambient noise levels do not exceed: (a) 35dB LAeq 16hour within
the apartment’s living room(s) and bedroom(s); and (2) do not exceed 30dB LAeq 8hour
within the apartment’s bedroom(s) between the hours of 2300 and 0700.
REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the proposed apartments in
accordance with policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water
Quality) of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.
Land contamination
Condition (11): No development shall commence until a Phase Two Geo Environmental
Site Assessment has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority. Thereafter, the development shall proceed in accordance with the
recommendations of the approved Assessment. None of the apartments hereby approved
shall be first occupied until a Validation Report, detailing the nature of any contamination
found during development and any relevant remediation works undertaken, has been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.
REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the proposed apartments in
accordance with policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water
Quality) of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.
Flood risk
Condition (12): None of the apartments hereby approved shall be first occupied until the
surface water drainage infrastructure for the site has been completed in accordance with
the details contained within the Stantec Flood Risk Assessment (Project Ref:
30481/4093/4001, Rev: 1, dated September 2019), as amended by the Stantec Drainage
Impact Assessment (Project Ref: 30481/4093, Doc Ref: C, dated January 2021). The
geocellular tanks shall be lined with membranes complying with a specification that shall
first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. Once
installed, the membranes shall be integrity tested, with records made of leakage rates and
any remediation. The surface water drainage infrastructure shall not been deemed
complete until the results of the integrity testing have been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. Thereafter, the approved surface water drainage
infrastructure shall be maintained for the lifetime of the development in accordance with
the approved details.
REASON: To reduce the risk of flooding and to promote the use of a sustainable surface
water drainage scheme in accordance with policy CS8.8 (Development and Flood Risk) of
the South Lakeland Core Strategy and policy DM6 (Flood Risk Management and

Page 25

150
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

Sustainable Drainage Systems) of the South Lakeland Development Management
Policies Development Plan Document.
Condition (13): No development shall commence until a maintenance scheme for the flood
water voids shown on approved drawing PLANNING - Substructure Layout, (39 + 25) 64
Option, 30044KD-P0013 Revision A has been submitted to, and approved in writing by,
the local planning authority. Thereafter, the voids shall be maintained for the lifetime of the
development in accordance with the approved scheme.
REASON: To reduce the risk of flooding in accordance with policy CS8.8 (Development
and Flood Risk) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy and policy DM6 (Flood Risk
Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems) of the South Lakeland Development
Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Landscaping
Condition (14): No development shall commence until a soft landscaping scheme has
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme
shall include details of: (i) planting plans; (ii) existing vegetation to be retained; (iii) written
specifications and schedules of proposed plants noting species, planting sizes and
proposed numbers/densities; (iv) an implementation timetable; and (v) a schedule of
landscape maintenance proposals for a period of not less than five years from the date of
completion of the scheme. Thereafter, the approved landscaping scheme shall be
implemented and maintained in accordance with the agreed details and timetables.
REASON: To safeguard and enhance the character of the area in accordance with policy
LA1.3 of the South Lakeland Land Allocations Development Plan Document and policy
DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the South
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Condition (15): No development shall commence until the tree protection measures
specified in the Arboricultural Assessment & Method Statement (produced by Barrell Tree
Consultancy, dated 27 January 2021) and shown on the associated Tree protection plan
(Barrell Plan Ref: 19143-4 (Based upon Layout 30044KD-P002 Rev C)) have been fully
installed. Thereafter, the tree protection measures shall be retained for the duration of all
construction work and that work shall proceed in accordance with the other requirements
of the Arboricultural Assessment & Method Statement.
REASON: To protect existing trees in accordance with policy DM4 (Green and Blue
Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the South Lakeland Development
Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Biodiversity
Condition (16): No development shall commence until a scheme demonstrating that the
development will achieve a biodiversity net gain, measured using the Defra Biodiversity
Metric 2.0 (or such later version as may be promoted by Defra at the time that the
required scheme is submitted), has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
local planning authority. Thereafter, the development shall proceed in accordance with the
approved scheme and the net gain shall be maintained for the lifetime of the development.
REASON: To meet the requirements of: (1) policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure,
Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the of the South Lakeland Development
Management Policies Development Plan Document; (2) paragraph 170 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.; and (3) section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act 2006.

Page 26

151
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

Condition (17): The demolition of the main court building shall proceed in accordance with
the recommendations of the submitted Bat Survey Report, produced by Tyler Grange and
dated 27th September 2019.
REASON: To ensure that protected bat species are afforded the necessary legal
protections during demolition.
Condition (18): None of the apartments hereby approved shall be first occupied until an
information pack to be made available to future residents, highlighting the significance and
sensitivity of The River Kent Special Area of Conservation (SAC), has been submitted to,
and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. Thereafter, the information pack
shall be made available to all future residents for the lifetime of the development.
REASON: To reinforce compliance with policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) of the
South Lakeland Core Strategy.
Lighting
Condition (19): None of the apartments hereby approved shall be first occupied until any
required external lighting has been installed in accordance with a scheme that shall first
have been submitted, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The
scheme must include confirmation from a qualified ecologist that it has been designed to
minimize harmful impacts on: (1) the River Kent and Tributaries Site of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI); (2) the River Kent Special Area of Conservation (SAC); and (3) protected
species.
REASON: To mitigate the potential impacts on: (1) the River Kent and Tributaries Site of
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI); (2) the River Kent Special Area of Conservation (SAC);
and (3) protected species, all in accordance with policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and
geodiversity) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.
Sustainable construction
Condition (20): The development shall proceed in accordance with a scheme
incorporating as many of the provisions within the “List of Measures that support and
enhance habitat creation, urban greening and respond to the effects of climate change”
contained in Appendix 1 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document as is reasonably practicable in the circumstances. No development shall
commence until the scheme has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority.
REASON: To incorporate measures that support and enhance habitat creation and urban
greening ensuring that provision reflects the local biodiversity evidence base and reduces
the factors contributing to, and responds to the effects of climate change, in accordance
with policy DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) of the South Lakeland
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.

P/104

PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0337 - FAIRFIELD LODGE, PRIEST LANE,
CARTMEL
Note – Councillor Gardner was disconnected from the proceedings for this Item of
the Agenda.
The Specialist (Development Management) presented Planning Application No.
SL/2020/0337 which sought full planning permission for the demolition of parts of the

Page 27

152
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

building and replacement extensions, as well as a new driveway leading to the parking
area, a new double garage and carport. The Specialist highlighted the fact that the
proposal had the possibility of impacting on nationally important archaeological remains,
however, he emphasised that assessment from Historic England had shown that this
impact was going to be very limited and therefore had made no objection to the grant of
planning permission. The Specialist turned to concerns raised by the Conservation Officer
who had expressed that the scheme had failed to demonstrate that it had successfully
minimised or avoided any adverse impact on the setting of the heritage asset or that it
would preserve or enhance the special character and appearance of the Cartmel
Conservation Area. He was concerned that the new proposals, specifically the tarmacked
area, would ultimately distract from as opposed to positively enhance the heritage
grounds.
Referring to site plans and photographs, the Specialist (Development Management)
further stated that concerns had been raised regarding the complexity of the roof line,
which could pull focus from the original coach house as well as Fairfield House.
The Specialist (Development Management) concluded his presentation by summarising
the pros and cons of Planning Application No. SL/2020/0337. The positive aspects
mentioned were that (1) the restoration of the existing coach house had encouraged a
return to its more original form, (2) it was a high-quality proposal and a high-standard
design, and (3) the modernisation of the building was going to improve insulation and
energy efficiency. The drawbacks were (1) the impact that the dormers and roof light had
on the conservation area and the listed building, and (2) the potentiality that Fairfield
Lodge would become the focus of the area in question as opposed to Fairfield House.
The Specialist (Development Management) recommended the application for approval
subject to the conditions laid out in the report.
David Coward, representing the applicant, addressed the Planning Committee in favour of
the application. He focused on the design aspects of the application, stating that there
was a conscious decision of similarity to the original build to cause the least disturbance
possible to the conservation area. Further, the new building had been pushed back so that
the ridge aligned with the coach house in order to make the inside space more useable
and less cramped. He stated that the painted glazing was going to be set in line with the
slated roof, and that the new driveway and double garage would allow for Fairfield House
and Fairfield Lodge to maintain their own respective identities. A new section of metal
fencing was to be built to match the existing fencing. He stated that the new garage was
carefully set out to have the least possible impact on views of the surrounding area. He
concluded his representation by stating that there were no archaeological facts of
importance anywhere on the site, and that Historic England had given their support to the
proposal.
The Specialist (Development Management) responded to questions raised by Members.
He emphasised that the applicant would be in breach of conditions should the roof line
compromise the existing coach house. He reiterated that in the Officers’ view the positive
aspects of the application outlined the drawbacks.
The Specialist (Development Management) responded to questions raised by Members
regarding the transport impacts of the proposal. He emphasised the minor nature of the
development, large area of the site for storage of equipment and materials, and lack of
any objection or request for a construction management plan by the Highways Authority.
Note – Councillor Lamb left the meeting at this stage in the proceedings (12.30 pm).

Page 28

153
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

Members thanked the Specialist (Development Management) for a well written report and
gave consideration to the application. A motion to approve the application was proposed
and seconded and a vote was taken on the motion, during which all Planning Committee
Members confirmed that they had, without interruption heard the full presentation and
discussion on the item and it was
RESOLVED – That the application be approved, subject to:Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years
from the date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.
Condition (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:
 Site Location Plan, date received 28/10/2020
 Proposed Elevations Amended, date received 11/12/2020
 Proposed Site Plan Amended, date received 11/12/2020
 Proposed Ground Floor Plan Amended, date received 11/12/2020
 Proposed First Floor Plan Amended, date received 11/12/2020
 Proposed Garage Amended, date received 11/12/2020
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
Condition (3)
a) No development shall commence until samples and/ or details of the materials to be
used in the construction of all external surfaces of the development hereby approved have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
b) Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details of materials
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance with Policy
DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and Policy
CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.
Condition (4) No stonework, artificial or natural, (including columns, strings, quoins, lintels,
sills, copings, plinths or kneelers) is to be erected until details of the source, colour,
texture, coursing, mortar mix design, joint type and thickness and pointing technique, have
been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in the form of
large-scale drawings and/or samples. If so required by the Local Planning Authority, the
latter may need to be submitted as a panel, which must be retained on site for
comparative purposes until the development is completed. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance with Policy
DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and Policy
CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.
Condition (5) Prior to the installation of any new or replacement windows and doors, full
details of finishing of the 'reveal' and dimensional drawings shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved details.

Page 29

154
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

Reason: To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance with Policy
DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and Policy
CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy
Condition (6) Prior to the commencement of development, full details of both hard and soft
landscape works (including tree planting, hedgerows and earth works) will be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed scheme shall be
carried out as approved to the agreed timetable. Any trees / shrubs which are removed,
die, become severely damaged or diseased within five years of their planting shall be
replaced in the next planting season with trees / shrubs of similar size and species to
those originally required to be planted.
Reason: These details are required to safeguard and enhance the character of the area,
secure high quality landscaping and biodiversity net gains in accordance with Policies
DM1, DM2 and DM4 of the of the Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document. The details are additionally required to safeguard the setting of a heritage
asset.
Condition (7)
a) No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority a plan indicating the positions, height, design,
materials and type of boundary treatment(s) to be erected.
b) The boundary treatment(s) shall be completed as approved before the development is
occupied, or in accordance with a timetable agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: These details are required to be approved before the commencement of
development to safeguard and enhance the character of the area and secure high quality
landscaping in accordance with Policies DM2 and DM4 of the Development Management
Policies Development Plan Document.
Condition (8) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting
that Order with or without modification), no development of the type described in Part 1 of
Schedule 2 of that Order shall be undertaken without the express permission of the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the character of the area and conservation area in accordance with
Policies DM1, DM2, DM3 and DM4 of the Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document.
Condition (9) Prior to the commencement of development, full details of bat boxes and
their locations shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The agreed scheme shall be carried out as approved to the agreed timetable
and remain in perpetuity.
Reason: To safeguard protected species and in the interest of biodiversity in accordance
with Para 175 of the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies DM1 and DM4 of
the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Condition (10) Prior to the commencement of development a written scheme of
archaeological investigation must be submitted by the applicant and approved by the
Local Planning Authority. Once approved, the scheme shall be implemented in full with an
archaeological watching brief being undertaken by a qualified archaeologist. Within two

Page 30

155
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

months of the completion of the development, a digital copy of the archaeological report
shall be furnished to the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To afford reasonable opportunity for an examination to be made to determine the
existence of any remains of archaeological interest within the site and for the investigation
and recording of such remains in accordance with Policy CS8.6 of the Core Strategy and
DM3 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.

Note – A decision was made by Members to adjourn the meeting for 5 minutes to
allow for a short break. The meeting was adjourned at 12.40 pm and recommenced
at 12.45 pm.

P/105

PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0103 - GRANGE PROMENADE, GRANGEOVER-SANDS, LA11 7DH
Note – Councillor Gardner was reconnected to the meeting (12.45 pm).
Note – Councillor Dixon was disconnected from the meeting (12.40 pm).
Note - The Chairman held a new roll call. All Members confirmed that they were able
to hear and see the proceedings clearly.
The Principal Planning Officer presented Planning Application No. SL/2020/0103 which
proposed essential repairs to the entire length of the sea defence wall at Grange
Promenade together with a number of landscape interventions. He stated that this was a
South Lakeland District Council proposal made regarding South Lakeland District Council
property. The promenade was completely contained within the bounds of the conservation
area. He detailed that the method of construction included bog mats placed over the
estuary, which would be removed once the repairs had been completed. He explained
that the proposal included five landscape interventions, in addition to some Totem
signage. They were to take the form of free standing stone work, each containing a panel
in the centre which was to be filled with a bespoke piece of artwork. The artwork in
question would be determined through a competition. The Totem signage would direct
people under the underpass though to the car park.
The Principal Planning Officer recommended approval of Planning Application No.
SL/2020/0103 subject to:a) adoption by the Planning Committee of the following documents as a Habitat
Regulations Assessment to meet the Council’s responsibilities as a competent authority in
accordance with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended by The Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit)
Regulations 2019):





Assessment of Likely Significant Effects (ALSE), Grange-over-Sands Promenade,
February 2020, Bowland Ecology;
Response to Natural England, BOW017/1004 Grange-Over-Sands Promenade,
South Lakeland, 15 April 2020, Bowland Ecology;
Ecological Monitoring and Habitat Restoration and Management Plan,
BOW017/1004 Grange-Over-Sands Promenade, South Lakeland, 06 May 2020,
Bowland Ecology; and
Biodiversity and Habitat Management Plan, Grange-over-Sands Promenade,
Cumbria, December 2020, Bowland Ecology

Page 31

156
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

b) conditions.
The Principal Planning Officer responded to questions raised by Members. Councillor
Long stated that this work was necessary and that the art work was a great enhancement
for the experience of visitors to Grange Promenade.
Members thanked the Principal Planning Officer for a well written report and gave
consideration to the application. A motion to approve the application was proposed and
seconded and a vote was taken on the motion, during which all Planning Committee
Members confirmed that they had, without interruption heard the full presentation and
discussion on the item and it was
RESOLVED – That the application be approved, subject to:c) adoption by the Planning Committee of the following documents as a Habitat
Regulations Assessment to meet the Council’s responsibilities as a competent authority in
accordance with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended by The Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit)
Regulations 2019):


Assessment of Likely Significant Effects (ALSE), Grange-over-Sands Promenade,
February 2020, Bowland Ecology;
 Response to Natural England, BOW017/1004 Grange-Over-Sands Promenade,
South Lakeland, 15 April 2020, Bowland Ecology;
 Ecological Monitoring and Habitat Restoration and Management Plan,
BOW017/1004 Grange-Over-Sands Promenade, South Lakeland, 06 May 2020,
Bowland Ecology; and
 Biodiversity and Habitat Management Plan, Grange-over-Sands Promenade,
Cumbria, December 2020, Bowland Ecology
d) the following conditions:
Condition (1): The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the
expiration of THREE YEARS from the date hereof.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.
Condition (2): No development shall commence until a Construction Environment
Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The CEMP must consolidate the embedded environmental protection
measures, proposed working practices and other proposals for mitigation contained within
the following reports into a single document:


Assessment of Likely Significant Effects (ALSE), Grange-over-Sands Promenade,
February 2020, Bowland Ecology;
 Response to Natural England, BOW017/1004 Grange-Over-Sands Promenade,
South Lakeland, 15 April 2020, Bowland Ecology;
 Ecological Monitoring and Habitat Restoration and Management Plan,
BOW017/1004 Grange-Over-Sands Promenade, South Lakeland, 06 May 2020,
Bowland Ecology; and
 Biodiversity and Habitat Management Plan, Grange-over-Sands Promenade,
Cumbria, December 2020, Bowland Ecology
Thereafter, the CEMP must be adhered to for the entire duration of the construction phase
of the project.

Page 32

157
25.03.2021

Planning Committee

REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity and ecological interest of the
existing area in accordance with: (1) policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) of the
South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure and
Open Space) and DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality)
of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Condition (3): Once implemented, the development must proceed in accordance with the
provisions of the Biodiversity and Habitat Management Plan, Grange-over-Sands
Promenade, Cumbria, December 2020, Bowland Ecology.
REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity and ecological interest of the
existing area in accordance with: (1) policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) of the
South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure and
Open Space) and DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality)
of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.
Condition (4): Construction work shall not take place outside the hours of 0800 – 1800
Monday to Friday or 0900 – 1300 on Saturdays, nor at any time on bank holidays.
REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity and ecological interest of the
existing area in accordance with: (1) policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) of the
South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure and
Open Space) and DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality)
of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.

The meeting ended at 1.11 p.m.

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34

Item No.5
Terms of Reference
1

Planning
Committee
14 members of the
Council and 3
substitutes
members.

Planning and Conservation
Functions relating to town and country planning
and development control as specified in Part (a)
Schedule 1 to the Local Authorities (Functions and
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (the
Functions Regulations) (a copy of that schedule is
reproduced as Schedule 1 to this part of the
Constitution).

Onward delegation to
officers as detailed in
Section 3 to this Part of
the constitution

The functions of imposing any condition, limitation
or other restriction on an approval, consent,
licence, permission or registration granted, which
is the responsibility of the Committee, and to
determine any other terms to which such approval,
consent, licence, permission or registration is
subject.
The function of determining whether, and in what
manner, to enforce any failure to comply with an
approval, consent, licence, permission or
registration which is the responsibility of the
Committee, or any condition.
The function to amend, vary, modify or revoke any
approval, consent, licence, permission or
registration which is the responsibility of the
Committee, or any condition, limitation or term
thereof.
Other Functions
Those miscellaneous functions relating to the
public rights of way exercisable by a District
Council as specified in Part (I) Schedule 1 of the
Functions Regulations
Power to make limestone pavement orders
Powers relating to the protection of important
hedgerows
Powers relating to the preservation of trees

Powers relating to complaints about High Hedges
(Part 8 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003)

Page 35

Full delegation to the
Director of People and
Places
Full delegation to the
Director of People and
Places

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 36

Item No.7

Planning Application no. SL/2020/0310
Kendal Ski Club, Canal Head North,
Kendal

www.southlakeland.gov.uk
Page 37

Contents
Planning Application no. SL/2020/0310................................................................................. 1
Summary ............................................................................................................................... 5
Recommendation .................................................................................................................. 5
1.0 Description and proposal ................................................................................................ 5
Site Description ............................................................................................................... 5
Proposal .......................................................................................................................... 6
2.0 Consultations .................................................................................................................. 7
Kendal Town Council ...................................................................................................... 7
Cumbria County Council Highways and LLFA ................................................................ 7
Council Tree Officer ........................................................................................................ 8
Public Protection ............................................................................................................. 8
Conservation Officer ....................................................................................................... 8
Lancaster Canal Trust..................................................................................................... 9
Canal and Rivers Trust ................................................................................................... 9
Historic Environment Officer ........................................................................................... 9
Historic England .............................................................................................................. 9
Public Responses ........................................................................................................... 9
3.0 Relevant planning history.............................................................................................. 10
4.0 Relevant planning policies ............................................................................................ 10
National Planning Policy Framework ............................................................................ 10
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 ..................................... 11
Local Development Policies .......................................................................................... 11
5.0 Assessment .................................................................................................................. 11
Principle of Development and Local Plan Policy ........................................................... 11
Impact on Amenity ........................................................................................................ 12
Heritage Impact............................................................................................................. 14
Highways Impacts ......................................................................................................... 16
Landscape and Character of the Area .......................................................................... 17
Flooding and Drainage.................................................................................................. 18
Ecology ......................................................................................................................... 19
Planning Balance and Conclusions............................................................................... 20
6.0 Recommendation ........................................................................... 21
2

Page 38

3

Page 39

4

Page 40

Summary
SL/2020/0310
PARISH: Kendal
Kendal Ski Club, Canal Head North, Kendal LA9 7BY
PROPOSAL: Lodge and slope extension
APPLICANT: Frances Watkins (Chairman Kendal Ski Club)
Grid Ref: E: 352134 N: 492674
Committee date: 29th July 2021
Case Officer: Nic Unwin
The proposal seeks full planning permission for the extension of the existing ski lodge and
extension of the existing ski slope.
The proposed site is located within the Kendal Development Boundary and within the
existing Kendal Ski Club site which is designated as an Outdoor Sports Facility.
The current application has been referred to committee as the application has been ‘called
in’ by Councillor Dixon.

Recommendation
The recommendation is to approve the application subject to conditions set out at the foot of
the report.

1.0 Description and proposal
Site Description
1.1.

The proposed site lies within the boundary of the existing Kendal Ski Club.

1.2.

The proposed site forms an existing ski club within the central section of the Kendal
Development Boundary approximately 280 metres east of the Town Centre
Boundary.

1.3.

The proposed site is within the Kendal Conservation Area. It adjoins the Kendal
Castle Public Open Space to the east, it is approximately 240 metres to the east of
the River Kent SSSI and 85 metres north-west of the Kendal Castle Scheduled
Ancient Monument (SAM). The proposed site is within flood zone 1 and adjoins the
boundary of flood zone 2 to the west.

5

Page 41

1.4.

To the north, east and south of the site is mixed woodland with the residential
development of Kirkby Green adjoining the western boundary. There is a public
right of way along the eastern boundary of the site and a pedestrian access
connecting Kendal Castle to Canal Head North to the west.

1.5.

There are approximately 7 unmarked parking spaces in the southern section of the
existing site. The car park adjacent to the south of the site contains 49 spaces and
is under the Ski Club’s ownership. The 49 space car park is open to the public
between Monday – Friday 7am to 7pm and is exclusively available for use by the
Ski Club outside of these times.

1.6.

The existing ski club operates from 10am to 10pm Monday to Sunday.

Proposal
1.7.

The proposal seeks full planning permission for the extension of the existing Ski
Lodge (club house) and the extension of the existing ski slope to the south.

1.8.

The proposed lodge extension would result in the southern section extending to the
south by 10 metres at its widest and 5.35 metres at its narrowest, and 9.5 metres to
the east of the exiting eastern elevation. There would additionally be a decked area
along the east, north and west of the proposed extension and a limestone retaining
wall erected to the east.

1.9.

The proposed lodge extension would continue the roof slope of the existing lodge
with a ridge height approximately 3.9 metres above that of the existing ridge. There
would be a flue within the eastern roof slope approximately 0.5 metres above the
ridge height of the proposal.

1.10.

There would be a large single section of glazing within the northern elevation of the
proposed lodge extension and two large sections of glazing within the southern
elevation. The eastern elevation would be blank with a new entrance created in the
western elevation. The walls of the ground floor of the proposed lodge extension
would be natural limestone to match that of the existing retaining walls with the
north, east and western walls being timber cladding to match that of the existing
clubhouse. Shingles will be used for the roof to match that of the existing
clubhouse.

1.11.

The proposal would involve the extension of the existing ski slope to the south by
20 metres at its narrowest point and 28 metres at its widest. The proposed ski slope
extension will include a new ski lift, additional lighting and barrier at the western
end, full details of which will be secured through condition.

1.12.

The proposed slope extension will replace part of an existing area of hard standing
containing 7 informal parking spaces. 6 formal parking spaces will be located along
the western section of the slope to replace these. The proposed extension to the
clubhouse and ski slope will result in the loss of 25 trees, however 38 native trees
will be planted throughout the site and a hedgerow is to be
6

Page 42

planted along the southern elevation adjacent to the access to Kendal Castle to the
south and a section within the north of the site.

2.0 Consultations
Kendal Town Council
2.1.

Kendal Town Council raise no objections to the proposal stating the following:
The Committee welcome that the original objections raised by the committee as
issues against which to make the application have largely been addressed by
subsequent alterations and therefore no material objections. Given the level of
objections from local residents that still exist it is suggested the Ski Club engage
with them further and in particular with the Kirkbie Green Residents Group; they felt
a block plan would help with this to show impact on specific properties.

Cumbria County Council Highways and LLFA
2.2.

This proposal would involve the extension of the matted dry ski slope by
approximately 25%-30% to provide an expanded beginner slope and an extension
to the ski-lodge clubhouse facility to provide improved operational and amenity
space. It is noted that the Design and Access Statement sets out that the ski slope
extension is predominantly aimed at providing space for additional children’s
classes at the sites peak times on Friday evenings and Saturdays and that it would
allow two additional classes of up to 15 people to operate alongside the existing
classes at any one time.

2.3.

A Transport Form has now been supplied in support of the application. The
information within the transport form in respect of existing average journeys per
day, peak times, estimated number of additional journeys, modes of travel and
parking capacity are duly noted.

2.4.

Outside of peak times, it is considered that the application proposal would result in
a modest increase in traffic. The applicant estimates that the slope extension would
result in an additional 14 journeys being made on Fridays and 35 journeys on
Saturdays, resulting in a total of 30 and 75 journeys on these days respectively.
This would undoubtedly place some additional localized pressure on the highway
network immediately around the site on Saturdays. We have no reason to
disbelieve these figures provided by a long standing and respected club.

2.5.

In respect of parking, it is noted that the site benefits from a 47/49 space car park
whose entrance lies approximately 25m from the entrance to the slope and lodge
compound. It is noted that this car park is open to the public Monday-Friday from
7am to 7pm and is exclusively available for use by the Ski Club outside of these
times. It is noted that the ski-slope extension would result in the loss of an area
utilised for informal parking with the site, which the applicant
7

Page 43

sets out has space for approximately 7 spaces. They propose to create 6 formally
marked spaces adjacent to their existing viewing gallery to off-set this. I am
satisfied that this number of marked parking bays could be accommodated in this
area. The applicant sets out that in practical terms the proposed development
would result in the loss of a space for car-parking. The applicant anticipates a peak
need for 30 parking spaces and that this would represent utilisation of just over half
of the available parking space.
2.6.

It is therefore considered that the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact
on highway safety, or result in residual cumulative impacts on the road network that
would be severe.

2.7.

The applicant has provided some additional drainage information. This is welcomed
and shows that the club has given some considerable thought to this matter. The
applicant calculate that the 852m2 (a 27% increase) will not have any impact (or at
most little) on the drainage of the site. It is their stated preference (if required) to
increase the current storage capacity and not to discharge into a soak away or
sewers.

2.8.

No formal calculations or flood risk assessment has been produced for the site. We
are however confident, due to the current workings of the drainage system, that this
matter can be conditioned.

2.9.

I can confirm that the Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority has no
objections to the proposal, subject to the following recommended conditions being
included in any permission should the local planning authority be minded to
approve this application.

Council Tree Officer
2.10.

The proposed replacement ratio of 1 tree lost for 1.5 trees planted (38 trees planted
to replace 25 removed), in addition to new hedgerow planting totaling 300 plants,
will provide a net gain in biodiversity. The proposal will not provide an increase in
tree cover by area, with some of the planting being proposed under the existing
woodland canopy. This planting to the east of the clubhouse will add a younger
age class to the woodland and increase the age range of the copse.

2.11.

A condition requiring the planting to be carried out before first use of the extended
slope would be prudent.

Public Protection
2.12.

No objections subject to conditions.

Conservation Officer
2.13.

No objection
8

Page 44

Lancaster Canal Trust
2.14.

No Comments.

Canal and Rivers Trust
2.15.

No Comments.

Historic Environment Officer
2.16.

No comments.

Historic England
2.17.

No Comments.

Public Responses
2.18.

There were two phases of public consultation, the first was at a point where the
application also consisted of a ski jump and crash mat to the east of the ski lodge.
The second phase of consultations was following the removal of the ski jump and
crash mat from the proposal.

2.19.

Phase one consultations responses – 34 objections, 35 support, 2 observations –
The following points were raised:


Overlooking and loss of privacy



Noise pollution



Increase in traffic



Insufficient parking



Light pollution



Loss of trees



Overbearing



Landscape impact



Flood risk



Impact on the Conservation Area and setting of Kendal Castle



Impact on wildlife



Increase in ski facilities offered
9

Page 45

2.20.

Phase two consultations responses – 22 objections, 2 support – The following
points were raised:


Overlooking and loss of privacy



Noise pollution



Increase in traffic



Insufficient parking



Light pollution



Loss of trees



Overbearing



Landscape impact



Flood risk



Impact on the Conservation Area and setting of Kendal Castle



Impact on wildlife



Increase in ski facilities offered

3.0 Relevant planning history
3.1.

The applications relating to Kendal Ski Club are as follows:



5962057 – Extension to artificial ski slope. Full Approval.



5981089 – Lodge extension, viewing platform and supervisor’s shelter. Full approval.



SL/2003/1900 – Extension to existing slope. Full approval.



SL/2007/0073 – Extension to the club lodge. Full Approval.



SL/2013/0698 – Public gallery with storage under. Full Approval.



TR/2020/0125 – Seven Ash trees south of ski slope marked on attached plan. Fell
due to ash die back. Full Approval.

3.2.

Reference to some of the applications will be made later in the report

4.0 Relevant planning policies
National Planning Policy Framework
Chapter 2, Achieving sustainable development
10

Page 46

Chapter 9 Promoting sustainable transport
Chapter 12 Achieving well designed places
Chapter 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
Local Development Policies
South Lakeland Core Strategy Policies (CS)
CS1.1 Sustainable development principles
CS1.2 The development strategy
CS8.2 Protection and enhancement of landscape and settlement character
CS8.6 Historic environment
CS8.10 Design
CS10.2 Transport impact of new development

Land Allocations Development Plan Document Policies (LA)
LA1.1 Development Boundaries
LA1.11 Existing Outdoor Formal Sports Facilities

South Lakeland Development Management Development Plan
Document Policies (DM)
DM1 – General Requirements for all development
DM2 – Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design
DM3 – Historic Environment
DM4 – Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping
DM9 – Parking Provision, New and Loss of Car Parks

5.0 Assessment
Principle of Development and Local Plan Policy
5.1.

The proposed site is designated as an Outdoor Sports Facility within the Land
Allocations DPD Maps. Para 2.74 of the Land Allocations DPD requires
opportunities to be taken to enhance and increase the quality
11

Page 47

and value of Outdoor Sports Facilities. This is supported by Policy LA1.11 of the
Land Allocations DPD which states that “the Outdoor Sports Facilities identified
within the Policies Map will be safeguarded”.
5.2.

Para 92 of the NPPF requires the provision of social, recreational and cultural
facilities and services the community needs through the provision of sports venues,
in addition to ensuring these facilities are able to develop and modernise, and are
retained for the benefit of the community.

5.3.

The proposed development is for the extension of an existing ski slope and club
house within the Ski Club boundary, Identified as an Outdoor Sports Facility. The
proposal would allow for the enhancement and increase in facilities offered by the
existing ski club which has said that the uniformity of the proposed slope extension
would provide a better environment for beginners to the sport. Based on the above
the principle of the proposed development is considered acceptable.

Impact on Amenity
5.4.

Policy DM1 of the Development Management Policies DPD states that new
development should ensure the delivery of acceptable levels of amenity for existing,
neighbouring and future users. This is supported by Para 127 of the NPPF which
states that new development should provide high standard of amenity for existing
and future users.

5.5.

Multiple public responses referenced the proposal’s impact on amenity. The specific
impacts primarily comprised the proposals impact through overlooking/ loss of
privacy, overbearing nature, noise pollution and light pollution. Each of these
impacts is addressed below.

5.6.

The initial scheme additionally involved the creation of a ski jump and air bag to the
east of the existing club house. This element of the proposal, by its nature, had the
potential to generate high noise levels from users, was located within the northern
section of the site close to existing residential dwellings and, due to the location
would have introduced additional flood lighting to the northern section of the site.
Following consultations with the applicant, this element of the scheme was removed
and a re-consultation conducted.

5.7.

The consultation responses sited overlooking/ a loss of privacy from the proposal in
addition to the proposed club house extension being overbearing when viewed from
neighbouring properties.

5.8.

There is an existing element of overlooking of the rear gardens of dwellings
adjoining the ski club boundary from users of the ski slope in addition to pedestrians
using the public right of way adjoining the eastern boundary of the ski slope.
However, this overlooking is somewhat mitigated through existing high fencing and
mature vegetation along this boundary.

12

Page 48

5.9.

The proposed extension of the south of the slope is the part of the existing site
furthest from the dwellings that comprise Kirkby Green which are primarily located
to the north and east of the proposed site.

5.10.

Although the proposed slope extension would result in additional users on the slope
at any given time, due to the proposed location in the south of the site and existing
screening along the boundary with these dwellings to the east, the increase
overlooking is considered limited.

5.11.

The proposed extension to the existing club house is to the south and east.
Although there is an external decking area proposed to the east and south, the
clubhouse will screen this area from the dwellings to the west with existing mature
trees providing screening to the north.

5.12.

The proposed clubhouse extension will not extend to the west towards the existing
dwellings. Although the ridge height of the proposed club house extension will be
approximately 3.9 metres above the ridge height of the existing club house, it will
continue the slope of the existing clubhouse roof and extend to the west with the
ridge a further 8 metres west of the ridge of the existing clubhouse. Furthermore the
site to the east rises steeply and there are trees much taller and closer to the
western boundary than the proposed extension. As such, in the context of the
existing clubhouse and surrounding mature tree, the proposed clubhouse extension
is not considered to be overbearing when viewed from the curtilage of the dwellings
to the west.

5.13.

The majority of public representations raised concerns of additional noise caused
due to an increase in users of the proposed site.

5.14.

The proposed slope extension would result in an increase of approximately 30% of
the existing slope area. This would permit a greater number of users of the slope at
any one time and has the potential to increase noise levels generated from the ski
club.

5.15.

The proposed area is located within the southern section of the existing ski club
site, the furthest point from existing dwellings. It is important to note that this area is
not exclusively residential with the Kendal Household Waste Recycling Centre
approximately 45 metres to the south-west of the proposed site with further
industrial buildings to the west of this. There exists a certain element of pre-existing
noise levels created through these neighbouring uses.

5.16.

Public Protection were consulted on the application and raised no objections
subject to a condition requiring the provision of a noise impact assessment and
noise mitigation scheme prior to the commencement of development.

5.17.

The existing site operates from 10am to 10pm with previous permissions at the site
not appearing to have attached any conditions limiting its operational hours. The
proposed hours of operation for the ski slope stated within the application form are
10am-10pm Monday to Friday, 9.15am-8pm Saturday and
13

Page 49

10am-8pm Sundays and Bank Holidays. It is considered that a formal condition
controlling the proposed operational hours to that suggested within the application
form will enable better control of the operational hours of the site in future.
5.18.

Given the proposal’s location within the southern section of the site, the existing ski
slope and other noise generating uses within the site, the proposed condition
limiting operational hours and, the proposed condition requiring a noise assessment
and mitigation prior to commencement will effectively mitigate any additional noise
generated from the proposal to an acceptable level.

5.19.

Many of the public representations raised concerns regarding potential light
pollution from the proposed development and the impact this would have on
surrounding dwellings.

5.20.

There is already external lighting on the existing ski slope sections. Public
Protection were consulted on the application and were satisfied that the proposed
additional lighting required for the slope extension could be achieved without an
unacceptable impact on the amenity of neighbouring residents. Public Protection
have recommended a condition for the provision of full details of any additional
external lighting at the proposed site including a layout plan with beam orientation,
luminaire type, mounting height, aiming angles and luminaire profiles.

5.21.

It is considered that acceptable lighting levels can be achieved without harming the
living conditions of neighbouring residents through the imposition of the lighting
condition recommended by Public Protection.

5.22.

Based on the above, through the use of conditions, it is considered that any
adverse impacts of the proposal on neighbouring residential amenity can be
reduced to an acceptable level.

Heritage Impact
5.23.

The proposed site is within the Kendal Conservation Area which is considered to be
of moderate significance and 85 metres north-west of the Kendal Castle SAM which
is considered to be of high significance.

5.24.

Policy CS8.6 of the Core Strategy requires proposals to safeguard and where
possible enhance conservation areas. This is supported by Policy DM3 of the
Development Management DPD which states that proposals affecting a designated
heritage asset should take into account the impact the proposal will have on the
significance of the heritage asset.

5.25.

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
states that with respect to any building or land within a Conservation Area, special
attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of that area.

14

Page 50

5.26.

Para 193 of the NPPF states that “when considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight
should be given to the asset’s conservation”. Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states
that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its
alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require
clear and convincing justification.

5.27.

Para 196 of the NPPF states that “where a development proposal will lead to less
than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal”.

5.28.

The initial consultation response from the Conservation Officer concluded that due
to the loss of tree coverage, specifically from the proposed ski jump ramp and crash
mat within the north of the proposed site the following::
“I am not convinced that the proposed loss of woodland would directly harm
the setting or the significance of the scheduled ancient monument, as
sufficient tree cover remains on three sides of the centre to minimise the effect
of the slightly wider opening in the woodland. There would be a greater impact
on the northern boundary as the new planting will take perhaps 10-20 years to
mature sufficiently to make an impact. The loss of woodland would, in my
view, have a slightly adverse effect on this key landscape component of the
conservation area to the detriment of its character and appearance.
The existing floodlighting already impacts both on the setting of the Castle and
on the character and appearance of the conservation area, and an increase in
illumination levels will merely add to the harm that already exists. The
perceived increase in the level of noise from equipment and excited humans
is also a factor to be considered as a cause of harm affecting the character of
a conservation area, albeit that in this case this might be only slight”.

5.29.

The initial response from the Conservation Officer concluded that the proposal
would not harm the setting of the SAM, however there would be a limited impact on
the setting of the Conservation Area. This impact is considered to constitute less
than substantial harm which the Conservation Officer did not believe was
outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal.

5.30.

Since receiving the above consultation response, three events of note have
occurred.

5.31.

The first event since the initial Conservation Officer’s response is the removal of the
proposed ski jump and crash mat from the scheme. This has severely reduced the
number of trees required for removal within the northern section of the site to three.
Additionally this has further reduced the requirement for any additional external
lighting in the northern section of the proposed site. The proposed condition
requiring the submission of a full lighting scheme for the proposal will give further
control over the additional lighting required for the slope extension to the south and
15

Page 51

therefore the ability to mitigate any impact on the setting of Kendal Castle and
character of the Conservation Area.
5.32.

The second event since the initial Conservation Officer’s response is the
submission and approval of tree works notice TR/2020/0125 for the removal of
seven ash trees adjacent to the southern boundary of the ski slope due to ash
dieback. There is no requirement for these trees to be replaced. Since their
removal, the ski slope has lost a noticeable level of screening along the southern
boundary making the ski slope considerably more noticeable when viewed from the
pedestrian access to Kendal Castle adjacent to the southern boundary of the
proposed site, negatively impacting this part of the Conservation Area.

5.33.

The third event since the initial Conservation Officer’s response is the submission of
a full planting scheme. The proposed scheme would involve the removal of 25 trees
from the existing site. However, the proposal would involve replacement planting of
35 trees in addition to a large section of hedgerow along the southern boundary of
the proposed site. Approximately 12 of these trees will be planted along the
southern boundary of the site in addition to 6 along the eastern boundary providing
screening of the site from these public view points, enhancing the character of
these sections of the Conservation Area. Further planting is to be provided within
the existing canopy to the north providing additional density (not area cover).

5.34.

The Conservation Officer was consulted on the amended plans and raised no
objections to the proposal.

5.35.

Based on the above it is considered that the limited impact of the initial proposal
has been further reduced through amendments to the original scheme. The now
very limited impact of the ski slope and club house extension on the setting of the
Conservation Area is considered to be offset by the additional planting along the
southern site boundary, better screening the ski slope from views from the
pedestrian access to the south up to Kendal Castle, enhancing this section of the
Conservation Area. This is considered to result in the proposal having a neutral
impact on the setting of the Conservation Area.

5.36.

On balance the proposal is considered not to impact the SAM and to have a neutral
impact on the setting of the Conservation Area, preserving its significance.
Therefore Paragraph 196 of the NPPF does not apply.

Highways Impacts
5.37.

Policy CS10.2 requires new development to be capable of being served by safe
access to the highway network and that the nature and volume of traffic generated
by the proposal could be accommodated by the existing road network. This is
supported by Policy DM1 of the Development Management Policies DPD which
states that new development should ensure adequate and safe movement of
pedestrians, cyclists and motor vehicles.
16

Page 52

5.38.

Para 109 of the NPPF states that “development should only be prevented or
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe”.

5.39.

The public responses to the application raised concerns surrounding the proposal’s
impact on additional traffic to this area and a perceived lack of parking for the
proposal.

5.40.

A transport form was completed by the applicant and reviewed by Cumbria County
Council. The transport form concluded that there will be no additional vehicle
movements to the site from Sundays to Thursdays. During the peak days of Friday
and Saturday, vehicle movements were estimated to increase by 30 and 75
respectively (2 vehicle movements equals 1 car visiting then leaving the site).
Having reviewed the transport form, the County Council considered that although
the vehicle movements during peak times would “place some additional localised
pressure on the highway network immediately around the site”, they do not believe
this to result in an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or residual cumulative
impacts on the road network that would be severe.

5.41.

The proposal would result in the loss of 7 informal spaces within the proposed site,
however six formal spaces would be created adjoining the western boundary of the
ski slope. The 49 space car park to the south of the site can be used by the public
Monday - Friday 7am – 7pm, however outside of these times its use is exclusively
for the Ski Club. Within the transport form it is anticipated that the peak requirement
for parking spaces (on a Saturday) would be 30 spaces, well below the 49 spaces
within the existing car park.

5.42.

It is acknowledged that during peak times there would be additional localised
pressure on the highways network, however this is not considered to be severe.
The existing parking at the proposed site and adjacent car park are considered
sufficient to accommodate the necessary parking requirements at peak times. In
accordance with Para 109 of the NPPF the proposed development would not result
in an unacceptable impact on highway safety, nor would the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network be severe. As such the proposal is considered
acceptable from a highways perspective.

Landscape and Character of the Area
5.43.

Policy DM1 of the Development Management Policies DPD requires new
development to protect and enhance the District’s distinctive landscapes and
townscapes. Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies DPD states that
new development should respond appropriately to local and settlement character
and be well proportioned and positioned with its surroundings.

5.44.

Policy CS8.2 of the Core Strategy states that new development should support and
enhance local distinctiveness and protect and enhance key local features and
17

Page 53

characteristics. Policy CS8.10 requires new development to maintain or enhance
the quality of the landscape or townscape.
5.45.

Chapter 12 ‘Achieving well-designed places’ of the NPPF requires new
development to be sympathetic to local character and landscape setting.

5.46.

The proposed development is within the existing site of Kendal Ski Club. The
primary visual impact of the proposal is the extension of the ski slope to the south.
The proposed ski slope extension would result in the loss of 19 trees within the
southern section of the site.

5.47.

Due to the existing industrial buildings to the west of the site and the topography of
Kendal, views of the proposed site are restricted from public viewpoints along
Aynam Road along the river. Views of the existing site are restricted to intermittent
views from the pedestrian access to Kendal Castle along the southern boundary of
the site, the public right of way along the eastern boundary of the site and, from
within the residential development of Kirkbie Green. Less restricted views of the
proposed site are visible from along Queens Road and public rights of way further
up the western valley side towards Kendal Golf Course. However, these viewpoints
are above 1km from the proposed site which heavily reduce the proposals visual
impact. Furthermore, the proposed development will be viewed within the context of
the existing adjoining ski slope.

5.48.

Due to the much larger existing adjoining ski slope to the north, the limited views
from the surrounding public view points and substantial distance from the site of the
view points along Queens Road and Kendal Golf Course, the proposed
development is considered to have a limited landscape impact.

Flooding and Drainage
5.49.

Public responses raised concerns regarding the potential for the proposal to result
in additional surface water to discharge from the site and cause flooding elsewhere.

5.50.

The proposed site is located within flood zone 1 with no evidence of surface water
flooding present at the site.

5.51.

The existing ski slope drainage is collected at the base of the slope and pumped to
a storage tank (located within the ground floor of the club house) for redistribution
on the slope during skiing. Should the existing storage tank reach capacity, this is
discharged to the main sewer.

5.52.

The proposed slope extension would utilize the same slope pump collection
process at the base of the slope. There is capacity to increase the existing storage
tank within the club house by 30-50%, considered sufficient to accommodate the
slope extension (approximately 30% increase). Additionally, part of the slope
extension is over an existing area of hard standing currently contributing to surface
water runoff.
18

Page 54

5.53.

Cumbria County Council state that they are confident, due to the current workings
of the drainage system, that the additional surface water from the slope can be
secured through condition.

Ecology
5.54.

Policy DM4 is focused on ensuring that all new development proposals will, unless
it can be demonstrated that it is not possible, result in environmental net gains for
biodiversity, green and blue infrastructure and demonstrate how the use of
multifunctional green and blue infrastructure will deliver wider requirements and
objectives. The design of proposals should mitigate the negative impacts of the
development by incorporating beneficial biodiversity and geodiversity conservation
features, including features that will help wildlife to adapt to climate change where
appropriate.

5.55.

The supporting text to Policy DM4 states it is recognised the nature and scale of net
gains that can be achieved from proposals will vary depending on the size, location
and type of development under consideration. In this respect, policy requirements
relating to net gain will be applied to all new developments as relevant to the
proposal under consideration.

5.56.

When referring specifically to trees, Policy DM4 requires new development to
positively incorporate new, and protect and enhance existing trees. Within the
policy ‘trees’ should be read to include hedgerows.

5.57.

Policy DM4 requires proposals that result in the loss or deterioration of trees within
Conservation Areas to provide an overriding need for the development and its
benefits that outweigh the harm and provide compensatory planting at an
appropriate ratio.

5.58.

The proposed development would result in the loss of approximately 25 trees within
the existing Conservation Area. The proposed development would result in the
expansion and provision of additional facilities for Kendal Ski Club which is
designated as an Outdoor Sports Facility. Since the removal of the seven ash trees
along the southern boundary due to ash dieback, there are more prominent views
of the site from the pedestrian access to Kendal Castle to the south. The proposal
would introduce a higher density of tree planting along the southern boundary in
addition to a large section of hedgerow which would better screen the proposal from
this view point.

5.59.

The proposed ratio of replacement tree planting is approximately 1.5. The Council’s
Arboriculturist reviewed the proposed planting scheme and found it acceptable.

5.60.

The benefits of the additional provision of facilities at Kendal Ski Club is considered
to outweigh the loss of trees from the site. The proposed replacement planting is of
a ratio of 1.5 and would provide additional screening of the site when viewed from
public view points from the south.
19

Page 55

5.61.

Although the proposal would result in the loss of 25 trees, 38 trees are proposed to
be planted. There is additionally a substantial section of hedgerow (90 metres
comprising 300 plants throughout the site). The replacement tree planting in
addition to the proposed hedgerow are considered to achieve biodiversity net gains
for the proposed development.

5.62.

Concerns were raised by the public regarding the proposal’s impact on habitats,
particularly from the slopes extension to the south and removal of 25 trees.

5.63.

The proposed development is located within the existing Kendal Ski Club site. The
proposed trees that are to be removed are considered to be relatively low in
number and are located on the fringes of the site adjoining the built environment.
The site possesses no specific habitat designations. Based on this, further habitat
surveys for the site are considered neither reasonable, nor necessary.

Planning Balance and Conclusions
5.64.

The proposal would facilitate the expansion and provision of additional facilities at
Kendal Ski Club, designated as an Outdoor Sports Facility. The proposed slope
extension would provide a more uniform slope better suited to beginners in the
sport. The expansion and development of such facilities is supported by both Local
and National Planning Policy.

5.65.

It is acknowledged that the proposed slope extension would result in additional
lighting being required and due to the increase in number of people using the slope
at any given time, has the potential to result in additional noise. It is considered that
these elements can be reduced to an acceptable level and effectively controlled
through condition.

5.66.

The proposal would result in an increase in vehicle movements to the site however
this element has been reviewed by Cumbria County Council who believe it to be an
acceptable level. The existing parking capacity at the site and adjoining 49 space
car park are considered sufficient to accommodate the increased parking demands.

5.67.

Although the slope extension would result in an increased landscape impact, the
views of the site from the surrounding public view points are limited. The proposed
planting scheme is considered to better screen the proposal from these view points.
Less restricted views of the site are from Queens Road and Kendal Golf Course,
however due to the substantial distance from the site the impact of the proposed
extension from these areas is considered limited.

5.68.

The proposal is considered not to have an impact on the setting of the SAM and to
have a neutral impact on the setting of the Conservation Area, preserving its
significance.

5.69.

The proposed removal of 25 trees will be offset through the planting of 38 trees and
a 90 metre section of hedgerow. The proposed development is considered to
20

Page 56

secure biodiversity net gains and contains no habitat designations to warrant any
additional surveys.
5.70.

The existing surface water runoff from the slope is pumped into a storage tank
under the existing clubhouse. There is the option to increase the capacity of this
storage tank by 30-50% to accommodate the proposal. Full drainage details have
been secured through condition.

5.71.

The benefits of the proposal through the expansion of facilities at the existing Ski
Club are considered to outweigh the potential harms which are considered to be
further limited and controlled through the proposed conditions. On balance the
proposed development is recommended for approval.

6.0 Recommendation
Planning permission SL/2020/0310 is recommended to be granted subject to the following
conditions:
Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three
years from the date of this decision.
Reason:
To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Condition (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans:


Location Plan, date received 12/05/2020;



Proposed South and West Elevations, date received 13/05/2020;



Proposed East Elevation, date received 13/05/2020;



Proposed North Elevation Rev 2, date received 26/10/2020;



Proposed Club House layout Rev 2, date received 26/10/2020;



Proposed Block Plan Rev 2, date received 26/10/2020;



Arboricultural Report Rev 2, date received 26/10/2020;



Proposed Planting Scheme (AH/AIA/180220-1), date received 19/05/2021.

Reason:

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

21

Page 57

Condition (3) The development hereby permitted shall be fully implemented in
accordance with the following approved materials details:
Roof – Shingles to match existing
Walls – Wood panelling and local stone to match existing
The development shall then be retained as such at all times thereafter.
Reason:
To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance
with Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document and Policy CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.

Condition (4) Prior to the commencement of development, full details of materials of
the hereby approved decked area and surrounding balustrade, and ski slope
extension shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason:
To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance
with Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document and Policy CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.

Condition (5) Prior to the commencement of development, full details of landscape
works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
These details shall include:

proposed finished levels or contours



means of enclosure



hard surfacing materials



barriers surrounding the ski slope

The agreed scheme shall be carried out as approved to the agreed timetable.
Reason:
To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance
with Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document and Policy CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.

Condition (6) Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the
proposed ski lift identified within the Proposed Block Plan Rev 2 (date received
26/10/2020) and any associated infrastructure shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

22

Page 58

Reason:
To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance
with Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document and Policy CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.

Condition (7)
The use of ski slope shall not take place other than between the following hours:10:00 – 22:00 - Mondays - Fridays.
09:15 – 20:00 - Saturdays.
10:00 - 20:00 Sundays and Bank or Public Holidays.
The use of the Clubhouse and grounds shall not take place other than between the
following hours:09:30 – 22:30 - Mondays - Fridays.
08:45 – 20:30 - Saturdays.
09:30 - 20:30 Sundays and Bank or Public Holidays.
Reason:
To safeguard the amenity of the neighbouring residents in accordance
with Policies DM1 and DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development
Plan Document and National Planning Policy Framework Chapter 12, Achieving welldesigned places - para 127.

Condition (8) Prior to the first use of the hereby approved ski slope extension, the
access and parking requirements shall be constructed in accordance with the
approved plan. Any such access and or parking provision shall be retained and be
capable of use when the development is completed and shall not be removed or
altered without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason:
To ensure a minimum standard of access provision and parking when
the development is brought into use. To support Local Transport Plan Policies: LD5,
LD7 and Policy DM9 of the Development Management Policies DPD.

Condition (9) Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the surface
water drainage system (incorporating SUDs features as far as practicable) and a
maintenance schedule (identifying the responsible parties) shall be submitted to the
Local Planning Authority for approval prior to development being commenced. Any
approved works shall be implemented prior to the development being completed and
shall be maintained thereafter in accordance with the schedule.

23

Page 59

Reason:
To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to
manage the risk of flooding and pollution. To ensure the surface water system
continues to function as designed and that flood risk is not increased within the site
or elsewhere.

Condition (10) Prior to the first use of the hereby approved development, the hereby
approved Proposed Planting Scheme (date received 19/05/2021) shall be
implemented in full.
Any trees / shrubs which are removed, die, become severely damaged or diseased
within five years of their planting shall be replaced in the next planting season with
trees / shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to be planted
unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason:
To safeguard and enhance the character of the area and secure high
quality landscaping in accordance with Policies DM1, DM2 and DM4 of the
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.

Condition (11) Prior to the commencement of development, including demolition, a
Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning authority. The Constriction Management Plan shall include the
following details:


Development contacts, roles and responsibilities



Public communication strategy, including a complaints procedure



Dust suppression, mitigation and avoidance measures



Noise reduction measures, including use of acoustic screens and enclosures,
the types of equipment to be used and their hours of operations.



Use of fences and barriers to protect adjacent land, footpaths and highways



Details of parking and traffic management measures



Avoidance of light spill and glare from any floodlighting and security lighting
installed



Pest control

Reason:
To safeguard the amenity of the neighbouring residents in accordance
with Policies DM1 and DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development
Plan Document and National Planning Policy Framework Chapter 12, Achieving welldesigned places - para 127.

24

Page 60

Condition (12)
a) Prior to the commencement of the development, an assessment of the impact
of the proposed development on nearby residential properties shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
assessment shall address the potential for noise to occur which may impact
upon the amenity of the occupier(s) of the property and shall identify fully all
measures which are required to control the impact of that noise.
b) All approved control measures shall be implemented prior to first use of the
hereby approved development and shall be retained as such thereafter. A
verification report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority confirming that all measures in the approved assessment
have been implemented in fullprior to first use of the hereby approved
development.
Reason:
These details are required to be approved before the commencement
of development to safeguard the amenity of future occupiers of the site in
accordance with Policies DM1 and DM7 of the Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document and The National Planning Policy Framework Chapter
2 - Achieving sustainable development, para 8, Chapter 12 - Achieving well-designed
places, para 128 and Chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural
environment –para 180.

Condition (13)
a) A scheme showing all proposed external lighting (including all floodlighting,
external building lights and car park lighting) including their operational hours
for the development shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority prior to development commencing. This shall show the
location, number and type of units proposed, their orientation and brightness
in lux and proposed hours of operation. It shall also predict the light level in
lux to be experienced at surrounding properties.
b) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved lighting
scheme and retained as such thereafter.
Reason:
These details are required to be approved before the commencement
of development to minimise the visual impact of light on nearby residential properties
in accordance with Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document and The National Planning Policy Framework Chapter
2 - Achieving sustainable development, para 8 and Chapter 12 - Achieving welldesigned places, para 127.

25

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62

Item No.8

Planning application no. SL/2020/0783
Land off Brigsteer Road, KENDAL

www.southlakeland.gov.uk
Page 63

Contents
Planning application no. SL/2020/0783 ................................................................................. 1
Land off Brigsteer Road, KENDAL ........................................................................................ 1
Summary ........................................................................................................................ 5
Recommendation ............................................................................................................ 5
1.0 .Description and proposal ............................................................................................... 6
Site description ............................................................................................................... 6
Proposal .......................................................................................................................... 6
2.0 Planning history .............................................................................................................. 7
3.0 Consultations .................................................................................................................. 7
Kendal Town Council ...................................................................................................... 7
Cumbria County Council ............................................................................................... 10
Crime Prevention Officer ............................................................................................... 15
Environment Agency ..................................................................................................... 17
Natural England ............................................................................................................ 17
United Utilities ............................................................................................................... 22
South Lakeland District Council .................................................................................... 22
Neighbours / third parties .............................................................................................. 27
4.0 Relevant planning policies ............................................................................................ 35
South Lakeland Core Strategy ...................................................................................... 35
South Lakeland Land Allocations Development Plan Document .................................. 36
South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document
(DMDPD) ...................................................................................................................... 36
Other material considerations ....................................................................................... 37
5.0 Assessment .................................................................................................................. 37

2

Page 64

The presumption in favour of sustainable development ................................................ 37
The development strategy ............................................................................................ 40
Comprehensiveness ..................................................................................................... 43
Affordable housing ........................................................................................................ 44
Market Housing mix ...................................................................................................... 50
Sustainable construction ............................................................................................... 53
Accessible and Adaptable Homes ................................................................................ 55
Impact on local services ................................................................................................ 56
Flood risk ...................................................................................................................... 57
Foul drainage ................................................................................................................ 60
Highway access ............................................................................................................ 60
Public rights of way ....................................................................................................... 73
Green infrastructure framework .................................................................................... 75
Character ...................................................................................................................... 76
Recreation open space ................................................................................................. 87
Living conditons ............................................................................................................ 93
Biodiversity ................................................................................................................... 99
Impact on trees ........................................................................................................... 105
Archaeology ................................................................................................................ 111
Pollution ...................................................................................................................... 114
6.0 Conclusion .................................................................................................................. 119
7.0 Recommendation ........................................................................................................ 124

3

Page 65

4

Page 66

Summary
SL/2020/0783
PARISH: Kendal
Land off Brigsteer Road, KENDAL
PROPOSAL: Erection of 88 dwellings and associated works
APPLICANT: Story Homes
GRID REF: E: 350536 N: 491960
COMMITTEE DATE: 29 July 2021
CASE OFFICER: Andrew Martin
The application site lies within the development boundary of Kendal and forms part of a
larger area of land allocated for housing development by policies LA1.3 (Housing
Allocations) and LA2.7 (Stainbank Green) of the Land Allocations DPD, with an indicative
total capacity of 189 dwellings.
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which requires that
planning applications be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. And the NPPF expects development proposals
that accord with an up-to-date development plan to be approved without delay. It is officers’
opinion that the development plan policies which are most important for determining this
application remain up-to-date and, having considered the other material relevant to this
case, it is recommended that approval is given, subject to a number of important planning
obligations and conditions this application.

Recommendation
The application is recommended for approval subject to:

5

Page 67



adoption of a Habitat Regulations Assessment;



completion of a section 106 agreement;



requests that the developer and the local highway authority work collaboratively
to achieve the minimum street lighting standards necessary for road adoption;
and



conditions

1.0 .Description and proposal
Site description
1.1.

The application site covers an area of 4.4 hectares, comprising part of a housing
allocation located on the west edge of Kendal, approximately 1 km (as the crow
flies) from Kendal Town Centre. It is bounded by open countryside to the west and
south, residential development to the east and a cluster of residential properties to
the west (Stainbank Green) and public open space to the south east. Further to the
west of the site lies the A591 Kendal Bypass and beyond lies the Lake District
National Park. It is bounded to the north by Brigsteer Road.

Proposal
1.2.

This is a full application for 88 houses, employing 11 property types, comprising a
mix of detached, semi-detached and terraced units, as well two blocks of
apartments. The development is proposed to be served by a single vehicular
access onto Brigsteer Road. Further details are provided under relevant headings
of the report.

1.3.

The application originally proposed 89 dwellings, but was modified in May 2021 to
reduce the number of units by one and make other amendments to the layout (and
supporting documents) in response to comments from the initial round of publicity
and consultation. The application was subsequently re-publicised.

6

Page 68

2.0 Planning history
2.1.

The following history is relevant:


SL/2014/1146, Erection of 35 dwellings with associated open space,
landscaping and vehicular access, REFUSED 25 February 2015. ALLOWED
ON APPEAL, 15 February 2016

3.0 Consultations
3.1.

The application was originally publicised on 19 November 2020 and then again on
10 May 2021.

Kendal Town Council
3.2.

Comments as follows:
10 December 2020

“Given that this application applies to a site already classed as development
land the purpose of the committee's discussions and response is to raise
issues that need further consideration. From this committee's point of view
there is a need for further significant work to be done on the Local Plan policy
prerequisite of affordable housing, the Travel Plan, various
environmental/sustainability issues that are not addressed and other items
before matters can proceed.
“The development plans as outlined do not even seek to have a veneer of an
attempt to work within SLDC's policy and plans for affordable housing. In the
public consultation we specifically stated that we would be looking for the
development to include affordable housing to the percentage agreed within
the SLDC Local Plan. Dialogue on this has not been forthcoming. We would
expect SLDC to robustly defend their policy and seek specific justification for

7

Page 69

any arbitration decision, in order to justify any given profit margin for
developers and why that problem had not been seen prior to application given
Council policy.
“The Travel Plan and associated planning need to be reworked to be more
realistic; to be based on behavioural models that show patterns of movement
to and from the edge of Kendal that will actually happen given the size and
type of housing proposed. It is an area of existing problems with traffic as
shown by recent accidents along Brigsteer Road and adjoining carriageways.
Traffic flow, encouraged patterns of movement (vehicular and non-vehicular)
and speed restrictions should be altered to reduce the increased traffic flow
that will result from the development of this site as a whole. Speed limits or
controls, increased pedestrian access and safety are crucial to this application
being approved, especially given recent examples of accidents. These
changes should be required from the initial phase of the development as they
have a strategic impact on this area on the outskirts of Kendal.
“Pedestrian access should be improved and linked to existing routes - foot
and cycle ways - to encourage their use. It is only then that access could be
created sufficient to not adversely affect the safety of the public highway.
There is a significant lack of pavement at crucial parts of the development and
this should be included in the application as part of the applicant's build and
built in as a site cost, as otherwise this will merely encourage use of cars
further. So, access for pedestrians, cyclists and motor vehicle users should be
re-evaluated.
“We would require the footpath outlined to be an integral part of the
development, given that it is extremely long standing, comes within the
required planning timescales to make it regarded as ancient; indeed, it used to
form part of the parish boundary for Kendal.
“Following from that last point, the development plans as outlined do not seem
to take account of the history and community feel of the area. We would draw
specific attention to the CCC Historic Landscape as well as FOLD comments.
Historical and archaeological items should be included and an archaeological
survey of the southern end of the site be undertaken prior to permission. This

8

Page 70

is additionally surprising given that the site is within 300m of a World Heritage
Site (LDNPA).
“The committee strongly emphasised the importance of the dark skies project
and suggested liaison to reduce resultant light pollution from the elevated
location of this new site on the edge of town. Dark Sky-friendly standards of
mitigation should be adhered to in the continuance of this application. It also
suggested the use of outdoor lighting on the edge of the Kendal conurbation
with a suitable mix of use of cool colour temperature with warmer coloured
light with a system such as Thorn Lighting's Night Tune or similar as a
suggestion.
“There appears to be little work done to include sustainability into the plans for
dwellings with a dearth of possible, available and necessary initiatives ranging
from use of additionals such as pv's to inbuilt sustainability.
“In addition, a net biodiversity gain has not sufficiently been demonstrated to
the committee, within the plans, and needs to be proven to come within
planning guidelines.
“Electric charging points have not been built into the plans. This is
disregarding future need for residents as well as KTC and SLDC Climate
Emergencies. With these, there will be a need to ensure a future proofing of
sufficient substation or grid access for future surges in usage from home
charging of c.2 vehicles per household.
“The design of the cul de sacs should be looked at and roadways provided
that are capable of supporting refuse bins and their turning circles, something
that is not feasible with the current plans.
“We would wish sight of an improved plan for the attenuation ponds in order
that they do not visually detract from the amenity as this and other recent
plans have done.
“During the building programme it should be ensured that the use of
explosives or pecking of bedrock outlined in the application should not cause
noise nuisance or excessive so as to cause pollution.

9

Page 71

“Note should be taken of reports from stakeholders with an interest in the
development as well as neighbour comments. This should include following
the recommendations of the police and crime report for the supervision of
footpaths.”

Cumbria County Council
Local highway authority
3.3.

Comments as follows:
04 June 2021
“Access
“A revision has been submitted which shows an access arrangement with the
required 2.4m by 70m visibility splays. We welcome this revision and
recommend that a condition is applied to secure the ongoing provision of the
visibility splay.
“An Emergency Vehicle Access is also shown and the 30mph speed limit will
be extended to include this which should also be secured by condition with
details to be approved by highways in a section 278 agreement.
“Accessible Walking Routes
“The proposed provision of a footway along Brigsteer Road between the site
access road and Underwood should be secured via a Grampian condition.
“Public Rights of Way
“A developer contribution of £11,000 has been agreed towards surfacing
improvements to approximately 140m length of the section of public footpath
between the proposed development and Underwood. This financial
contribution will need to be secured in a section 106 agreement.
“Traffic Impact

10

Page 72

“A Transport Assessment has been provided. The trip generation and traffic
modelling has been re-run as requested and has shown that the impact of the
proposed development on the local highway network is not anticipated to be
severe. Future growth to 2026, committed development (in particular the
approved development at Underbarrow Road, and heavy vehicle movements,
were factored into the traffic modelling). The trip generation is estimated from
data collected from a range of sites with similar characteristics to this site and
the journeys assigned to those trips distributed according to census data
relating to the west side of Kendal. The vehicular trip generation of the
proposed development is estimated at 45 two way trips in the peak hour. This
is in accordance with accepted methodology and we accept the findings of no
severe impact.
“Parking
“The provision for visitor car parking has been increased and the overall level
of provision is considered adequate for this edge of town location.
“Layout
- Permeability/Accessibility
“Details have been revised within the layout that increase permeability for
pedestrians within the site. Some of the roads that are cul de sacs in this
phase of development will link into future phases of the development of the
wider allocated site and where possible they should be delivered as loops at
that time.
- Shared-Use Path and Tree Lined Verge
“Minor amendments to the positioning of trees within the visibility splays may
still be necessary, the detailed positioning of the trees in relation to visibility
will be picked up again with the road adoption process.
“Travel Plan

11

Page 73

“The monitoring of the travel plan will require a developer contribution of
£6,600 to be secured via a Section 106 Agreement to cover the costs of the
involvement of the Highway Authority in the monitoring and review.
“Access to the remainder of the Site Allocation
“This proposal is to develop part of a larger site that has been allocated for
future development. It is important that the wider site allocation can be
accessed in accordance with the development brief which calls for the main
vehicular access to the southern part of the allocated site to be the Brigsteer
Road access that will be created by this proposal.
“The developer of this proposal has put forward a number of options which
show how future development to the south could be accessed via this
proposed site. We can confirm that any of the 4 options shown in drawings
40014-510 to 513 are feasible and would be acceptable (including the 1 in 10
options), the embankments shown may require a significant commuted sum
for maintenance. Option 2 Revision A includes a retaining wall which would
contain the footprint of the road so that it does not rely on third party land, this
is again a feasible and adoptable option but the increased maintenance
responsibility would also require an increased commuted sum.”
3.4.

The comments conclude with a recommendation for planning obligations in respect
of financial contributions towards: (1) travel plan monitoring; and (2) upgrading the
surface of footpath no. 536042, and conditions in respect of (1) extending the
30mph speed limit on Brigsteer Road; (2) achieving appropriate standards for the
access onto Brigsteer Road; (3) general standards for the construction of adoptable
highways; and (4) the need for a Construction Phase Management Plan.

Lead local flood authority
3.5.

Comments as follows:

3.6.

04 June 2021
“Update of the Ground Investigation Report

12

Page 74

“The Ground Investigation Report has been updated to consider the karstic
limestone geological setting and it has found no obvious subsidence features
and we accept the engineering judgement of the geologist that the site is
suitable for the proposed development.
“A number of infiltration tests have now taken place on site to BRE Digest 365
standard and they do confirm that the site has extremely good infiltration rates
in the sandy soil with occasional gravel that is present.
“Detailed drainage layout plan.
“The drainage proposal is confirmed to be roofs to geocellular soakaways,
driveways and shared parking areas to use permeable paving. Highways in
the north of the site will be drained by gullies and piped drainage into a short
steep swale and on to a detention basin then into an off site infiltration swale.
Highways in the south of the site will be drained into a swale then on to an
infiltration basin to the south of the site.
“This proposal will be a sustainable drainage solution as long treatment
design is provided as well as hydraulic design in the detailed design phase,
we will recommend a condition to secure this.
“Detailed drawings of basins.
“We will need to condition the treatment design to include for treatment design
as well as hydraulic design. This should include a sediment forebay and
dense planting for the northern basin. The off site swale downstream of the
northern basin should include timber check dams and be underlined with soil
with good contamination potential of at least 300mm in depth. The southern
infiltration basin should be protected by an upstream swale and the basin
should include dense planting and to be underlain by soil with good
contamination attenuation potential.
“Details of exceedance routes across the proposed site.
“An exceedance drawing has been provided. Filter drains have been added at
the edge of the site and bunds have been added to reduce the risk of

13

Page 75

exceedance from the site still further. A condition will still be needed to revise
the drawing to show a dropped kerb or similar near plot 47 to allow spill to the
east, and near plot 10 to allow spill to the north east in the event of huge
events with greater than 1 in 100 return periods.
“Detailed drawings of sustainable drainage system (SuDS).
“We accept that the fine detail of the permeable paving and soakaways can
be secured via condition. We wish to see detail of the SuDS features that are
needed to provide the treatment though.
“Details of access to and Maintenance of SuDS.
“Householder maintenance of the geocellular tanks is accepted. The detailed
maintenance program and on-going maintenance responsibilities and a
Maintenance Manual for unadopted drainage will need to be secured by
condition.
“A 3m width track is indicated for maintenance down from the road to the
basins, we accept the routes as indicated but we require a condition to
provide the detail of how the vehicular access from the highway is to be
formed. The route to the southern basin is not the preferred route for the
permanent access to the southern site.”
3.7.

The comments conclude with a recommendation for conditions in respect of (1) the
need for a construction surface water management plan; and (2) a surface water
validation report.

Historic Environment Officer
3.8.

Comments as follows:
12 November 2020
“Our records indicate that the site lies in an area of archaeological potential. It
is located between a Romano-British farmstead investigated at Lumbley Road
and a probable prehistoric burial found on a development site north of
Brigsteer Road. The course of a Roman Road is said to cross the proposed

14

Page 76

development site and earthworks remains of an enclosure are also recorded
as surviving on the southern part of the site. The date of the enclosure is
unknown, but it predates the existing 18th century field boundaries.”
“[…] in the event planning permission is granted, the southern area of the site
(which has not been subject to earlier planning applications and where no
archaeological work has been undertaken to date) is subject to archaeological
investigation and recording in advance of development. I advise that this work
should be commissioned and undertaken at the expense of the developer and
can be secured through the inclusion of a condition in any planning consent.”

Crime Prevention Officer
3.9.

Comments as follows:
24 May 2021
“I previously highlighted a lack of supervision of the new pedestrian access
point entering the site (north) from Brigsteer Road. I note from the
Construction Management Plan drawing (40014.03.CMP) that house types
have been amended from the original Site Layout and Plot 15 (formerly 16) is
now a Fulford (A) type with ground and first floor windows in the gable wall.
The orientation of Plot 16 (formerly 17) has been altered to directly address
the pedestrian route. These amendments significantly improve natural
surveillance opportunities and casual supervision of the path.
“The presence of the PROW presents an unrestricted and potentially
unobserved route into the development from east or west. I previously
outlined my perceptions of this feature - regarding restricted views of the
route, impact of landscaping elements becoming overgrown, potential risk of
intrusion to rear gardens and apparent exclusion from the street lighting
scheme. I cannot ascertain any further information that indicates how these
vulnerabilities have been addressed.
“I can find no further information that indicates that the applicant concurs with
my recommendations relating to physical security measures. (By adopting

15

Page 77

these recommendations – in the event of this application being approved - the
applicant would exceed the requirements in complying with Building
Regulations Approved Document Q).
“The provision of information relating to crime prevention measures would
demonstrate the applicant’s commitment to complying with the requirements
of Policy DM 2.”
30 November 2020
“The Design and Access Statement advises how the dwellings have been
arranged to face onto the street and central green space area, maximising
active frontages along this important route. It is evident from the Site Layout
that the dwellings generally overlook public realm and the vehicular access
road. The placing of ‘dual aspect’ houses is noted in optimising natural
surveillance opportunities.
“The pedestrian access point at the direct south of the development
(potentially linking to the unmade footpath at Maple Drive) is directly
overlooked by Units 63, 64 and 65.
“However, another pedestrian access point at the north (adjacent to Unit 17)
passes between the blank gables of units 16 and 17. The other closest
dwelling (Unit 28) presents a blank gable towards this route and consequently
a designated route is not directly overlooked, conflicting with Policy DM2.
“The presence of the PROW presents an unrestricted and potentially
unobserved route into the development from the west.
“Although the Design and Access Statement suggest that ‘houses will face
onto the retained public footpath which runs through the centre of the site’,
Units 1 – 3, 21 – 24, 25 – 37 present only rear or side elevations to this
feature, which restricts passive supervision across it. The rear and side
gardens of these dwellings may also be at increased risk of intrusion, being
adjacent to a public footpath. The garden boundaries should therefore be
enhanced to deter intrusion. I recommend vertical close-boarded fencing at
2.4m.

16

Page 78

“As the PROW is heavily landscaped it is important that trees and shrubs do
not become overgrown and obstruct views. This route should be included in
the street lighting scheme.
3.10.

There are further comments in respect of the physical security of the dwelling which
relate to the Building Regulations.

Environment Agency
20 November 2020
3.11.

Confirmed no comment.

Natural England
3.12.

Comments as follows:
01 June 2021
“Natural England agree with the conclusion that there will be no adverse effect
on the integrity to the Morecambe Bay Pavements SAC if the proposed
mitigation outlined in Table 1 of the Urban Green letter dated 31 March 2021
is secured.
“The provision of a CEMP prior to works commencing is required to detail the
pollution prevention measures which will be implemented to ensure that no
deterioration in water quality of the downstream River Kent SAC.
“We note the biodiversity net gain of 5% being proposed, including off-site
habitat creation. Table 13 shows that 8.41ha of off-site habitat will be
provided. However, the description (p13) states that 1.05ha off-site habitat will
be provided. This needs further clarification1. The management plan referred
to on page 14 should also be secured.

1

The proposal is for 8 habitat units equating to 1.05 hectares of land.

17

Page 79

“Please note that our additional comments in our original response dated
10.12.20 remain valid, with regards to landscape and visual impacts on the
Lake District National Park and the additional biodiversity measures that
should be secured.”
10 December 2020
“Designated sites
“The proposal could have potential impacts on the nearby Scout & Cunswick
Scars Site of Special Scientific interest (SSSI). This SSSI is part of the
Morecambe Bay Pavements Special Area of Conservation (SAC).
The designated features of the site include:
•

Limestone pavement and associated calcareous grassland

•

Vascular plant assemblage

•

Invertebrate assemblage

•

(the above also providing habitat for breeding bird assemblage)

“Impacts from increased public access to the SSSI/SAC, which is already a
very popular recreational area, should be taken account of in this proposal.
Increased residential pressure could impact on the site features and its
management due to increased disturbance of stock, trampling of plant
species, and eutrophication from increased use by dog walkers. These
impacts result in the reduction in the notified habitats and lead to increased
blue moor-grass dominance (low herb component) and scrub invasion (mainly
hawthorn and blackthorn) both which would need to be controlled.
“Adequate alternative green space provision and dog walking routes need to
be provided within the proposed development. We advise the Council also
request Developer Contributions to provide way marked trails and sign age on
Scout Scar to discourage increased access to the areas of the
“SSSI/SAC vulnerable to bird disturbance and erosion, in collaboration with
the Lake District National Park Authority. This was not conditioned as part of

18

Page 80

the land south of Underbarrow Road scheme and is even more critical due the
cumulative impacts of increased housing this close to the designated site.
Other potential mitigation could be the provision of homeowner packs which
highlight the sensitivity of the designated site and information on alternative
green space. A Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) should be
undertaken to fully assess the potential impacts of the scheme from
recreational disturbance and suitable mitigation in order to ensure no adverse
impact on the site integrity of the SAC.
“We note that the outline Drainage Strategy submitted indicates that surface
water run-off for Phase 1 of the development will be discharged to the
watercourse to the north. This is hydrologically linked to the River Kent and
Tributaries SSSI and River Kent SAC 1.2km downstream, and therefore
potential impacts on this designated site should also be assessed within the
HRA. Mitigation to ensure no deterioration in water quality of the tributary
needs to be included in a final drainage strategy, which should be a Condition
of any subsequent Planning permission.
“Designated Landscapes
“The proposal is less than 250m from the boundary of the Lake District
National Park. The proposed site is therefore within the setting of this
designated landscape. Paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) highlights the need to protect and enhance valued
landscapes through the planning system. Careful consideration should
therefore be given to the nature, scale and location of development in the
setting of a protected landscape to see if the proposal could adversely affect
the special qualities of the area or the enjoyment of it. There is no defined
'setting' for protected landscapes - this depends on features such as the local
topography and land cover of the particular area and inter-visibility from sites
within and outside the protected landscape, and must the ref ore be assessed
on a case-by-case basis.
“Setting can add value to a protected landscape in a number of ways. For
example a buffer of undeveloped/ less developed land which may be of a
different or transitional character to the protected landscape, but which serves

19

Page 81

to separate it from urban areas or degraded landscapes and consequently
'frames' the protected landscape. Although this proposal is an extension of the
existing large settlement of Kendal, the Brig steer Road does provide a short
but noticeable transition from the built up area of Kendal to the open
countryside and wooded boundaries leading up to the National Park itself, and
therefore acts an important buffer zone. This is further accentuated by the
elevation of the site.
“The open rural fields and dry stone walls are characteristics of the National
Character Area profile for this area and will be lost as a result of this proposal.
The marked increase in traffic as a result of the development will also impact
on the landscape character of the area. Impacts on 'Dark Skies' should also
be taken into account as a result of the increased lighting that will result from
such a large development. More detail is provided in the response from
Friends of the Lake District.
“It would be beneficial for the LVIA to include photo montages for several key
viewpoints to assess more easily what the landscape character and
designated landscape setting impacts may be. The L VIA also states much of
the impacts are reduced by the screening provided by the trees. The L VIA
should be considered alongside the tree removal schedule in order to assess
the actual screening potential once the proposed trees are felled. We also
advise you consult the Lake District National Park Authority for further advice.
“Biodiversity impacts
“We note the Ecology report highlights the break in the natural tree corridor
through the middle of the site due to the routing of the road. Suitable
mitigation must be secured to minimise the impacts on commuting bats and
other wildlife along this natural green corridor. The lighting scheme for the
development will also need to be sensitive to wildlife including bats, and a
further survey of trees of medium bat roost potential before they are felled.
Lighting along this wooded corridor must be kept to a minimum. The
Recommendations in Section 5 of the Ecology report should be secured.

20

Page 82

“This amount of new build should seek to deliver a biodiversity net gain. The
current biodiversity metric should be used to calculate the quality and quantity
of habitats lost as a result of this proposal and a 10% or more net gain
provided, ideally on-site, which should form the basis of the Landscaping
Plan. We also note 107 trees are required to be felled but that only 82 are to
be planted. A more suitable level of compensation needs to be provided, also
recognising that removal of more mature trees cannot be compensated for by
the planting of saplings, which will take time to provide the same biodiversity
value of the trees to be felled.
“The Landscaping Plan also needs to ensure the impacts on rare species
such as meadow saxifrage are mitigated and compensated for. It would be
advisable to consult with Cumbria Wildlife Trust as they may have more site
specific knowledge of the biodiversity value of the site.
“The biodiversity metric does not account for species impacts, and we note
from the submitted Ecology Report that the fields provide ground nesting bird
habitat and also good foraging resources for swifts. Therefore, partly
compensating for this loss would be to incorporate swift bricks into the
building design. We support the response submitted by Kendal Swifts, which
provides more detail.

21

Page 83

United Utilities
08 December 2020
Drainage
Recommends conditions requiring: (1) compliance with the submitted surface water
drainage proposals; (2) that foul and surface water are drained on separate systems;
and (3) agreement to a sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan for
the lifetime of the development.
Water supply
Recommends that the developer engages with United Utilities at the earliest
opportunity. “Reinforcement of the water supply network may be required to meet
[…] demand, which could be a significant project and the design and construction
period should be accounted for.”

South Lakeland District Council
Specialist – Arboriculture
3.13.

Comments as follows:
18 May 2021
“… providing the development is carried out in full accordance with the
[Arboricultural Impact Assessment] and [Arboricultural Method Statements],
the impact of the development on retained trees can be minimised.
“… the arrangement of plots 20-24 does comply with the requirements of
BS5837 and can be delivered as proposed. The crowns of the trees to the
south of these plots overhang the garden areas and will cast shade over the
gardens of the plots. As a result there could be pressure from residents for
future tree management works in this area. The trees are protected by a TPO

22

Page 84

which will give legal protection to the trees, and it would be expedient for this
to be made clear to potential occupiers of these dwellings.
“ … suggest that the Arboricultural Monitoring Schedule is slightly amended to
include the Local Authority Tree Officer visit to the Inspection of Protective
Fencing task? This will also allow the inspection of tree work to be carried out
at the same visit.”

Street Scene
3.14.

Comments as follows:
23 November 2020
“As the domestic waste collection service for the proposed development,
Street Scene has reviewed the submitted material.
“Street Scene would like to see a swept path analysis for a 26 tonne refuse
vehicle with an overall wheelbase of 5.2 metres for all turning heads.
“Street Scene has concerns over the number and length of the cul-de-sacs
should the turning heads be insufficient or they become blocked by parked
vehicles. This would mean that an unacceptable reverse of considerable
distance be required. Street Scene vehicles should not be required to reverse
more than 12 metres. Street Scene sees the current planning application to be
predominantly made up of cul-de-sacs, which makes it less easy to navigate
and service.
“The developer does not appear to have considered the following
recommendations.
1. Cumbria Development Design Guide
Part 1 Chapter A: Road hierarchy, this talks about permeability and
recommends figure RH5 which delivers better conditions for all road
users by removing barriers to their movement. Being more favourable
to situations where emergency vehicles require access or where road

23

Page 85

closures are needed. This should also apply to Street Scene vehicles
requiring access on a weekly basis.
2. Supplementary Planning Document Stainbank Green, Kendal states:
3.5.2 It is essential that the road layout provides clear, legible, direct
routes and promotes a safe and accessible movement framework for
all. Therefore it is assumed safe and reliable collection of waste and
recycling with minimal manoeuvres is included in the design of the
development.
3.5.4 An emergency access should be provided from Cedar Grove.
3.5.7 The road layout should incorporate loops wherever feasible to
ensure that there is always more than one route option in the event that
a section of the main road/street becomes blocked.
“Street Scene wishes to ask why a planned layout closer to Figure RHS of the
Cumbria Development Design Guide has not been considered.
“If Street Scene cannot gain safe access, residents will be required to present
domestic waste and recycling at the road end.”

Public Protection
3.15.

Comments as follows:
01 December 2020
“Contaminated Land
“Having reviewed the Phase 1 and Phase 2 Geo-Environmental site
assessment I find the report, methodology and findings to be reliable. I
therefore recommend the remediation measures mentioned in in section 11 of
the report are undertaken to remove exceedances of Arsenic in the central
Northern sector.
“Furthermore, if during development, any visible contaminated or odorous
material, (for example, asbestos containing material, stained soil, petrol /

24

Page 86

diesel / solvent odour, underground tanks or associated pipework) not
previously identified, is found to be present at the site, no further development
(unless otherwise expressly agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority) shall be carried out until it has been fully investigated using suitably
qualified independent consultant(s). The Local Planning Authority must be
informed immediately of the nature and degree of the contamination present
and a method statement detailing how the unsuspected contamination shall
be dealt with must be prepared and submitted to the Local Planning Authority
for approval in writing before being implemented.
“If no such contaminated material is identified during the development, a
statement to this effect must be submitted in writing to the Local Planning
Authority.”
“Air Quality
“Having reviewed the Air Quality Assessment I find the report, methodology
and findings to be reliable. I therefore recommend the applicant be required to
submit a site specific dust management plan in accordance with mitigation
measures identified in section 6 of the report.
“Noise
Having reviewed the noise assessment I find the report, calculations and
findings to be reliable. I therefore recommend the applicant be requested to
submit a noise validation report, demonstrating compliance with the noise
criteria detailed in the assessment, shall be submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority before any dwelling is occupied. This assessment
shall be conducted with windows open for ventilation, unless mechanical
ventilation has been provided, in which case these tests shall be performed
with such mechanical ventilation running. Such noise protection measures
shall thereafter be maintained and operated in accordance with the approved
scheme.”
Construction
[Recommends a condition requiring a Construction Management Plan].

25

Page 87

Construction hours
[Recommends a condition limiting construction working hours].

Principal Specialist People
3.16.

Comments as follows:
26 May 2021
“Need and Demand
“The 2017 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) identifies a need for
153 new affordable dwellings annually up to 2036 (3060 in total over the
period 2016 to 2036) of which 67 dwellings are needed in the Kendal Housing
Market area annually (1340 in total over the period 2016 to 2036). The
evidence shows that the need is more weighted towards smaller 1-2 bedroom
homes, though there is still a need for larger 3+ bedroom homes. The Housing
Register as of March 2021 shows a total of 4051 households who express a
need to live in Kendal. Of these, 1067 need a 1 bedroom home, 446 need a 2
bedroom home and 214 need a 3+ bedroom home. There are 1004 applicants
who express the need for either a ground floor flat or bungalow (NB applicants
can choose more than one option) and there are 16 applicants who need
accessible accommodation.
“CS6.2 of the Core Strategy requires a mix of house sizes and types. The mix
of affordable housing proposed is for 8 affordable rented one bedroom flats, 1
affordable rented two bedroomed house, 7 intermediate two bedroomed
houses and 2 intermediate three bedroomed houses. Ideally there should
some representation of three bedroomed rented accommodation which would
provide a better mix of sizes though in general terms the mix is acceptable in
helping to meet need.
“Policy requirements
“CS6.3 of the Core Strategy requires that on sites of 9 or more, no fewer than
35% should be affordable homes. The initial proposal was for 89 units of
accommodation with 8 one bedroom flats, 15 two bedroomed houses, 27

26

Page 88

three bedroom houses and 19 4+ bedroom houses, none of which were
affordable. A viability assessment was submitted by the applicant that
determined that the scheme could deliver 20% affordable units. The proposal
is now for a scheme of 88 units and 20% of these is 18 units. The scheme
would have required 31 affordable units for a policy compliant scheme, 13
additional units. It should be noted that the applicant is discussing this matter
with a Registered Provider and this may provide an opportunity of delivering a
policy compliant scheme of 35% affordable units through the Council’s
affordable housing grant scheme subject to the relevant approvals and grant
agreement. The Council’s affordable grant scheme can provide funds to assist
Registered Providers in acquiring units where there is proven viability issues
that mean that less than 35% affordable units can be delivered. The grant can
provide funding to a Registered Provider to secure the additional affordable
units that would then result in 35% provision on the site. However, the current
proposal is based on 20% affordable units.”

Neighbours / third parties
3.17.

We have received 99 individual letters of representation: 87 either expressly
labelled as objections, or taken to be so; 11 either expressly labelled as
observations or comments, or taken to be so; and one qualified letter of support.
We have also received a petition of 150 signatures objecting to the proposal. The
concerns raised are as follows:
Principle


Fundamentally wrong to keep developing greenfield sites.



Not good in a climate emergency.



The location is fundamentally unsuitable for a development of this scale.



More logical sites than this to meet housing need in Kendal.

Traffic

27

Page 89



Unacceptable impact on local road network, much of which is already used as a
series of rat-runs.



Proposal would turn a peaceful country lane into a busy and dangerous road.



Additional car movements will lead to pollution, noise and a risk to residents
including children.



Conflict with walkers and cyclists on Brigsteer Road using the route on their way
up to Scout Scar.



Stretch of Brigsteer Road from Underwood Road to Bankfield Road – very
narrow.



Limited survey data to support conclusions in applicant’s Transport Assessment.



Traffic impact should not be considered in isolation; cumulative impact of other
developments needs to be taken into account.



Expectations of the proportion of journeys by pedestrians / cyclists are an
overestimate that do not take into account local topography.



Walking times need to factor in additional time to deal with the 80m height gain
from the town centre to the application site.



Underwood bus service is limited: 6 minutes from town and 25 minutes to town.



Kendal town centres is well beyond the 800m defined as a “walkable
neighbourhood” in the applicant’s Transport Statement.



Traffic on Brigsteer Road frequently exceeds speed limit.



Proposal to relocate 30mph limit is unlikely to slow traffic approaching downhill
from the west.



Extended 30mph speed limit should be preceded by a 40mph limit to slow
eastbound traffic.



30mph speed limit should be extended further west than indicated.

28

Page 90



Currently no footpath west of junction with Underwood. Existing footpath should
be extended to the new site entrance before any other development takes place.



No consideration given to pedestrian / cycle linkages, other than the extension
of the footway from Underwood along Brigsteer Road.



Traffic calming needed on Brigsteer Road.



Position of proposed vehicular access relative to existing junctions and
restricted visibility is highly dangerous.



Access to the site needs pedestrian / cycle connections along Brigsteer Road –
in both directions.



Icing is a problem on Brigsteer Road.



Development should reinforce public transport, cycling and easy pedestrian
access.



Proposed access is in a dangerous location, which also involves the felling of
trees. Better to take access off of the existing road to properties in Stainbank
Green.



Direct access to A591 needed, either via the quarry or a new access point.



Maple Drive should not be a through route.



Junction at Greenside / High Tenterfell / Bankfield should be a mini-roundabout.



Vicarage Road / Milnthorpe Road junction needs traffic lights.



Cedar Grove must never be anything than the emergency vehicle access
anticipated by the development brief.



Need to be certain that the access at southern end of the site is capable of
being extended.

29

Page 91



Existing path connections to Underwood (and bus stops) are slippery and
dangerous when wet. (There is some acknowledgment of the benefits from the
proposed upgrading of this route).



No local shops; residents will need to access the town centre and this is most
likely to be done by car.

Parking


Old parking guidance is now out-of-date. Parking standards need to reflect
modern worker profile and car ownership profile.

Public rights of way


Existing public rights of way need protecting.



Loss of beautiful walk.



Loss of a circular walking route through the site from Maple Drive via Stainbank
Green to Underwood. This is an irreplaceable amenity for the local community.

Archaeology


Archaeological Desk Based Assessment alone is inadequate.



Development is a threat to Roman archaeology. The lane crossing the site
through the woodland belt is of unquestionable archaeological merit and
deserves to be protected. It should not be crossed or damaged by a road or
thoroughfare.

Housing mix


Lack of affordable housing is unacceptable.

30

Page 92



If affordable housing is unviable then the application should be refused.



Large houses will further skew the population age profile.



Dwellings should not be used as holiday homes.

Light pollution


Application is in a sensitive location, within the setting of the Lake District
National Park and viewed from key popular landscape receptors such as Scout
Scar.



Road lighting and other external lighting should be conditioned to comply with
up-to-date dark sky friendly standards.

Inadequate infrastructure


Inadequate infrastructure (GP surgeries, Dentists, hospitals, healthcare and
schooling).



Will the development be making contributions towards increased school
capacity and improvements to the Maple Drive play area?



No shops or community centres to serve the area.



Open space in the north-east corner of site will be compromised by: (1) SuDS
basin; (2) steep slope; and (3) little sunlight in winter.



Is there foul sewage capacity?



Is there a fresh water supply?

Sustainable construction


SLDC has declared a climate emergency.

31

Page 93



Houses unsustainable; no reference to alternative energy use.



Houses need adequate electricity for electric vehicle charging points.



Houses should use ground source heat pumps rather than fossil fuel boilers.
Also, electric charging points for visitors to the estate.



No apparent flexibility in design to take account of future requirement for low
carbon heating.



Ideal opportunity for an integrated plan for pedestrians and cyclists along the
axis from the town centre along Brigsteer Road to Scout Scar. This would
encourage journeys by foot and cycle.



None of the units are compliant with M4(3) of the Building Regulations.

Character


Density too high.



Properties should be constructed from stone and slate to reflect character local
character.



Development will be visible from the National Park.

Biodiversity


Green space and wildlife habitat destroyed



The site has a healthy ecosystem that will be destroyed by building beyond the
line established by the previous appeal decision.



The woodland that crosses the site contains protected species.



Existing woodland should not be subject to increased access or lighting that
would disturb wildlife.

32

Page 94



The applicant’s ecological walkover is inadequate. It doesn’t record protected
species known to exist on site – ie long eared owl, tawny oil, little owl
Hedgehogs are not recorded.



Meadow saxifrage is still present.



Development should achieve a biodiversity net gain of at least 10% in
accordance with emerging national legislation.



No wildlife corridors across the site.



Development should include swift bird boxes.

Trees


Tree loss is unacceptable.



Existing woodland on eastern boundary should be retained and ideally
extended.



Compensatory tree planting is insufficient.



Trees should be replaced at ratio of greater than one for one.



New trees will take a long time to establish.



Replacement tree planting is dotted rather than forming a green corridor as
anticipated by the development brief.



Units 1-3 and 21-24 close to northern side of mature woodland belt. Need to
consider future pressure to thin/fell to improve daylight.

Flooding


Proposals likely to lead to exacerbation of existing flooding problems.

33

Page 95



Junction of Brigsteer Road / Underwood has flooded on more than the one
occasion.



Reduce the amount of parking, roads and paths so as not compromise
drainage.



Does the applicant own the land proposed for the infiltration basin proposed to
the rear of Maple Drive & Cedar Grove?



SuDS feature in field rear of Maple Drive and Cedar Grove not shown in
Development Brief.

Amenity


There will overlooking, overshadowing and loss of privacy to surrounding
properties. Consider single storey development only and uninterrupted shelter
belts of native trees.



Loss of important green space and recreation area for locals.



There must be controls on construction works to ensure they can take place
without detrimental impact on neighbours from noise (especially rock removal),
vibration, dust and possible blasting.



There should be no blasting or peckering of rock during the construction phase.

Contamination


High risk radon area.



Concerned about release of carcinogens, radon and arsenic.



Water flowing from the site will carry pollutant risks.



Kendal town centre already has an air quality issue.

34

Page 96

Ground stability


Geophysical surveys are inadequate.



Fault line in limestone is an issue for foundations.

4.0 Relevant planning policies
South Lakeland Core Strategy
4.1.

The following Core Strategy policies are considered relevant to the proposal:

CS1.1:

Sustainable Development Principles

CS1.2:

The Development Strategy

CS2:

Kendal Strategy

CS6.1:

Meeting the housing requirement

CS6.2:

Dwelling mix and type

CS6.3:

Provision of Affordable Housing

CS6.6:

Making Effective and Efficient Use of Land and Buildings

CS8.1:

Green Infrastructure

CS8.2:

Protection and Enhancement of Landscape and Settlement Character

CS8.3a:

Accessing open space, sport and recreation

CS8.3b:

Quantity of open space, sport and recreation

CS8.4:

Biodiversity and Geodiversity

CS8.7:

Sustainable Construction, Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy

CS8.8:

Development and Flood Risk

CS8.10:

Design

35

Page 97

CS10.2:

Transport impact of new development

South Lakeland Land Allocations Development Plan
Document
4.2.

The following Land Allocations DPD policies are considered relevant to the
proposal:

LA1.0:

Presumption in favour of sustainable development

LA1.1:

Development boundaries

LA1.3:

Housing Allocations

LA2.7:

Stainbank Green

South Lakeland Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document (DMDPD)
4.3.

The following DMDPD policies are considered relevant to the proposal:

DM1:

General Requirements for all development

DM2:

Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design

DM4:

Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping

DM5:

Rights of Way and other routes providing pedestrian, cycle and equestrian
access

DM6:

Flood Risk Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems

DM7:

Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact and Water Quality

DM8:

High Speed Broadband for New Developments

DM11:

Accessible and Adaptable Homes

DM12:

Self-Build and Custom Build Housing

36

Page 98

Other material considerations
National Planning Policy Framework
4.4.

The following sections are considered relevant to this application.
2.
4.
5.
8.
9.
11.
12.
14.
15.
16.

Achieving sustainable development
Decision-making
Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Promoting healthy and safe communities
Promoting sustainable transport
Making effective use of land
Achieving well-designed places
Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Cumbria Development Design Guide
Affordable Housing Planning Policy Guidance Note March 2020
Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (2011)

5.0 Assessment
The presumption in favour of sustainable development
5.1.

Paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) introduces the
overarching economic, social and environmental objectives central to achieving
sustainable development. It is often forgotten that the social objective includes
“ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the
needs of present and future generations”.

37

Page 99

5.2.

Paragraph 9 of the NPPF is clear that these objectives should be delivered through
the preparation and implementation of development plans and the application of the
policies in the NPPF; they are not criteria against which every decision can or
should be judged. Planning policies and decisions should play an active role in
guiding development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take
local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities
of each area.

5.3.

To these ends paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that plans and decisions should
apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Paragraphs 11(c) and
11(d) tell us that for decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development
plan without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting
permission unless:

5.4.

i.

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development
proposed2; or

ii.

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework
taken as a whole.

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF tells us that:

2

The policies referred to are those in the NPPF (rather than those in development plans) relating to: habitats
sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176 of the NPPF) and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific
Interest; land designated as Green Belt, Local Green Space, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, a
National Park (or within the Broads Authority) or defined as Heritage Coast; irreplaceable habitats; designated
heritage assets (and other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63 of the NPPF);
and areas at risk of flooding or coastal change.

38

Page 100

“Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan […]
permission should not usually be granted.”
5.5.

Paragraph 11 is relevant in this case given that the adoption of the Core Strategy in
2010 pre-dates the earliest version of the NPPF published in 2012. The Land
Allocations DPD was adopted later, but much of the preparation preceded
publication of the NPPF – a point acknowledged by the DPD in paragraph 1.19.

5.6.

The process of assessing the extent to which existing development plan policies
may be out-of-date has started with the ongoing Local Plan Review. The South
Lakeland Draft Local Plan Policy Review, published June 2021, (“the Policy
Review”) examines each policy in the various Development Plan documents and
assesses them against the following factors:

5.7.

5.8.



Degree of alignment with the 2019 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)



Findings of new relevant up to date evidence



Degree to which policy requirements and objectives have been met as
evidenced through decision-making, monitoring and implementation



Changes in local circumstances and priorities, including the Council Plan.

Based upon these factors the Policy Review assigns each policy to one of the
following three review categories:


Category 1 – Likely to require significant review, and amendment/or
replacement



Category 2 – Likely to require less substantive review and amendment/
refreshment



Category 3 –– Very limited or no case for change

The Policy Review stresses that these categories are “not fixed and open to review
and discussion”. And just because a policy might need “significant” review is not an
indication that it is necessarily out-of-date; it is more an indication of the work that
will be necessary in order to ensure that the policy remains consistent with the
latest evidence and the policies within the NPPF. Nevertheless, in applying the test

39

Page 101

in paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the commentary in the Policy Review is a useful
starting point.

The development strategy
Policy position
5.9.

In terms of applying the NPPF’s presumption in favour of sustainable development,
those policies within the Council’s development plan that establish the District’s
overall development strategy are among the most important.

5.10.

Core Strategy policy CS1.2 (The Development Strategy) identifies a four-tier,
sustainable settlement hierarchy for the District comprising: (1) the Principal Service
Centres of Kendal and Ulverston at the top, where the majority of new housing and
employment development will be concentrated; (2) three, Key Service Centres; (3)
17 smaller Local Service Centres; and (4) finally, a disperse pattern of “Rural
Settlements” comprising smaller villages and hamlets, some (but not all) of which
are identified on Figure 6 (page 20) in the Core Strategy.

5.11.

The application site lies within the development boundary of the town and forms
part of a larger area of land allocated for housing development by policies LA1.3
(Housing Allocations) and LA2.7 (Stainbank Green) of the Land Allocations DPD,
with an indicative total capacity of 189 dwellings. Therefore, the principle of
development on this site is clearly established. The full text of allocating policy
LA2.7 is contained within Appendix A to the report.

5.12.

The Policy Review acknowledges that LADPD policies LA1.3 and LA2.7 are likely to
require significant review, but only insofar as is necessary to add further allocations
to maintain a healthy land supply or delete allocations where development is
complete or where it is evident that sites are unlikely to come forward. For the
purposes of applying the presumption in favour of sustainable development in the
NPPF both policies remain up-to-date.

5.13.

The preamble to policy LA2.7 in paragraph 3.29 of the Land Allocations DPD
summarises the constraints and opportunities presented by the site as follows:

40

Page 102

“This 10.8 ha site has a capacity of around 189 dwellings. It comprises open
land used for agricultural/grazing purposes and is prominent in the local
landscape but less so in the wider landscape on account of intervening
topography. A belt of trees reinforces the boundary of the site with Stainbank
Road and Maple Drive. A second belt runs across the site parallel with
Brigsteer Road. A number of stone walls cross the site. The south eastern
part of the site merges into the wider area of farmland to the south and west.
Significant landscaping measures will be required to ensure there is no
adverse impact from development to existing landscape character. A soft
landscaped boundary treatment will be needed along the southern and south
western boundaries of the site in particular. Development in this location is
likely to result in a significant impact on existing traffic flows on adjacent roads
and the Kendal Town Centre network. A transport assessment and travel plan
will be required and it is likely that some off-site highways and transport
mitigation would be required to realise this development site. The primary
access to the site should be off Brigsteer Road. Green Infrastructure should
be built into the development, retaining existing wildlife movement from east to
west through the site. Pedestrian/cycle links and connectivity to adjacent
residential areas and Brigsteer Road should be provided to ensure there are
good sustainable access links to Kendal Town Centre. Mitigation measures
may be required to ensure adequate arrangements for the disposal of surface
water are provided. Given the size of the site, development may result in the
need for additional community infrastructure that could be provided within the
site.”
5.14.

Summarising the Land Allocation DPD’s development strategy, paragraph 1.16
states:
“ … it is the Council’s view that the sites selected offer the most appropriate
available solution to the development needs of the District having considered
Sustainability Appraisal, the wider strategy, vision and objectives set out in the Core
Strategy (which has itself been subject to Sustainability Appraisal), and all the other
evidence and information available to and gathered by the Council through site
visits, consultation and evidence base studies.”

41

Page 103

Development brief
5.15.

The Stainbank Green allocation also benefits from a Development Brief 3 (“the
Development Brief” or “the Brief”) adopted in April 2015. The foreword to the
document explains its purpose and status:
“It provides additional guidance on the interpretation of Policy LA2.7 of the
South Lakeland Local Plan – Land Allocations (adopted December 2013)
which relates to Stainbank Green and other relevant Local Plan policies. It
was adopted by South Lakeland District Council on 29th April 2015 as a
Supplementary Planning Document and forms a material consideration when
determining any planning application submitted for the site.
“It provides the development framework for achieving the vision for the site,
this is a development fully integrated and accessible in terms of
pedestrian/cycle access to the neighbouring Underwood/Stainbank Road
residential area and the Vicarage Road Green Wedge, providing new green
spaces and green links accessible to all and a design and layout that
responds sensitively to the site’s high quality landscape setting and location. It
will deliver a mix of well-designed and energy efficient homes that will meet
the current and future housing needs of the local community.”

Housing supply
5.16.

LADPD policy LA1.3 (Housing Allocations) anticipated that the Stainbank Green
allocation would come forward in two indicative phases, with 60 units completed in
the period 2013 -2018 and the remainder completed 2018- 2023.

5.17.

The latest version of the South Lakeland Housing Land Annual Position Statement,
31 March 2020 (published September 2020), still considers the allocation in two
phases, but updates our expectations. Phase 1 equates to the area previously
allowed on appeal (under reference SL/2014/1146) and is assigned an indicative
capacity of 34 dwellings, projected to be constructed before the end of 2024/25,

3

Development Brief: Stainbank Green, Kendal. Adopted 29th April 2015.

42

Page 104

and therefore considered to be one of a number of deliverable sites that will
contribute towards the minimum of five years’ worth of housing land that the District
must maintain to meet the requirements of the NPPF. The District’s objectively
assessed local housing need is currently set at 166 dwellings per year.
5.18.

Phase 2 of the Stainbank Green allocation covers the remainder of the allocation
and is assigned an indicative capacity of 155 dwellings. The Housing Land Annual
Position Statement does not anticipate that Phase 2 will be constructed within five
years and so it is not currently defined as deliverable for NPPF purposes.

5.19.

The current application covers approximately half of the allocation, equivalent to all
of Phase 1 in the Housing Land Annual Position Statement and a good portion of
Phase 2. The applicants anticipate that, if they commence development in 2021,
annual completions will thereafter proceed at the following rate:

5.20.

2022 - 2023

25

2023 - 2024

32

2024 - 2025

31

This would exceed the delivery rate anticipated in the Position Statement, bolstering
our five year land supply, which is to be welcomed.

Comprehensiveness
5.21.

It is not a requirement of policy LA2.7 that the Stainbank Green allocation should be

developed comprehensively. Paragraph 4.2.1 of the Development Brief considers
this issue further under the heading of “Phasing/Timing”:
“As the land is in multiple ownership it is possible the site will come forward in
a number of stages given there is more than one developer interest at this
point in time. Therefore there are likely to be a number of separate planning
applications. It is important that with each stage of development the necessary
amount of required infrastructure and open space is also provided in a timely
way to ensure that individual applications are conducive to the comprehensive
development of the site as a whole. It is crucial a holistic approach to delivery

43

Page 105

of the site allocation as a whole is adopted in order to ensure development is
fully integrated and the required infrastructure can be fully realised in the most
appropriate manner. The council considers the best way of ensuring this is
achieved is for a single planning application to be submitted covering the
whole site (outline stage); though aware this may not always be possible due
to separate multiple ownership and developer interests.”
5.22.

The latest version of the Housing Land Annual Position Statement (September
2020) confirms that the allocation remains “In multiple ownerships at present” and
“that all parts are available.” Beyond the red line of the current application the
indications are that the remainder of the allocation is divided between two principal
landowners (or groups of landowners): one controlling the field immediately east of
the properties in Stainbank Green (area 2 on Figure 1.3 in the Development Brief)
and the other controlling all of the area to the south (areas 4 and 5 on Figure 1.3 in
the Development Brief).

5.23.

Story Homes is progressing the current application for that part where it either has
exclusive control, or where it has served the requisite notices on other owners /
agricultural tenants as required by section 66 of Town and Country Planning Act
1990. The application form lists the details of the other owners / agricultural tenants
concerned.

5.24.

It is clear from the Development Brief that developing the allocation on a piecemeal
basis is not unacceptable in principle. The existence of the earlier appeal decision
is further evidence of that. The test will always be whether developing a particular
area in isolation compromises any of the key policy objectives for the allocation as a
whole. In this case, that issue will be addressed under each of the relevant
headings below.

Affordable housing
5.25.

Core Strategy policy CS6.3 (Provision of affordable housing) states that:
“On all schemes of nine or more dwellings in the Principal/Key Service
Centres […] no less than 35% of the total number of dwellings proposed [shall
be] affordable.”

44

Page 106

5.26.

The policy also acknowledges that:
“Exceptionally, a lower requirement for affordable housing will be acceptable
where there is clear evidence that it would make the development unviable.”

5.27.

In this case the applicant’s contend that there are exceptional circumstances which
make it impossible to deliver 35% affordable housing. Their consultants, Grasscroft
Development Solutions (GDS), have submitted two documents in support of their
case: (1) an initial Residential Viability Report dated November 2020; and (2) a
subsequent update submitted in May 2021. Both of these documents are available
to read in full online.

5.28.

Where an applicant considers that the provision of affordable housing would render
a development unviable then the Core Strategy clearly places the onus on them to
make the case. This is consistent with the government’s more general Planning
Practice Guidance on Viability, which states (in paragraph 008) that:
“Where a viability assessment is submitted to accompany a planning
application this should be based upon and refer back to the viability
assessment that informed the [development] plan; and the applicant should
provide evidence of what has changed since then.
“The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision
maker, having regard to all the circumstances in the case, including whether
the plan and viability evidence underpinning the plan is up to date, and site
circumstances including any changes since the plan was brought into force,
and the transparency of assumptions behind evidence submitted as part of
the viability assessment.”

5.29.

The viability assessment currently underpinning the council’s development plan is
the “South Lakeland Development Management Policies DPD and CIL Viability
Assessment” (“The Local Plan Viability Assessment”), produced by Aspinall Verdi
and published in September 2017. This is available online and is referred to on a
number of occasions in the following discussion.

5.30.

National Planning Guidance now sets out the government’s recommended
approach to viability assessment for planning. Paragraph 10 of the Guidance

45

Page 107

explains that this “supports accountability for communities by enabling them to
understand the key inputs to and outcomes of viability assessment.”
5.31.

In this case GDS viability assessment adheres to the approach set out in National
Planning Guidance, quantifying sales revenue and costs. And, as is usual in these
circumstances the applicant’s arguments have been subjected to independent
review; in this instance by Matt Messenger - Cumbria County Council’s Commercial
Development Lead (“CCC’s Valuer”). The November 2020 version of the applicant’s
assessment concluded that the development could not viably deliver any affordable
housing. However, following the review of the case by CCC’s Valuer, the applicant’s
May 2021 update now commits to providing 18 affordable units; 20.5% of the 88
units being provided in total. These are being offered as nine units for rent and nine
for intermediate tenure (5 shared ownership and 4 discounted sale), a mix which is
consistent with the expectations of the Council’s Strategic Housing Market
Assessment (SHMA)4 and is supported by the Council’s Principal Specialist People.
More details are provided in the Affordable Housing statement received 29 April
2021 (albeit that the intermediate tenure mix has subsequently been updated as
described above) and the Affordable Homes Layout drawing (40014.03.11,
Revision B) received 06 May 2021.

5.32.

GDS is very clear in its update that:
“Should the applicant be minded to deliver the mix of 18 affordable units
above, then in our professional opinion this represents an unviable proposition
in viability terms and a very generous commercial decision which has been
arrived at in spite of the scheme viability and is not supported by scheme
viability.”

5.33.

4

CCC’s Valuer considers that GDS’ updated appraisal puts forward a reasonable
case in the circumstances and he support its conclusions. The Council’s Principal
Specialist People concludes that “in general terms the mix is acceptable in helping
to meet need.”

South Lakeland District Council, Strategic Housing Market Assessment, Final Report, October 2017

46

Page 108

5.34.

What follows is a brief summary of the key inputs and conclusions to the viability
argument in this case.

Land value
5.35.

It is helpful in this case to begin with a discussion about land value and to tackle
head-on the notion that the scheme is only unviable because the developer has
paid (or offered) too much for the site.

5.36.

National Planning Guidance is clear that the actual price paid (or to be paid) for
land is largely irrelevant. In fact, as a warning to developers, the Guidance stresses
in several places that:
“Under no circumstances will the price paid for land be a relevant justification
for failing to accord with relevant policies in the plan.”

5.37.

In other words, the consideration of viability in the planning process is not a means
by which developers can attempt to obtain compensation for poor commercial
decisions.

5.38.

To address this concern, National Planning Guidance promotes the use of
benchmark land values (BLV). Paragraph 013 of the Guidance on viability states:
“To define land value for any viability assessment, a benchmark land value
should be established on the basis of the existing use value (EUV) of the land,
plus a premium for the landowner. The premium for the landowner should
reflect the minimum return at which it is considered a reasonable landowner
would be willing to sell their land. The premium should provide a reasonable
incentive, in comparison with other options available, for the landowner to sell
land for development while allowing a sufficient contribution to fully comply
with policy requirements. Landowners and site purchasers should consider
policy requirements when agreeing land transactions. This approach is often
called ‘existing use value plus’ (EUV+).”

5.39.

In this case the EUV+ has been calculated by, first, establishing the difference
between the EUV (calculated as open agricultural land) and the market value for
residential development (the allocated use), the latter determined through an

47

Page 109

assessment of recent land transactions for a number of comparable policycompliant housing sites. This produces a figure of £1,938,491, of which GDS
assigns £1,827,500 as the necessary incentive to the landowner. This is based
upon its professional experience of landowner return requirements.
5.40.

As a crosscheck GDS has considered the threshold land values in The Local Plan
Viability Assessment, estimates of the likely sales values for a range of uses in a
range of locations across the District. For residential development in Kendal this
was assumed to be £267,000 per net developable acre, which would equate to
£1,911,720 for the 7.16 (net developable) acres of the current application site - very
close to the EUV+ figure arrived at by GDS. Based upon this, GDS has rounded the
BLV in this case to £1.9m.

5.41.

CCC’s valuer does not query the methodology employed by GDS, although he does
feel that a EUV+ should be set at a maximum of £1,827,500 in this case, albeit
acknowledging that the “£72,500 differential between these two figures will not have
a notable impact on overall scheme viability, or the extent of the Applicant’s
potential planning contributions.”

5.42.

In general, for the development to be viable, the residual lane value (RLV), the
difference between the sales revenue from the 88 units and the costs of
construction (including the BLV together with the cost of any affordable housing,
CIL contributions etc.) must be a positive figure.

Sales revenue
5.43.

GDS now assumes that the total sales revenue for the project to be £27,382,823:
£25,785,000 from the sale of 70 open market units and £1,597,823 from the 18
affordable units. CCC’s valuer assumes a slightly higher return of £27,418,897.

Costs
5.44.

The updated GDS appraisal now estimates the total construction costs to be
£23,009,781. This includes: (a) the BLV (£1.9m); (b) build costs (£13,091,546),
professional fees (£1,165,385), (c) Community Infrastructure Levy (reduced on the
assumption of a nil contribution towards affordable housing) (£581,367); and (d) the

48

Page 110

cost of finance (£726,859). This leaves a profit on Gross Development Value of
15.97% (£4,373,042), towards the lower end of the 15 – 20% “considered a suitable
return to developers” in the National Planning Guidance.
5.45.

CCC’s valuer has the total construction costs slightly lower, at £22,457,793, which
deducted from his slightly increased expectations for sales value leaves a profit on
Gross Development Value of 18.09% (£4,961,104). This is slightly in excess of the
minimum “collar” of 18% he considers appropriate for a mixed scheme of this
nature.

5.46.

For policy-compliant schemes The Local Plan Viability Assessment establishes a
blended profit rate of 20% on private housing and 6% on affordable housing. That
would equate to £5,255,034 in this case, approximately £300K above what GDS
and CCC’s valuer have both calculated. CCC’s valuer addresses this point directly:
“ … it is my view that an on-site contribution of 20.5% affordable housing
would present a viability challenge to the Applicant. However, I am satisfied
that the required profit ‘flex’ of £300k against an assumed target profit level of
£5.26m, against total scheme costs of £22.46m, would be acceptable to most
developers. It is my view that this scheme is not viably capable of providing
more than 18 units of affordable housing and therefore the proposed [viability
offer] represents the maximum level on on-site affordable housing that can be
viably secured by the [local planning authority].”

Affordable housing – conclusions
5.47.

Core Strategy policy CS6.3 acknowledges that viability is a consideration in the
delivery of affordable housing. From an initial position of being unable to deliver any
affordable housing in this case the applicants have now updated their viability
appraisal to make an offer of 20.5% affordable housing (18 units), albeit making the
point that this “represents an unviable proposition in viability terms and a very
generous commercial decision.” The applicant’s appraisal has been independently
reviewed by CCC’s valuer who, whilst acknowledging that the resulting profit on
Gross Development Value is below that anticipated by The Local Plan Viability
Assessment, still considers that it represents a position acceptable to most

49

Page 111

developers. However, he is unequivocal that 18 units represents the maximum level
that can be viably achieved in this case.
5.48.

It is disappointing that this site is unable to deliver the 35% contribution of
affordable housing that we would ordinarily expect as a minimum. However, the
applicants have submitted clear evidence that a 35% contribution would make the
scheme unviable and this has been independently verified. The evidence supports
a reduced contribution 20.5%, which, in the circumstances, is policy-compliant.

Other matters
5.49.

Members will note from the response from the Council’s Principal Specialist People
that there is still the prospect of achieving 35% affordable housing provision on this
site, by means separate from the planning process. The applicant is discussing with
a Registered Provider the possibility of securing an additional 13 units with the
assistance of the Council’s affordable housing grant scheme. Grant is available to
assist Registered Providers in acquiring units where proven viability issues would
otherwise result in less than the 35% provision ordinarily expected as the minimum
expected by Core Strategy policy CS6.3.

Market Housing mix
5.50.

Policy CS6.2 of the Core Strategy expects:
“New developments offer a range of housing sizes and types, taking account
of the housing requirement of different groups of society, including the need to
deliver low cost market housing as part of the overall housing mix.”

5.51.

And paragraph 3.3.3 of the Development Brief is clear that:
“The Stainbank Green site will provide a mix of housing types, sizes and
tenures based on local evidence base (current at the time any proposal is
made) and viability considerations and subject to further discussions with the
District Council.”

5.52.

The current evidence base in this context is the SHMA, which summarises the
district-wide need for market housing (2016 – 2036) across key tenures as follows:

50

Page 112

Market Housing

5.53.

1-bed

2-bed

3-bed

4+ bed

0-5%

35-40%

40-45%

15-20%

However, the SHMA is clear at paragraph 9.35 that:
“Although the analysis has quantified this on the basis of the market modelling
and an understanding of the current housing market, it does not necessarily
follow that such prescriptive figures should be included in the plan making
process. The ‘market’ is to some degree a better judge of what is the most
appropriate profile of homes to deliver at any point in time, and demand can
change over time linked to macro-economic factors and local supply. The
figures can however be used as a monitoring tool to ensure that future
delivery is not unbalanced when compared with the likely requirements as
driven by demographic change in the area.”

5.54.

The proposed mix of market housing in the latest iteration of the applicant’s layout
breaks down as follows:
1-bed

2-bed

3-bed

4+ bed

Total

No.

0

7

25

38

70

%

0%

10%

36%

54%

100%

5.55.

This is clearly a very poor match to the expectations of the SHMA.

5.56.

The application is supported by a document entitled Housing Mix Review 5. (HMR)
This reiterates the point from paragraph 9.35 of the SHMA (quoted above) and then
presents two key arguments to justify the mix proposed in the application.

5.57.

First, the HMR presents an analysis of local market conditions (April 2021)
demonstrating what it considers to be a healthy supply of smaller units available for
purchase. Analyses of this sort can only ever represent a snapshot. However, when
compared against the profile of bedroom sizes across the District (presented in
Figure 3.20 of the SHMA), the April 2021 figures do indicate an above-average

5

Brigsteer Road, Kendal – Housing Mix Review, Story Homes, April 2021

51

Page 113

availability of one and two bedrooms units and a below-average availability of four
and five bedroom units, suggesting that the proposal is responding well to
prevailing market conditions.
Bedrooms

Units for sale %
(April 2021)

SLDC %
(2011 Census)

1

20

7.5

2

39

28

3

27

42.7

4

10

16.1

5

4

5.8

5.58.

Second, and linked to the first argument, the HMR makes the point that the offer of
affordable housing justified by the Residential Viability Report (discussed above) is
heavily dependent upon achieving a sales profile best matched to evidence of local
demand. And that would not be served by contriving a mix to more closely reflect
the figures in the SHMA.

5.59.

CCC’s valuer was asked to comment on these arguments and has offered the
following:
“ …with regard to housing mix I believe the representation made by the
Applicant to be robust. The 2017 SHMA is now becoming quite dated and it is
true that an increased level of smaller units within this scheme would affect
viability. For example the two bed unit type (Branford) has an agreed MV of
£260/ft2. The one bed flat type (Bedford) has an agreed MV of 250/ft2 (ground
floor flats) and £242/ft2 (first floor flats). By comparison the four bed unit types
have an agreed MV of between £269 and £271/ft 2. And the five bed unit
types have an agreed MV of between £267 and £269/ft 2. Consequently the
replacement of some of these larger units with smaller units would reduce
overall GDV and have an adverse impact on scheme viability.”

52

Page 114

Sustainable construction
5.60.

Many of the representations we have received draw attention to an apparent lack of
commitment to meeting the challenges of climate change in the design of the
proposed houses, particularly given the Council has declared a climate emergency.
There are references to a lack of flexibility in the house designs to take account of
future requirements for low carbon heating, and there is criticism of the lack of
references to matters such as increased energy efficiency, the use of ground
source heat pumps, rainwater harvesting, grey water recycling systems and the
inclusion of dedicated charging points for electric vehicles.

5.61.

Core Strategy policy CS8.7 (Sustainable construction, energy efficiency and
renewable energy) states that all new residential development and conversions will
be required to meet the Code for Sustainable Homes, which covers a range of
initiatives including: the use of low water volume fittings and grey water systems
and rainwater harvesting; orientation to maximise solar gain and high levels of
insulation.

5.62.

Policy CS8.7 is now out-of-date; the Code for Sustainable Homes was withdrawn in
2015 and replaced by optional Building Regulations standards relating to water
consumption, access and a new national space standard. These can only be
required by local planning authorities where they have gathered “evidence to
determine whether there is a need for additional standards in their area, and justify
setting appropriate policies in their Local Plans”6. To date, South Lakeland district
Council has only adopted a policy in respect of the optional Building Regulations
standards relating to access – DMDPD policy DM 11 (Accessible and adaptable
homes), discussed further below.

5.63.

The optional Building Regulations are in addition to their mandatory counterparts,
which continue to control the majority of other construction standards – including
Part F (ventilation) and Part L (conservation of fuel and power). The government

6

The Government’s Planning Practice Guidance on “Housing: optional technical standards” (paragraph 002)

53

Page 115

has recently commenced the second stage of a two-part consultation about
proposed changes to Parts F and L of the Building Regulations as part of its plan to
introduce the “The Future Homes Standard”, which the GOV.UK website
summarises as follows:
“The Future Homes Standard will require new build homes to be futureproofed with low carbon heating and world-leading levels of energy efficiency;
it will be introduced by 2025.”
5.64.

It is clear from this statement that, other than the limited matters covered by the
optional Building Regulations, the government is not intending to use the planning
system as the vehicle for delivering its targets for carbon reduction, insofar as they
are influenced by detailed house design. That is to be the role of the mandatory
Building Regulations and, in particular, The Future Homes Standard.

5.65.

Having said that, there are still areas where the local planning authority can
encourage appropriate interventions. Principle 9 in Policy DM2 (Achieving
Sustainable High Quality Design)of the DMDPD states:
“New development should incorporate measures that support and enhance
habitat creation and urban greening ensuring that provision reflects the local
biodiversity evidence base and reduces the factors contributing to, and
responds to the effects of climate change.”

5.66.

A footnote to the policy describes these as:
“ …measures that seek to reduce need to travel and provide for sustainable
transport, provide opportunities for renewable and low carbon energy
technologies, promote low carbon design approaches, promote water and
energy conservation, support management of waste in a sustainable manner,
manage and reduce risk of flooding, and provide multi-functional green
infrastructure.”

5.67.

The footnote cross refers to Appendix 1 in the DMDPD, which sets out a nonexhaustive list of seven “measures that should be considered.” The applicant’s
position on each of these is set out in a Sustainable Construction and Development

54

Page 116

Assessment received 29 April 2021. And each is discussed further under the
relevant heading(s) in other sections of this report.

Accessible and Adaptable Homes
5.68.

Policy DM11 of the DMDPD expects all new homes to meet the optional Building
Regulations Requirement M4(2): Category 2 – Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings
and, on schemes of over 40 dwellings, for 5% of the units to meet the Building
Regulations M4(3) wheelchair adaptable standards.

5.69.

All of the houses within the current application are proposed to be compliant with
Building Regulations Requirement M4(2): Category 2, and this can be made a
condition of any consent. However, none are proposed to be compliant with the
M4(3) standard; the applicants are arguing that the additional costs of delivering the
necessary enhancements will further impact upon scheme viability and adversely
affect the ability to deliver affordable housing.

5.70.

Policy DM11 acknowledges that delivering these standards comes at a cost. The
Evidence Paper7 produced to support the emerging policy states that the “additional
costs of constructing a 3 bedroomed semi-detached house to Level 3 (Adaptable)
would be £10,307.” Consequently, the adopted policy makes clear that an
exemption will be considered where “it would significantly harm the financial viability
of the scheme”. We already know from the applicant’s (independently reviewed)
Residential Viability Report (discussed above) that the scheme is unable to deliver
the 35% affordable housing ordinarily expected as the policy minimum and that,
furthermore, it can only achieve the 20.5% on offer with the developer accepting a
profit on Gross Development Value only slightly above the “collar” of 18%, identified
as the minimum by CCC’s valuer. On that basis it is evident that a typical additional
cost of £40,000 – 50,000 necessary to bring four or five units up to the M4(3)
standard is likely to result in the loss of an affordable unit.

7

Evidence Paper: Optional Housing Standards, SLDC, August 2017

55

Page 117

Impact on local services
5.71.

A number of the representations we have received question the ability of local
services to cope with the extra demand generated by the additional 88 dwellings
proposed in this application. To a large extent this was an issue considered and
resolved at the time that the Stainbank Green site was allocated, when through the
various stages of public consultation, and ultimately in the public examination
hearings into the soundness of the plan conducted by the Inspector appointed by
the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, no insurmountable
pressure on services was identified. Consequently, neither the LADPD policy, nor
the preamble, identify any specific service impacts that needs addressing. Further
public consultation on the Development Brief did not alter that position.

5.72.

The allocating policy is now over seven years old and consultation on the current
planning application has provided a further opportunity to review the position. And,
again, no insuperable difficulties have emerged. The local education authority has
confirmed that “There are currently sufficient places available in the catchment
primary school of Ghyllside to accommodate the primary school pupil yield of 19
from this development. There are also sufficient places available in the town's
secondary schools to accommodate the secondary school pupil yield of 13 from this
development.” And United Utilities has no raised no issues in respect of foul
drainage or water supply, other than alerting the developer to the potential lead-in
times for any works necessary to reinforce the water supply.

5.73.

The NHS has identified a potential impact on general practice in the town and is
suggesting that this could be mitigated in this case through a financial contribution
of £24,576 “Towards extension and reconfiguration at Captain French Surgery,
Station House Surgery & the James Cochrane Practice”. It has submitted a number
of similar letters seeking proportionate contributions from other housing schemes
around the District.

5.74.

Core Strategy policy CS9.2 (Developer contributions) identifies as valid the use of
planning obligations to secure financial contributions towards aspects of
social/community infrastructure, including health care facilities. However, policy
CS9.2 is now out of date; the District Council has been securing a Community

56

Page 118

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on all relevant development since June 2015 and financial
contributions towards new and/or improved health care should now be sought from
the proceeds of that. This is clear from the Council’s latest Infrastructure Funding
Statement8. The NHS has been advised of this position. Given the current housing
mix, and assuming an exemption for the proposed affordable units, this
development will be liable for a CIL contribution of £581,367.
5.75.

Impacts in respect of surface water and highways are dealt with under separate
headings in the report.

Flood risk
5.76.

The application site lies with Flood Zone 1, which is at the lowest risk of flooding by
rivers or the sea. This was a significant factor in allocating the site for development,
ensuring consistency with Core Strategy policy CS8.8 (Development and flood risk).

5.77.

Policy CS8.8 also acknowledges the risk of flooding from other sources, and in
particular surface water. The policy states that all new development will only be
permitted if it can be demonstrated that (amongst other things): it would not have a
significant impact on the capacity of an area to store floodwater; measures required
to manage any flood risk can be implemented; surface water is managed in a
sustainable way; and provision is made for the long term maintenance and
management of any flood protection and/or mitigation measures.

5.78.

This has been reinforced by DMDPD policy DM1 (General Requirements for all
development) which expects all new development to be provided with the
necessary infrastructure for dealing with surface water disposal.

5.79.

The stated purpose of DMDPD policy DM6 (Flood Risk Management and
Sustainable Drainage Systems) is “[t]o ensure existing and new development is not
exposed to flood risk and to prioritise the promotion of Sustainable Drainage
Systems.” To that end it states that:

8

Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/2020, South Lakeland outside the National Parks, December 2020

57

Page 119

“Development proposals should include the use of appropriate sustainable
drainage systems which are designed to control surface water run off close to
where it falls and mimic natural drainage systems as closely as possible.”
5.80.

Furthermore, the policy states that:
“Surface water should be managed at the source, with reduced transfer and
discharge elsewhere.”

5.81.

And, consistent with the government’s Planning Practice Guidance9, the policy
expects surface run off to be discharged as high up the following hierarchy of
drainage options as reasonably practicable:


into the ground (infiltration at source);



to a surface water body;



to a surface water sewer, or other suitable surface water drainage system;



to a combined sewer.

5.82.

It is an underlying principle in the various components of the District’s development
plan and in relevant government policy and guidance that development should not
increase flood risk elsewhere.

5.83.

In this case the application was supported by an initial Flood Risk Assessment
(FRA)10. This was updated11 in response to some early concerns from the lead local
flood authority (LLFA) and in the light of a specific piece of work to consider in more
detail the karstic limestone which underlies much of the site12. The LLFA now
accepts “the engineering judgement of the geologist that the site is suitable for the
proposed development” and that, following a number of infiltration tests “the site

9

Paragraph: 080 Reference ID: 7-080-20150323

10

Flood Risk Assessment & Outline Drainage Strategy, Brigsteer Road, Kendal, Report Ref. 881960-R1(03)FRA, RSK, October 2020
11 881960-R2(00)-FRA-Addendum, RSK, 23 March 2021
12 Infiltration and Karstic Features, e3p, 29 January 2021

58

Page 120

has extremely good infiltration rates in the sandy soil with occasional gravel that is
present.”
5.84.

To put the point about the stability of the bedrock into context, paragraph 178 of the
NPPF expects planning decisions to ensure that “a site is suitable for its proposed
use taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising from land instability”,
but paragraph 179 is clear that where “a site is affected by […] land stability issues,
responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or
landowner.

5.85.

Based upon the analysis of site conditions the proposed surface water drainage
strategy comprises three main elements: (1) roofs will drain to geocellular
soakaways; (2) driveways and shared parking areas will drain directly into the
ground via permeable paving; and (3) highways will drain via a network of swales
and SuDS basins. Highways in the northern part of the site will drain (via swales) to
the SuDS basin in the north-east corner of the site, which will then connect via a
new pipe along Brigsteer Road to an existing infiltration swale (on SLDC owned
land) east of Underwood. The interconnecting pipe in Brigsteer Road will be
installed as part of a s278 agreement with the County Council, an agreement which
will also be used to secure the extension of the 30mph speed limit and associated
‘gateway’/traffic calming feature referred to above. As part of these works it is also
the intention to install new gullies in the vicinity of the Brigsteer Road / Underwood
junction to relieve periodic surface water flooding in this area. Highways in the
southern part of the site will drain to the SuDS basin shown to the south-west of
Maple Drive. The proposals also include measures to intercept exceedance events;
those with a return period greater than the 1 in 100 years used as the baseline
design standard.

5.86.

The surface water system is not fully detailed at the moment, but the overall
strategy is sufficient to convince the LLFA that the development can be permitted.
Further details can be secured by a planning condition, which is normal practice.

59

Page 121

Foul drainage
5.87.

Where development is acceptable in all other respects, DMDPD policy DM1
(General Requirements for all development) expects the provision of the necessary
infrastructure, including foul water disposal.

5.88.

Some representations have queried the capacity of the existing foul network to
handle the additional loads from this development, but United Utilities has been
consulted and raises no objection in principle. It only asks that any permission
includes a condition requiring foul and surface water flows to be drained to separate
systems.

Highway access
Policy position
5.89.

Core Strategy policy CS10.2 (Transport impact of new development) expects
“Development will be designed to reduce the need to travel and to maximise the
use of sustainable forms of transport appropriate to its particular location”, an
objective which underpinned the overall development strategy for the District which
led to the current site being allocated for development.

5.90.

A significant number of the representations we have received challenge the
principle of developing this site on the basis that it is inappropriately located and will
inevitably increase traffic levels on the approach roads to the site, particularly those
to the east, which are already congested.

5.91.

It is important to appreciate that this issue was fully considered at the time the site
was put forward in the earliest draft of the Land Allocations DPD, and was
considered further in the subsequent public examination hearings. In his report on
the examination13 the Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for

13

Report on the Examination Into The South Lakeland Local Plan: Land Allocations Development Plan
Document, by Simon Berkeley BA MA MRTPI, an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for
Communities and Local Government, 14 November 2013

60

Page 122

Communities and Local Government drew the following conclusion (paragraph
162):
“Both the Stainbank Green and Underbarrow Road sites will increase traffic
levels eastwards into the town centre. This may cause some queuing from
time to time, particularly at the point where Underbarrow Road/Greenside and
Brigsteer Road meet. However, there is no compelling evidence to suggest
that this will be severe. In any event, the inconvenience caused to drivers by
congestion is not a strong reason to reject allocations seeking to meet the
need for housing.”
5.92.

There is an indirect reference here to the National Planning Policy Framework and
the now oft-quoted principle in paragraph 109 that:
“Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.”

5.93.

Having said that, the allocating policy still makes clear that as well as other core
strategy policy requirements, the development of Stainbank Green must make
provision for:
“ … submission and approval of a transport assessment and travel plan to
include provision of pedestrian and cycle links through the site to adjoining
residential areas and Brigsteer Road, providing a footway along Brigsteer
Road and retaining and enhancing existing rights of way.”

Main site access
5.94.

The preamble to Land Allocation DPD policy LA2.7 includes the statement that:
“The primary access to the site should be off Brigsteer Road.”

5.95.

However, the policy itself is not prescriptive about the point of access.

61

Page 123

5.96.

The Development Brief is more forthright. Under the heading “Vehicular Access into
and through the site”, section 3.5.3 includes the following statements:
“The main (sole) point of vehicular access for general traffic movements to
Stainbank Green will be taken from Brigsteer Road to the north of the site. A
secondary access is not required. An access off Brigsteer Road other than
from the NW point of the site (utilising the road/lane junction with Brigsteer
Road) as shown on figure 1.3 proposals map would result in harmful visual
impacts and result in detrimental landscape impact. The exact location and
detailed design of the access will be agreed with Cumbria County Council and
determined through the planning application. Careful consideration must be
given to existing access/egress arrangements at the road/lane junction with
Brigsteer Road.
“An emergency access should be provided from Cedar Grove. Cumbria
County Council specifies the driveway route should be a minimum of 3.7m
wide. The opening to such an access must be restricted with collapsible
bollards and a dropped crossing should be put in place prior to the opening,
however, it could be used as a segregated pedestrian/cycle route.”

5.97.

The Development Brief’s expectations were challenged by Story Homes in 2014
when they submitted an application for a first phase of development (34 dwellings)
with the main point of vehicular access taken directly from Brigsteer Road, in much
the same position as it appears in the current application. That application was
refused for reasons which included:
“The proposed location of the access road and associated engineering
operations required to provide appropriate gradients will result in the formation
of a large, prominent and dominating escarpment across the site. The rock
escarpment would create a feature with no local reference and adversely
affect the distinctive character of this sloping open window.”

5.98.

A number of the objections lodged in respect of the current application make similar
comments.

5.99.

Story Homes’ subsequent appeal against this decision was allowed, and given the
continuing sensitivities around this issue it is worth reproducing, in full, paragraphs

62

Page 124

18 – 26 from the Inspector’s decision letter of 15 February 2016, which consider
specifically the point of access and the associated embankment.
18.

“The proposed access would be an urbanising influence on Brigsteer Road
on the entrance to Kendal. It would require much of the frontage
embankment, together with the vegetation growing on it, to be removed in
order to provide visibility splays; and it would allow more open views into
the site when compared to the Council’s preferred location to the west.
However, an access from the west would itself not be without visual impact.
It would be clearly visible from Brigsteer Road when approaching the site
from that direction and would also permit open views into it, arguably from a
more sensitive direction. The desirability of creating a firmer landscaped
western edge to the development where it adjoins the countryside would
thereby be partly compromised. Moreover, the Council’s requirement for a
footpath to be extended along the whole of the site frontage up to the
access would also require removal of much of the present vegetated
embankment and introduce a more urban or suburban feel to this part of
the road.

19.

“A further disadvantage of the Council’s preferred access point is the fact
that it would require the access road for the overall development to run
eastwards into the site before turning south. Compared to the fairly direct
access presently proposed, it would be longer, and occupy more of the
flatter land suitable for housing, and thereby further limit the capacity of the
site.

20.

“I understand that in order to achieve an access from the western location it
would be necessary to pass over a small area of land with no registered
owner. However, I see no reason why that matter should not be resolved
and so this does not weigh strongly in favour of the proposed access.
Though the appeal proposal would increase the number of access points to
the main road, both would be acceptable from the point of view of highway
safety, and the Council does not oppose it on such grounds.

21.

“I conclude that access to the site, whether from the proposed position or
from that indicated in the adopted DB cannot be achieved without some

63

Page 125

visual impact. Each has its advantages and disadvantages but, subject to
my observations below concerning the “embankment”, I am satisfied that
what is proposed would be acceptable from the visual aspect. The Brief
does not constitute policy, and should be regarded solely as guidance.
Development that does not accord precisely with it is not necessarily
unacceptable.
“The ‘embankment’
22.

“The Council’s principal concern with the proposed access point relates to
the consequential need for a cutting to be made through the rising flank of
the site, through which the access road would run. On its upper (western)
side, this would create a rock feature variously described as an
embankment or an escarpment. The appellant’s intention is to excavate the
cutting by means of blasting, creating a rough rock feature some 108
metres in length and rising to a maximum of 6 metres. It would be
separated from the access road by a dry stone wall, some 1.2 metres high.

23.

“The Council considers that the embankment would be a large, visually
intrusive feature that would not reflect local character. At the Hearing it did
not seek to argue its case by reference to its impact on the National Park,
the wider landscape or long-distance views. It was not in dispute that, in
any views of the site obtainable from some distance away, it would
probably not be readily distinguishable from the remainder of the
development. The critical views identified were either from Brigsteer Road
or from within the site itself.

24.

“Within the site, the embankment would be clearly visible to users of the
access road and footways. The Council says that it does not form part of
the local character and would appear out of place. I disagree. On my site
visit I saw several examples of exposed stone, both in the rural area in the
vicinity of the site and in urban and suburban parts of Kendal. Freestanding dry stone walls are one of the defining features of the local
countryside, separating fields, and demarcating roads and properties. In
view of the often steeply-sloping topography, stone retaining walls are also
commonly seen, providing support for land and buildings. Moreover, the

64

Page 126

local stone is a very common building material. Some natural stone may be
seen in situ, either as the result of quarrying, or engineered, as in the case
of road cuttings or to provide a platform for buildings. In short, stone is
ubiquitous both in the rural and urban context.

5.100.

25.

“I acknowledge that the proposed embankment would be of a significant
scale, especially at its higher points. But, unlike, for example, the stone
block features seen in Briarwood, part of the existing development to the
east, I do not believe it would appear overly artificial. It would not have the
appearance of an engineered cutting, but would present a rough, fractured
surface, at an angle of about 45 degrees. The lower parts would be
screened by stone walling that would diminish the perception of bulk; and,
in time, the surface would become visually softened by natural weathering
and the ground cover planting that is proposed to be undertaken.

26.

“The embankment would be visible from Brigsteer Road, by those passing
in vehicles and by pedestrians. But its height close to the access would be
only around 2.2 metres, and the distance over which it would be visible
would be fairly short. In my view, it would not present an unacceptable
feature in the local street scene or the wider landscape.

The Inspector’s decision is not policy; in that regard it carries no more weight than
the Development Brief, which the Inspector himself correctly states “should be
regarded solely as guidance.” Nevertheless, his conclusions follow on from a
detailed analysis and unless we can demonstrate that circumstances have changed
significantly, and materially for the worse, in the interim then trying to pursue the
same arguments again would likely be regarded as vexatious if the matter ended up
an another appeal.

5.101. The physical impact of an access directly onto Brigsteer Road clearly has not
changed appreciably in the last five years. An access at this point would still be an
“urbanising influence on Brigsteer Road” and it would still “require much of the
frontage embankment, together with the vegetation growing on it, to be removed in
order to provide visibility splays”. Therefore, in this regard it would be very difficult
to put forward cogent arguments to challenge the Inspector’s original conclusions.

65

Page 127

5.102. The number of dwellings being served by the access has clearly changed; 34 in the
earlier proposal and 88 in the current scheme, with the clear intention of the estate
road being extended to serve the allocation as a whole – estimated to be 189
dwellings in total. But this has always been the expectation, and was explicit at the
time the Inspector made his decision in 2016. We still need to consider whether the
precise position of the access leads to appropriate standards of urban design in the
wider layout now proposed. This is discussed further below. But in terms of direct
impacts on Brigsteer Road, all that remains is to assess whether the geometry of
the access – junction radii, visibility splays etc. – meet the required standards in the
Cumbria Development Design Guide. And on the basis of the latest layout the local
highway authority has confirmed that they do.
5.103. The local highway authority’s support for this application is also subject to the
existing 30mph speed limit on Brigsteer Road being extended west of the new
estate road junction and for the speed transition to be marked by a ‘gateway’/traffic
calming feature. This repeats requirements imposed by the Inspector in his 2016
appeal decision. The 30mph speed limit currently starts just west of the junction
with Underbarrow Road.
5.104. These requirements will be progressed independently by the local highway
authority, using a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to extend the speed limit and
(probably) an agreement under section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to secure the
‘gateway’/traffic calming feature. A negatively worded (Grampian) planning
condition will be necessary to ensure that none of the approved houses are first
occupied until these essential off-site highway improvements have been completed.
This follows the approach taken by the Inspector in 2016.

Comprehensiveness
5.105. It is clearly critical that the development of any part of the Stainbank Green
allocation in isolation does not compromise vehicular access to the remainder of the
allocation and that, furthermore, it facilitates that access in a manner which delivers
as many other relevant requirements as possible. This is particularly significant in
this case given that the application site includes the sole vehicular access to the
site.

66

Page 128

5.106. The Land Use Proposals Map in the Development Brief (Figure 1.3) anticipates a
single main vehicular route through the site. This map is indicative, but the identified
route generally follows the site topography including a natural depression that runs
through the pinch point in the allocation west of Maple Drive. There are a number of
advantages in adhering to this section of the indicative route. Moving the road
further eastwards puts it on higher ground where it would have to traverse an
appreciable break of slope in its continuing journey southwards. This would involve
a more significant, and potentially unsightly, engineering operation and would also
intrude more significantly into the “central multi-functional green space” identified
indicatively by the Development Brief.
5.107. The substantive southern boundary of the current application site abuts the
northern end of the pinch point and in the original submission of this application it
was not clear that the layout supported an option that would allow an extension of
the main vehicular route through the natural low point to the west. The layout
appeared to prioritize the less desirable route to the east.
5.108. The latest layout has been amended to show that either option is now practicable
from an engineering perspective. The main vehicular route within the application
site now terminates at two stub ends adjoining the southern boundary, and the
applicants have supplied surveyed drawings 14 indicating how each of these could
be extended into the southern part of the allocation, adopting the relevant standards
in the Cumbria Design Guide. The local highway authority has confirmed that both
meet the necessary standards, although it favours the route to the west – following
the indicative line in the Development brief.
5.109. If the allocation was being developed comprehensively then we could insist that the
main vehicular route followed the favoured alignment to the west and redesign the
current layout to close off the route to the east. But, because this first phase is
coming forward in isolation, we still need to keep both options open. Less desirable
as the eastern connection is, it may be needed if the remaining sections of the
allocation come forward at different times. From that perspective, keeping options
open at this stage is sensible, but it does have consequences – particularly in

14

Drawing nos. 40014-510 and 40014-512 Revision A

67

Page 129

respect of urban design and recreation open space – discussed in subsequent
sections of this report.

Site accessibility
5.110. The Transport Assessment (TA)15 accompanying the application considers the
site’s accessibility via modes of transport other than the car.
5.111. For walking the TA draws on several sources of data which suggest that, typically,
when accessing local services and facilities, residents will find an 800m walk (10
minutes) comfortable, but can be expected to walk up to 2km as an alternative to a
short car journey. The TA also cites Department for Education (DfE) guidance,
which suggests that maximum walking distances for children to schools are 3.2km
for those children aged 8 and under and 4.8km for those older than 8. Table 3.5 in
the TA lists a range of local services and facilities, indicating that they all fall within
the maximum distances identified in the various studies. The TA asserts that the
appeal of walking from Stainbank Green will be increased by: (1) the proposed
footpath extension along Brigsteer Road from Underwood; and (2) the proposal to
improve the surface of footpath no. 536042 as an alternative connection to
Underwood – and bus service 46.
5.112. For cycling the TA cites 5km (25 minutes) as the “generally accepted [] distance
where cycling has the potential to replace short car journeys.”
5.113. Many of the representations we have received are critical of the way that these
standard assumptions have been applied in this case. They highlight the fact that
the site’s elevated position, including an 80m level difference with the town centre,
will reduce the appeal of walking and cycling, leading to a level of car usage above
what might be expected in less challenging circumstances. For this reason, many
consider that the site is ill-suited to development.
5.114. To some extent these arguments are academic, given that the site has already
been allocated for development. That is not to downplay the concerns; it will be

15

Proposed Residential Development, Brigsteer Road, Kendal, Transport Assessment, (Job Number 2245),
Croft, April 2021

68

Page 130

evident to anyone who has walked or cycled to this western edge of the town via
Beast Banks, for example, that any typical assumptions about access via modes of
transport other than the car are likely to represent an overestimate. Having said
that, for those not put off by the gradient, the relatively short distance to the full
range of Kendal’s services and facilities will still making walking and cycling an
attractive proposition, perhaps more so now given the advent of e-bikes. It is also
important to remember that, notwithstanding the challenging topography, Stainbank
Green along with a number of other allocations on the edge of the town are still
seen as more sustainable locations for growth than sites at a greater distance from
the town where realistic alternatives to car-borne journeys would be fewer or nonexistent.
5.115. Consistent with allocating policy LA2.7 the application is accompanied by a
Framework Travel Plan. The stated aims of this document are


To encourage resident and visitors to use alternatives to the private car;



To increase the awareness of the advantages and potential for travel by more
environmentally friendly modes; and



To introduce a package of management measures that will facilitate travel by
modes of transport other than the private car.

5.116. The intention is to achieve these using a standard methodology: appointing a travel
plan coordinator (usually a task for the developer); issuing an initial welcome travel
pack to all residents; undertaking baseline travel surveys within one month of the
development reaching 75% occupation; setting modal shift targets relative to the
baseline (and implementing appropriate measures to achieve them); undertaking
subsequent monitoring surveys; and, finally, producing a final travel plan to manage
the development going forward. Ensuring that these various phases are completed
will be covered by a planning condition.
5.117. The local highway authority has confirmed that the submitted travel plan is
acceptable. It has also confirmed that it expects to perform an associated regulatory
role, monitoring the implementation and management of the travel plan and
enforcing its terms – as it does with a number of other TAs operational in the

69

Page 131

District. This will be paid for by the developer and a figure of £6,600 has been
agreed in this case, to be secured through a section 106 agreement.
5.118. Travel plans have teeth; they can be used to impose financial penalties on
developers if agreed targets are missed. And penalties can then be used to fund
measures to increase the use of sustainable modes of transport. But, first and
foremost, travel plans are about changing habits; making people aware of, and
encouraging, more sustainable travel choices. And, more than at any other time in
the past, new travel plans will be implemented in the context of some significant
changes in national policy; not least the move towards phasing out petrol and diesel
vehicles. In recognition of this Story Homes has confirmed that “The scheme will
provide Electric Charging Points to all plots with garages which covers almost 50%
of the plots on site” – acknowledging one of the measures for consideration listed in
Appendix 1 to the DMDPD.

Emergency vehicle access
5.119. Although it is not explicit in the allocating policy for Stainbank Green itself, the
preamble (paragraph 3.29 of the Land Allocations DPD) is clear that “The primary
access to the site should be off Brigsteer Road”. This is also the expectation in the
Development Brief, and it remains the position of the local highway authority. The
Brief is explicit that “A secondary access is not required” (paragraph 3.5.3),
although it does make clear the requirement for “an emergency access only onto
Cedar Grove”. This is marked on Figure 1.3 in the Brief; the indicative Land Use
Proposals Map.
5.120. The piecemeal nature of the current application means that there is currently no
connection to Cedar Grove, which, on the face of it, denies residents of this first
phase an emergency vehicle access (EVA) should the need arise. To address this
the new pedestrian/cycle access proposed in the north-west corner of the site,
connecting to the junction of Brigsteer Road and the lane to Stainbank Green, has
also been designed to function as an EVA, guarded by demountable bollards. The
local highway authority has confirmed that it is content with this arrangement.

Wider network impacts

70

Page 132

5.121. A major issue highlighted in many of the representations we have received is the
existing congestion on the eastbound routes and junctions from the site towards the
town centre and the A6 heading south out of the town – a situation many already
regard as intolerable and likely to get much worse if these additional houses are
allowed.
5.122. The likely traffic impact of the current proposal is assessed in section 4 of the
applicant’s TA. It begins by establishing a baseline position, drawn from surveys of
(1) the Brigsteer Road/Underwood junction; and (2) the Brigsteer Road/Bankfield
Road junction (including East View), both undertaken in June 2018, and (3) the
Greenside/Bankfield Road junction, using data from the TA submitted in support of
the 2016 application by Oakmere Homes for 80 dwellings on the allocated site in
Underbarrow16. All of this survey information has been “growthed” to a common
2026 baseline using localised census data.
5.123. The increased traffic flows from the development itself have been calculated using
the TRICS17 database. TRICS is comprehensive database of traffic and multi-modal
transport surveys, covering a wide range of development types. It is widely used by
both transport planning consultants and local authorities to establish potential levels
of trip generation for proposed developments. It is widely regarded as an “industry
standard”.
5.124. In this case the TA has undertaken a filtered search of TRICS to establish a likely
trip generation for the current proposal based upon other residential developments
of a comparable size and character. This leads the TA to conclude that “the
proposed residential development is forecast to generate a total of 43 two‐way trips
in the Weekday AM peak hour and 45 two‐way trips during the PM peak period”
equivalent to “less than one additional two‐way trip per minute during even the
busiest periods of the day.”
5.125. Local representations query this conclusion, concerned that a TRICS query will
have underestimated the traffic flows in this case, given the constraints on walking
16

Application ref: SL/2016/0582, Erection of 80 dwellings, associated access, landscaping / bunding,
drainage, footpath / cycleway and foul pumping station and associated compound
17 Trip Rate Information Computer System database

71

Page 133

and cycling imposed by the local topography. This criticism has been put to the
local highway authority, but it maintains that:
“The trip generation is estimated from data collected from a range of sites with
similar characteristics to this site and the journeys assigned to those trips
distributed according to census data relating to the west side of Kendal. This
is in accordance with accepted methodology … “
5.126. The TA assumes, pragmatically, that the calculated trip generation will all be
channeled eastwards from the application site entrance. Following on from this
assumption the TA then assesses the impact of the entire modelled trip generation
rates on the road network east of the application site, concluding that for most
junctions the traffic generated by the development would have dissipated to
generate fewer than 30 two-way trips – generally regarded as the point below which
formal capacity assessments are unnecessary.
5.127. As an example, the TRICS modelling estimates 31 departures from the proposed
development in the AM peak hour and 30 arrivals to the proposed development in
the PM peak. Census data shows that from the Kendal West area 40% of vehicular
travel to work trips are to destinations likely to involve a southern route out of town.
That would equate to 12 trips from the proposed development during the AM peak.
The survey data shows 34 vehicles travelling down Brigsteer Road in the AM peak,
of which 9 made the turn into Underwood. Applying that split to the anticipated
development flows would see an additional 8 trips from the development using
Underwood in the AM peak.
5.128. The bulk of existing traffic flows along Brigsteer Road end up at the Brigsteer
Road/Bankfield Road junction. For robustness the TA assumes that all of the
proposed development flows will pass through this junction, resulting in two‐way trip
increases of 42 during the weekday AM peak and 44 during the weekday PM peak.
Given this level of potential impact the local highway authority has asked for
additional capacity studies for: (1) the proposed Brigsteer Road/site access
junction; (2) the Brigsteer Road/Bankfield Road junction; and (3) the
Bankfield/Greenside junction. These studies appear in the latest version of the TA
and have been undertaken using industry standard software (PICADY). The results
show that all three junctions will continue to operate within capacity during both

72

Page 134

peak periods at 2026. The local highway authority concurs with these conclusions,
accepting “the findings of no severe impact.”
5.129. All of this is not to say that the development will have no perceptible impact; it
simply means that the residual impact on the road network would not be “severe”,
which is the threshold established by paragraph 109 of the NPPF; the threshold we
would need to demonstrate had been crossed were this matter to end up at appeal.

Parking
5.130. DMDPD policy DM9 (Parking Provision, new and loss of car parks) expects all
developments to have acceptable levels of car, motorcycle and bicycle parking
having regard to relevant appropriate guidance, which is currently provided in the
Cumbria Development Design Guide.
5.131. The local highway authority has confirmed that acceptable standards have been
achieved in this case.

Public rights of way
5.132. Three public rights of way are affected by this proposal: (1) public footpath no.
536042, linking Underwood to Brigsteer Road; (2) public footpath 536043, which
connects from footpath no. 536042 to Stainbank Green through the tree belt that
crosses the northern end of the allocation; and (3) public footpath 536040 which
crosses the allocation between Stainbank Road and Stainbank Green.
5.133. DMDPD policy DM5 (Rights of Way and other routes providing pedestrian, cycle
and equestrian access) sates that new development affecting rights of way will be
permitted where it:


maintains and protects their character and function including their public visual
amenities, and prevents their loss or provides for a satisfactory diversion; and



ensures they remain safe, attractive and accessible to potential users.

5.134. Any closures and/or diversions of the affected rights of way would need separate
orders processed by the local highway authority.

73

Page 135

Public footpath no. 536042
5.135. This footpath is not directly affected by the proposals, although it is likely to become
more intensively used, particularly the direct connection to Underwood which will
provide residents of the new development with convenient access to the existing
bus service. The surface of this section of path is currently very rough, which,
combined with the gradient drop to Underwood would not make it easy to navigate
for workaday use. Therefore, the local highway authority is proposing to upgrade
this section using a contribution of £11,000 it has agreed with the applicants. This
money will be secured via a planning obligation.

Public footpath no. 536043
5.136. This is the public right of way most affected by the proposals. The route will be
crossed by the new estate road and, once the development is complete, it will be
framed by housing on both sides.
5.137. The nature of the Stainbank Green allocation makes a vehicular crossing of this
footpath almost inevitable. It is the Development Brief’s expectation that the
allocation as a whole is serviced by a single vehicular access from Brigsteer Road
and the local highway authority remains opposed to anything other than an
emergency vehicular access at the southern end of the allocation. The proposed
crossing point will be an interruption to users of this route, but it will be constructed
to the necessary safety standards.
5.138. The urbanisation of this route is another inevitable consequence of the site having
been allocated. And it is not an unusual occurrence. There are countless examples
nationwide of rural footpaths having been integrated into new development layouts.
What is unusual here is that, bar the new crossing point, the existing alignment and
tree-lined character is being preserved. Also, much of the proposed development
faces onto this footpath, which will be a more positive experience for users.

Public footpath 536040
5.139. This right of way lies to the south of the main part of the proposal; at this stage it will
only be directly affected by the line of the subterranean pipe connection to the

74

Page 136

southernmost of the two SuDS basins. It will eventually be directly affected by the
extension of the main estate road to serve (at least) the southern part of the
allocation and the impacts of this on footpath no. 536040 will vary according to what
route this takes. The two main options are introduced in the “Highway access” of
this report and discussed further under the “Recreation open space” section.
5.140. The westernmost option (shown on drawing no. 40014-510) has least impact; the
embankment necessary to carry the road at an adoptable gradient is relatively
shallow at the point where it crosses the right of way. The easternmost option
(shown on drawing no.40014-512 Revision A) has a much steeper embankment
where it crosses the right of way, which may require a diversion of the footpath to
achieve a comfortable gradient. But this will not be resolved unless and until an
application for this part of the allocation comes forward.
5.141. The uncertainty around this point stems from the fact that the proposals to develop
the allocation are not being brought forward comprehensively. Were they to be then
the impact on public footpath 536040 could be fully determined and assessed at
this stage. The fact that it cannot does not mean that a piecemeal approach to
development is unacceptable in principle; Members just need to be satisfied that
neither of the likely options explored in the submission presents any insuperable
difficulties. Officers are satisfied that they do not.

Green infrastructure framework
5.142. LADPD policy LA2.7 expects any development of the Stainbank Green allocation to
make provision for:
“a landscaping and green infrastructure framework with a particular emphasis
on mitigating the impact on views from the national park and integration with
the Vicarage Road green wedge”
5.143. The Vicarage Road green wedge refers to the interconnected areas of public open
space running east from the south-east corner of the allocation towards Vicarage
Park Primary School.
5.144. The Development Brief defines green infrastructure as

75

Page 137

“ … the term given to a network of multi-functional spaces that can enhance
existing and create new wildlife habitats, mitigate against or help adapt to
climate change and provide recreational and health and wellbeing benefits for
people. It is made up of a range of assets such as waterways, ponds, open
spaces, parks and gardens, play areas, footpaths, allotments, woodlands,
hedgerows, trees, playing fields, green roofs/walls and the wider countryside.”
5.145. The general disposition of these features insofar as they relate to the current
application site is shown on the submitted Landscape Structure Plan. Their
contribution towards an overall green infrastructure framework is discussed under
subsequent headings of this report.

Character
Policy position
5.146. Before considering the main policy considerations relating to the development of
the site it is important to stress that this site does not lie within any green belt as a
number of the representations have asserted. As has been made clear already, it is
an allocated development site lying within the development boundary of the town.
5.147. Core Strategy policy CS1.1 (Sustainable Development Principles) expects ”[…] high
quality, localised and appropriate design [to be] incorporated into all developments
to retain distinctive character/sense of place and enhance the existing built
environment.” It is a further requirement of Core Strategy policy CS8.10 (Design)
that development proposals should demonstrate that their location, scale, design
and materials will protect, conserve and, where possible, enhance (amongst other
things) the special qualities and local distinctiveness of the area, distinctive
settlement character and the setting of, and views into and from the National Parks.
The policy also expects proposals to be informed by, and be sympathetic to, the
distinctive character landscape types identified in a range of resources, including
the Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit.

76

Page 138

5.148. The objective of these policies has been strengthened in the latest version of the
NPPF which states at paragraph 124 (under the heading of “Achieving welldesigned places”) that:
“The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key
aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and
work and helps make development acceptable to communities.”
5.149. Subject to other policies in the development plan, DMDPD Policy DM1 (General
Requirements for all development) states that development will be acceptable
provided, amongst other things, it: (1) responds appropriately to the proposal site’s
locational context, local and settlement character and distinctiveness; (2) ensures
the protection and enhancement of the District’s natural, built and historic
environment qualities and its distinctive landscapes and townscapes, including their
public visual amenities through good design; and (3) ensures the protection,
conservation and enhancement of the special qualities and settings of the Lake
District National Park, including views into and out of this protected designated
landscape, by supporting proposals only where it is demonstrated through a
proportionate landscape assessment there would be no adverse effect upon their
landscape character and visual amenity.
5.150. Policy DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) supports development
provided certain design principles are met. These include ensuring that
development: (1) responds appropriately to local and settlement character and
reinforces and promotes local distinctiveness; and (2) responds appropriately to
local context, landscape and built and natural environment setting. It also states
that “[new] development should deliver variety, diversity and interest by […]
avoiding bland monotonous forms of development that promote little interest and
variety”.
5.151. The “Vision for Stainbank Green” set out in the Development Brief expects
development to:

77

Page 139

“Deliver a layout, mix and style of housing of a design that respond sensitively
to the site’s high quality landscape and edge of Kendal/open countryside
setting, green features and its proximity to the Lake District National Park.”
5.152. In introducing the section on design principles, the Development Brief states:
“The design of this new development at Stainbank Green will be of a high
quality that respects the site’s local context and character and neighbouring
uses as well as the site’s wider countryside rural setting. It will be of a distinct
character with a mix of design styles taking reference from local design
characteristics and opportunities presented by existing natural and other
features of the site to create individual character areas. A development of new
dwellings that all look the same, is not imaginative and innovative, does not
respond positively to its surroundings and local sensitivities, and/or that is
‘grey’ and monotonous in appearance (not in terms of colour) and a layout
that is car dominated will not be acceptable.”
5.153. To these ends the Development Brief divides the allocation into five distinct housing
character areas, intended to ensure that the design and layout of the development
responds positively to the local context and different site features creating interest
and difference in style. The extent of these areas is not precisely defined, but,
based upon the annotations in Figure 3.1 in the Development Brief, the bulk of the
current application coincides with two:
1 South of Brigsteer Road
3 West of Underwood / Northwest of Maple Drive
5.154. The southernmost of the two surface water drainage basins also extends into
Character Area 4 – West of Cedar Drive / Aldercroft.
5.155. The Brief‘s specific design and layout principles for each of these character areas
are discussed under the subsequent analyses of urban design and landscape
impact.

Urban design

78

Page 140

5.156. Beginning with a bird’s-eye view of the proposal, the layout adheres to the key
principles set out in Figure 3.1 of the Development Brief: it provides a main
vehicular route from Brigsteer Road (albeit connecting to Brigsteer Road in a
different position to that indicated, for reasons explained elsewhere in this report);
the main vehicular route is now fringed by a 3 metre wide planted verge to provide
a green corridor; the bulk of the tree belt aligned along footpath no. 536042 is
retained, breached only where it is necessary to bring through the main vehicular
route; a pedestrian/cycle link is provided on the north-west boundary (also
functioning as an emergency vehicle access), and open space is proposed to
coincide with the two key areas on Figure 3.1 – areas A and F.
5.157. The key deviation from Figure 3.1 is the absence of any additional pedestrian/cycle
links on the eastern boundary. Pedestrians wishing to make their way directly to
Underwood will need to follow the established route along footpath no. 536042
(which is to be subject to improvement works undertaken by the local highway
authority). Alternatively they will be able to walk along Brigsteer Road using the
proposed extension to the existing footway from the junction with Underwood, an
improvement regarded by the local highway authority as a prerequisite to the
development proceeding. Cyclists will be able to connect to Brigsteer Road via a
new 2.5m wide footpath/cyclepath proposed alongside the main vehicular route.
5.158. The extent to which the overall layout is car dominated is a moot point. Car
ownership remains a fact of life and every house within this development will need
vehicular access to the main highway network. There remains an expectation that
all forms of development are still provided with acceptable levels of parking in
accordance with current guidelines. That it is explicit in Core Strategy policy
(CS10.2 Transport impact of new development) and DMDPD policy DM9 (Parking
provision, new and loss of car parks). The extent to which this development
adheres to the relevant parking guidelines is discussed elsewhere in this report.
5.159. The Cumbria Design Guide establishes the relevant standards for residential
streets and the local highway authority has confirmed that the layout is compliant in
this case, thereby achieving the necessary safety requirements. And, as mentioned
above, the layout also facilitates non car-borne journeys through the provision of a
footpath/cyclepath proposed alongside the main vehicular route and proposed

79

Page 141

improvements to Brigsteer Road and the footpath link to Underwood where
residents will have access to existing bus services.
5.160. One of the key failings of residential estates built before the publication of
government guidance such as Manual for Streets was a tendency for housing to
back onto principal estate roads, presenting an unattractive and unyielding
boundary that came to epitomise car-dominated developments. Good practice,
including the Cumbria Design Guide, now discourages this approach, advocating
instead layouts where houses present active frontages to estate roads, as in the
current application. Not only is this inherently more attractive, it also tends to reduce
average traffic speeds.
5.161. Although cul-de-sacs are a common feature of established development to the east,
the Development Brief states (para. 3.5.7) that within the development of Stainbank
Green:
“Cul-de-sacs should normally be avoided in context of permeability unless
particular site conditions dictate that a cul-de-sac design is the most
appropriate way to develop the site. Additionally, the road layout should
incorporate loops wherever feasible to ensure that there is always more than
one route option in the event that a section of the main road/street becomes
blocked.”
5.162. As things stand, the proposed layout includes a number of cul-de-sacs and no
complete vehicular loop. This was almost inevitable in Character Area 1; its
relatively constrained nature places limits on what can be achieved within the
Cumbria Design Guide standards – evidenced by the layout approved on appeal in
2016.
5.163. For the most part, cul-de-sacs only feature in Character Area 3 in the current
submission because of the piecemeal nature of the development. The intention is
that all of them, bar the one immediately to the south of the tree belt aligned along
footpath no. 536042, will be constructed to the boundary of the current application
site, and to the appropriate standards to allow them to be extended to serve the
remainder of the allocation. This possibility was also explored for the cul-de-sac

80

Page 142

serving plots 80 – 88, but the engineering necessary would have compromised the
adjoining protected trees.
5.164. We know from further survey work and from the submitted Technical Note18 that all
of the cul-de-sacs and spurs are capable of being extended to the required
engineering standards. They presuppose a layout for the remainder of the
allocation, but there is nothing to suggest they would compromise future
development in a way that meant the remaining character areas couldn’t meet the
expectations of the Brief. The main drawbacks to this piecemeal approach are that:
(1) residents of the current phase will have to endure the inconveniences of an
incomplete layout until the remainder of the allocation comes forward; and (2)
potential complications for refuse vehicles. The application comes with a Swept
Path Analysis19 demonstrating that each of the cul-de-sacs is provided with a
turning head capable of accommodating a 26 tonne refuse vehicle, but these can
be blocked by parked cars. The Council’s Street Scene Team has made the point
that if its vehicles “cannot gain safe access, residents will be required to present
domestic waste and recycling at the road end.” In reality the situation being created
here is no different from many other locations in Kendal and beyond. And it tends to
be self-policing. Problems with refuse collection are an effective deterrent to
irresponsible parking.
5.165. The scheme employs 11 house types, a mix of detached, semi-detached and
terraced units, as well two blocks of apartments. External materials draw from a
relatively limited palette of render, natural stone and natural slate, typical of the
local vernacular. The individual designs also incorporate a range of other locally
distinctive features, including projecting gables, stone window surrounds and
projecting bay windows and porches. Overall, there is an important and attractive
harmony to the scheme, but with a sufficient mix of materials and design features to
lift it well above the “‘grey’ and monotonous” appearance decried by the
Development Brief.

18
19

Technical Note: Road Connection Options for Remainder of Allocation
Swept Path Analysis, 40014 - 515

81

Page 143

Character Area 1 - South of Brigsteer Road
5.166. This is the most self-contained of the character areas identified in the Development
Brief, situated at the northern end of the allocation between Brigsteer Road and the
tree belt aligned along footpath no. 536042. It coincides with the area granted full
planning permission on appeal in early 2016 (under reference SL/2014/1146).
5.167. The Brief expects development within this area to respond positively and sensitively
to the rural characteristics of the area, with development being set back from
Brigsteer Road and the lane to Stainbank Green. It also states that development on
the north-west and north-east edges should be of a scale and intensity that
respects the rural character of the area and the gateway entrance into Kendal, and
should respond to and respect neighbouring properties to the east and north in
terms of massing, height, scale and housing type, without necessarily being a
pastiche of them. There is also an expectation that buildings will, where possible,
front onto the tree belt aligned along footpath no. 536042 in order to maximise
levels of natural surveillance and help integrate this part of the site with the
remainder of Stainbank Green.
5.168. The current layout for this part of the site follows very closely the layout approved
on appeal in 2016. The key conflicts with the expectations of the Brief were
explored in detail at that time, particularly in respect of the position of the access
onto Brigsteer Road for the main vehicular route, the impact of the associated
embankment and the position and aspect of properties on the frontage to Brigsteer
Road. None of this issues were judged fatal. The Inspector’s main conclusions on
these points (paragraphs 18 – 26 of his decision letter) are reproduced in the
Highway Access section of this report. Every application has to be judged on its
merits, but given the self-contained nature of this part of the site, and the fact that
the more recently adopted DMDPD has introduced nothing to contradict the
Inspector’s earlier conclusions, rerunning these particular arguments is unlikely to
produce a different outcome if the matter ends up at another appeal.
5.169. The latest layout for this part of the site is subtly different from that approved in
2016. The number of units has increased from 34 to 36 and the area immediately
adjoining the north-west boundary of the site has been completely redesigned. The

82

Page 144

main manifestations of the increase in numbers are: (1) three units (plots 01 – 03)
instead of two fronting the private drive overlooking the open space in the northeast corner of the site; and (2) five units instead of four on the frontage with
Brigsteer Road. These changes have little appreciable impact on the character of
the scheme, established by, and brought forward from, the earlier permission. The
impact of plots 01 – 03 on existing properties to the east is discussed further under
the “Living conditions” heading of the report.
5.170. The rearrangement of units abutting the north-west boundary is intended to replace
a shared car park that featured in the earlier permission; acknowledged (but still
approved) by the Inspector as not “the most attractive part of the development close
to a sensitive boundary.” The revised layout places houses closer to this boundary
and is a more successful arrangement. The laudable desire to provide frontages to
both the new estate road and to the lane leading to Stainbank Green establishes an
inevitable tension in how best to orientate these units. Nevertheless, the final layout
strikes a reasonable balance and is a significant improvement on the position in
2016.

Character Area 3 - West of Underwood / Northwest of Maple Drive
5.171. The large part of the remainder of the current application coincides with Character
Area 3, currently an open area of grassland with a few interspersed patches of
vegetation that slopes gently from west to east. It is bounded to the north by the
tree belt aligned along footpath no. 536042, to the west by a natural stone wall and
to the east by the boundary with Underwood and a large protected tree belt,
referred to as London Wood on some maps. Character Area 3 tapers to a relatively
narrow point at the southern end, where there is a sharp break of slope dropping to
footpath no. 536040. The main boundary of the current application site runs across
the top of this break of slope.
5.172. Among the specific design and layout principles for this area the Brief expects:
retention of the established planting to the north and east boundaries; buildings to
front onto the tree belt aligned along footpath no. 536042; buildings to front onto the
central multi-functional green space – area C on Figure 3.1 in the Brief; and the

83

Page 145

provision of open space in a manner that provides a community focal point and
contributes to a wider green corridor network.
5.173. The submitted layout responds positively to these expectations. Plots 79 – 88 face
the tree belt that separates the two character areas and the latest iteration of the
layout now includes a planted verge along the main estate road connecting the tree
belt to the southern boundary via a central area of open space - area F on Figure
3.1 in the Brief. The houses surrounding this area of open space all face towards it,
meaning that it is attractively framed and well overlooked. The southernmost units
in the layout, apartments 56 – 59, did look directly towards the central multifunctional green space in the original submission, but have been re-orientated with
an east-west aspect in the latest layout, in order to provide adequate space for the
main estate road to extend into the remainder of the allocation if the preferred
option to the west is unavailable (see the further discussion on this point under the
“Highway Access” section of the report). That is another compromise resulting from
the piecemeal approach to the development. Had the preferred option to the west
been secured as part of a comprehensive scheme then apartments 56 – 59 could
have been retained in their original position, which presents a more attractive
solution.
5.174. The impact of the proposed SuDS basin on the character of the area is discussed
under the “Recreation open space” section of the report.

Safe and secure environment
5.175. DMDPD policy DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) expects
development proposals to create and maintain safe and secure environments
through designing out crime and designing in community safety by:


ensuring public and communal spaces, buildings, streets and paths are directly
overlooked through natural surveillance; and



ensuring there is clear and obvious demarcation between public and private
spaces utilising appropriate physical boundary treatments or landscaping
elements and ensuring buildings directly address streets and routes by avoiding
presentation of blank frontages or gables.

84

Page 146

5.176. The Crime Prevention Officer (CPO) has made a number of suggestions as to how
the layout might be improved, albeit acknowledging that the general approach of
having dwellings overlooking roads and other public spaces introduces high levels
of passive surveillance, which is always a positive when creating safe and secure
environments. The latest layout addresses a number of the CPO’s initial concerns,
particularly in the way that dwellings have been redesigned and re-orientated in the
north-west corner of the development to improve overlooking of the
pedestrian/cycle link connecting to the lane leading to Stainbank Green. The CPO
remains concerned about an apparent lack of commitment to certain building
security measures, but these are not a planning consideration – they will be dealt
with through compliance with the Building Regulations.
5.177. The CPO does have some continuing reservations in respect of the layout,
particularly the manner in which certain units back onto footpath no. 536042 and
the use of the footpath itself in the future.
5.178. The number of units backing onto, or presenting blank side elevations to, the public
footpath is limited. For the most part the layout has been arranged to make a
feature of the footpath, with front elevations looking directly towards it – increasing
passive surveillance in the process. The exceptions are plots 1 – 3, 20 – 24 and 37
– 41. There are sounds design reasons for this. Plots 1 – 3 and 20 – 24 are
orientated to present front elevations to key views in the northern part of the site,
replicating a principle established in the 2016 appeal decision. And plots 37 – 41
are part of a longer line of dwellings on the eastern boundary arranged to present a
key frontage to the main estate road.
5.179. The CPO makes that point that, as well limiting the opportunity for passive
surveillance, these dwellings may also be at increased risk of intrusion. He
recommends close-boarded fences 2.4m high along the rear boundaries to these
plots. The latest version of the Boundary Treatments Plan shows 1.8m high close
boarded fences.
5.180. There is a tension here. On the one hand the CPO is recommending high fences to
deter intrusion. But fences of that height also reduce natural surveillance, as well as
being visually overbearing. On balance, it is recommended that the proposals are
left unchanged in this regard.

85

Page 147

5.181. Going forward, the CPO is keen to ensure that the trees and shrubs along the
public right of way do not become overgrown, thereby obstructing views, and that
the route is included within any street lighting scheme.
5.182. There is a tension here too. The Landscape Structure Plan is showing a significant
amount of new planting along this footpath, to try and retain something of its
existing rural character. Ultimately this will be managed in accordance with
whatever provisions the developer puts in place (in accordance with the
recommended planning obligation), but with the expectation that, whilst the right of
way will remain unobstructed, the planting will otherwise retain a natural feel. And,
unless the local highway authority has a requirement to the contrary, it is not
envisaged that there will be any direct lighting of the footpath.

Wider landscape impact
5.183. Policy LA2.7 (Stainbank Green) of the Land Allocations DPD expects any
development of the site to make provision for, amongst other things:
“A landscape and green infrastructure framework with a particular emphasis
on mitigating the impact on views from the national park and integration with
the Vicarage Road green wedge.”
5.184. The piecemeal nature of the current proposal means that it has no direct connection
with the Vicarage Road green wedge, but consideration of the potential impact of
the development upon the setting of the Lake District National Park remains valid.
Having said that, the Development Brief acknowledges that “The northern and
eastern parts of the site [those areas included in the current application] are more
concealed in wider views due to intervening development, woodland and
topography”. This is self-evident on site, and is also illustrated in the Visual
Baseline analysis contained within the Landscape & Visual Appraisal20 that
supports the application.

20

Landscape & Visual Appraisal, Urban Green, October 2020

86

Page 148

5.185. The southern portion of the allocation, that part excluded from the current
application, is far more open. Paragraph 2.71 of the Development Brief describes
this area as:
“… less concealed than the remainder of the site and is especially prominent
in the local and wider landscape being conspicuous in view[s] from the A591
and higher ground to the west as well as in distant views from parts of Kendal
to the SE and East.”
5.186. Looking back from the gentle ascent of Scout Scar, the application site is screened
by a natural fold in the landscape and by extensive intervening landscaping. There
is no feature of the proposed layout that makes the impact of the development any
more severe than would have been evident at the time the site was allocated.
5.187. The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit identifies the whole of the
allocation as lying within Character Type 3a – Coastal Limestone. Open Farmland
and Pavements. The application site exhibits some of the characteristics associated
with this type ie strong field patterns demarcated by dry stone walls and pockets of
scrub and deciduous woodland. And within this Landscape Character Type the
Toolkit suggests that support should be given to the retention of tree cover and field
boundaries and that developments should respect traditional form.
5.188. The current proposal responds positively to all of these expectations. As explained
elsewhere in this report, tree loss is kept to the minimum necessary to deliver both
essential infrastructure and a layout that works with the topography of the site. And
the submitted Landscape Structure Plan, which sets out the broad principles for
future landscaping, shows a significant amount of new planting, which, in time, will
reinforce peripheral screening and provide strong, new green corridors. It is also
evident from the Boundary Treatments plan that many of the existing stone walls
that surround the current application site are to be retained.

Recreation open space
Policy position

87

Page 149

5.189. Between them, Core Strategy policies CS8.3a and CS8.3b establish accessibility
standards for the provision of open space, sport and recreation facilities. More
recently, DMDPD policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees
and Landscaping) now requires all new developments of over 10 dwellings to
provide new high quality on-site provision of open space as part of an overall green
and blue infrastructure provision. The open space must be of a type and size
appropriate to the site, its context and identified local needs.
5.190. Paragraph 2.14.3 of the Development Brief states that amongst the opportunities
offered by the site is the potential:
“ … to improve quality and amount of open space provision in the immediate
area particularly play provision providing benefits to the wider community
through enhancing informal recreation/leisure opportunities.”
5.191. The key opportunities identified by the Brief are set out indicatively on the Land-Use
Proposals Map (Figure 1.3 in the Brief). This shows a series of open spaces
interconnected by new and existing green corridors.

Assessment
5.192. The Stainbank Green allocation performs well against the Core Strategy standards,
which is one of the reasons why it has been identified as appropriate for residential
development. Being within the development boundary of Kendal will give future
residents relatively easy access to the town’s extensive range of parks, gardens
and formal recreational provision. Residents will also have easy access to the open
countryside.
5.193. The updated layout submitted with this application adheres closely to the open
space principles established for the relevant part of the allocation in the
Development Brief. The existing green corridor formed by the tree belt crossing the
site along the line of footpath no. 536043, is retained (save for where it is
necessarily breached by the route of the estate road) and a new green corridor is
created along the edge of the main estate road in the form of a 3m wide planted
verge. These corridors connect to the edges of the site and also to new areas of
open space within the site (consistent with DMDPD policy DM4) – notably in the

88

Page 150

north-east corner, coinciding with Area A on Figure 1.3 in the Brief, and north of plot
65, mirroring Area F on Figure 1.3.
5.194. The remaining opportunities identified in the Development Brief will only be realised
as applications for further sections of the allocation come forward. And, as with
other aspects of the scheme before us, Members need to be satisfied that dealing
with the current application on a piecemeal basis will not compromise any of the
key open space principles indicated illustratively in the Development Brief.
5.195. For the most part, this is not considered to be an issue. Further areas of open
space can be brought forward as components of later phases in exactly the same
way as Area A, B and F have been realised in the current phase. And they can
ultimately be interconnected by an extension of the green corridor already
established along the line of the main estate road in the current proposal.
5.196. There are, however, some aspects of the development where a piecemeal
approach does introduce complications.
5.197. Figure 1.3 in the Development Brief identifies the provision of a “central multifunctional green space” in Area C. Paragraphs 3.6.15 and 2.6.16 of the Brief define
the expectations for this area.
“A large multi-functional green space will be provided in the centre of the site.
It will function in part as a green corridor utilising the existing right of way that
traverses the central part of the site providing a pedestrian and where
possible/ appropriate cycle route between the lane/road serving existing
properties at Stainbank Green to Brigsteer Road and Stainbank Road. The
existing right of way will be retained in situ. This part of the site lies adjacent to
a small play area to the west of Maple Drive and there is an opportunity to
significantly enhance the current play offer in the area, by removing or
extending the play area with a better facility close to its current position. This
space will therefore also include an equipped play area suitable for a range of
ages making use of the natural topography set within an amenity space. [An
appendix to the Brief provides] further guidance on [the] type of play facility
that will be encouraged, in this case a Neighbourhood Play Area exclusion of

89

Page 151

a MUGA (Multi Use Games Area). It could include provision of benches/picnic
benches.
“The design and positioning of the main road linking the proposed housing to
the north and south of this green space will need to be considered carefully to
ensure the integrity, attractiveness and safety of the space and its multifunctional use is not lost. Pedestrians and cyclists will be able to cross the
road safely and easily.”
5.198. The illustrative extent of Area C is largely outside of the current application site,
although the red line does extend cross Area C to include the drainage connection
to the southernmost of the two highway SuDS basins proposed in the application.
The SuDS basin itself is shown immediately to the south of Area C.
5.199. There is no reason why either the SuDS basin or its connection should compromise
the aspirations for the multi-functional green space. The connection will be
underground and it is now widely acknowledged that surface level SuDS features
can contribute positively to a green infrastructure framework. They are not, as is
sometimes portrayed, sterile permanent water bodies. They will fill with water during
rainfall events of a certain return period, but otherwise remain either damp or dry,
offering significant biodiversity benefits, which, in this case, could add considerable
value to the multi-functional aspirations for Area C. Ideally that added value would
have been explored as part of a detailed scheme for the wider area of open space
anticipated for this area, most of which is outside of the current application site. And
that is a downside to the piecemeal approach of dealing with the current proposal in
isolation. But, with a condition to ensure that the construction, landscaping and
management of this particular SuDS basin optimise the potential biodiversity
benefits then there is no reason why this feature should not become a design
anchor for the multi-functional green space when the detailed planning for the
southern section of the allocation begins.
5.200. Of more significance is the likely future route of the main estate road as it extends
into the southern section of the allocation. Figure 1.3 in the Development Brief
indicates an illustrative route towards the western boundary of the allocation where
it would not only follow a natural depression in the topography, limiting its visual

90

Page 152

impact, but would also maximise the available area for the anticipated Central multifunctional green space.
5.201. The current application proposes two points from which the main estate road might
be continued to serve the southern part of the allocation: one in the south-west
corner that could be extended to follow the alignment indicated in the Development
Brief and another further east offering a more direct route. Story Homes has
provided a Technical Note demonstrating that both connection points could be
extended to meet the standards laid down in the Cumbria Design Guide, a position
confirmed by the local highway authority. Both connections are also being offered
with adopted carriageways to the boundary of Story Homes’ ownership, ruling out
the prospect of a ransom strip.
5.202. As thing stand the (preferred) western route could only be achieved if the owners of
the remaining parts of the allocation worked collaboratively. If this is not possible
and the owner(s) of the southern section (areas 4 and 5 on Figure 1.3 in the
Development Brief) bring forward an application in isolation then only the
easternmost of Story Homes’ connection points would be available. And, as is
evident from the plans in the Technical Note, that would consume more of the area
identified (illustratively) for the Central multi-functional green space. It would also
make the crossing route for footpath no. 536040 more challenging. This is
discussed further under the “Public rights of way” heading of this report.
5.203. If, taking these matters into account, Members are of the view that delivering the
illustrative route in the Development Brief for the main estate road is a prerequisite
to realising an acceptable scheme then they may conclude that this is best
achieved by refusing the current application as piecemeal, thereby putting pressure
on all of the landowners involved to work collaboratively towards that objective – not
that such an approach comes with any guarantee of success.
5.204. It is not the recommendation of this report that the application is refused for that
reason; it would not be a strong position to defend on appeal. To repeat the point
made at the beginning of this report (and by the Inspector in the 2016 appeal
decision), the Development Brief is not policy; it is merely guidance. And whilst the
principle of achieving a central multi-functional green space is sound, the location
and extent identified on Figure 1.3 are clearly illustrative – and something akin to

91

Page 153

what is shown could still be achieved even if the main estate road eventually follows
the easternmost of the two options. The uncertainty associated with this piecemeal
approach is regrettable, but is a matter judged to carry relatively little weight in the
overall planning balance.
5.205. Finally on this point is the issue of funding. The expectations raised by the Brief
mean that the central multi-functional green space is likely to be disproportionately
expensive to establish relative to other areas of open space to be provided. This
was acknowledged in the 2016 appeal decision when a planning obligation was
concluded to secure a financial contribution of £15,000 towards: (i) “improvements
to the open space and recreation/play space provision within the main allocated
Stainbank Green Site”, or (ii) in the event that the remainder of the allocation was
not completed by the end of 2023, as a contribution towards “the provision of open
space and recreation/play space within the Collinfield Open Space” – part of the
Vicarage Road green wedge referred to in the Development Brief.
5.206. The £15,000 was calculated using the standards established by Core Strategy
policy CS8.3b (Quantity of open space, sport and recreation) and was judged by
the Inspector as compliant with the relevant test in the Community Infrastructure
Levy Regulations 2010. Extrapolating from that figure to take into account the
number of dwellings now proposed (increased from 34 to 88) and the impacts of
inflation this particular contribution has now been increased to £44,625. This has
been agreed with Story Homes. Given the continuing delay in delivering the
allocation as a whole it is recommended that the fallback of using the contribution to
fund the provision of facilities in the Vicarage Road green wedge be postponed until
the end of 2030.
5.207. It is proposed that the timing of the provision of the areas of open space within the
current application site and arrangements for their future management are covered
by planning conditions / obligations.

92

Page 154

Living conditions
5.208. There are a number of existing properties surrounding this site, with the occupants
of some having expressed concern about the potential for an adverse impact upon
their living conditions.
5.209. DMDPD policy DM1 (General Requirements for all development) establishes that,
subject to other policies within the development plan, development will be
acceptable provided that, amongst other things, it:
“ensures the delivery of acceptable levels of amenity, privacy and
overshadowing for existing, neighbouring and future users and occupants
through:


provision of adequate spatial separation distances between existing and
proposed properties and buildings; and



retention and/or provision of adequate public, private and shared spaces
and landscaping”

5.210. The DMDPD does not define appropriate spatial separation distances; these remain
to be determined on a case-by-case basis, having regard to established local
character and site-specific circumstances, including, as is relevant in this case,
changes in ground levels. However, in terms of privacy, there are various “rules-ofthumb” that can be used as a starting point. For example, it is not uncommon to see
20m or 21m cited as the minimum desirable separation distance between
elevations containing windows to habitable rooms facing each other cross private
gardens. Which, by extension, reduces to 10 or 10.5m where windows to habitable
rooms are facing blank elevations.
5.211. The impact on daylight and sunlight is generally assessed using Building Research
Establishment (BRE) guidance21, which, as a starting point, holds that suitable
standards for habitable rooms are achieved when a 25 degree vertical angle

Building Research Establishment (BRE) guide ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: a good
practice guide, 2nd Edition’
21

93

Page 155

projected perpendicularly from the centre of the lowest windows is kept
unobstructed.
5.212. The flowing analyses use survey data for existing properties shown on two
topographical drawings22. For the most part this survey data has recorded the
eaves and ride heights of existing properties; finished floor levels have then been
extrapolated using typical storey heights. Visual inspection confirms these
extrapolations to be reasonable assumptions.

Impacts within the development
5.213. The relationships between the 88 units within the proposed development achieve
appropriate standards in the context of DMDPD policy DM1.

Impacts with existing development
Eastern boundary
5.214. An appreciable area of open space is proposed in the north-east corner of the
application site. Nos. 1 and 2 Ghyll Brow will face directly onto this, across an
intervening access track, which also carries public footpath no. 536042. No
significant changes are proposed within this area of the site; a SuDS feature is to
be constructed as part of the highway surface water drainage system, and
additional planting is proposed. None of this will have a significant impact on the
Ghyll Brow properties.
5.215. To the south of this open space, directly to the north of the tree belt that frames
public footpath no. 536043, the development includes three detached, two-storey
houses (plots 01 – 03), served from a private shared access drive. Plot 01 comes
closest to existing properties, sitting directly to the rear of 3 Briarwood, a split-level
bungalow positioned approximately 33m to the east. It has more oblique
relationships with 4 Briarwood and 14 Underwood at slightly greater distances.

22

Topographical Land Survey, Sheet 1 of 2, SH.TS.07, Revision A & Topographical Land Survey, Sheet 2 of
2, SH.TS.07, Revision A

94

Page 156

5.216. The generous separation distance belies a more challenging relationship, resulting
from the dramatic change in levels across the site boundary. Taking 3 Briarwood as
the property most directly affected, and representative of the typical cross-boundary
relationship with proposed plot 01, a topographical survey shows it to have a rear
finished floor level of 109.90m AOD and eaves and ridge levels of 112.15m AOD
and 114.72m AOD respectively. This compares to a finished floor level for plot 01 of
118.30m AOD. This is illustrated on the submitted Site Section E-E23.
5.217. The detached Cranford house type proposed for plot 01 presents a gable end to its
existing neighbours, featuring only a WC window at ground floor, so overlooking will
not be an issue. But, as section E-E illustrates, the roof of plot 01 will bisect a line
projected at 25 degrees from the rear ground floor level of 3 Briarwood, indicating
the potential for loss of daylight and/or sunlight. However, in reality, the existing
view westwards from 3 Briarwood is already dominated by a large protected
sycamore (identified as T15 in the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment)
and, in that context, the modest additional impact from proposed plot 01 will be
negligible.
5.218. To the south of footpath no. 536042 the proposed layout presents a run of 23
properties (plots 37 – 59) fronting the new estate road, all with their rear elevations
looking towards the eastern boundary of the application site, with properties in
Underwood and Maple Drive beyond. The existing levels underpinning the
proposed line of properties are fairly constant, generally lying between the 115m
AOD and 120m AOD contours. The rear gardens of the existing properties to the
east generally follow the 110m AOD contour.
5.219. The finished floor levels of the proposed houses rise and fall with the existing
topography, and range between 119.450m AOD and 120.500m AOD, albeit they
are all placed a sufficient height above existing ground levels to accommodate
relevant technical constraints, key among them being the need to achieve level
access consistent with the requirements of Building Regulations Requirement
M4(2): Category 2 (in accordance with DMDPD policy DM11). A number of

23

Drawing BRS-SS-001E Revision A

95

Page 157

additional sections have been provided to illustrate further relationships with
existing properties along this boundary.
5.220. Section B-B24 shows the relationship between the pair of semi-detached, twostorey, Fulflord house types on plots 37 and 38 (both with a finished floor level of
120.150m AOD) and 23 Underwood, an existing split level bungalow with an eaves
level of 111.070m AOD and a ridge level of 113.180m AOD. Plots 37 and 38 look
directly towards the rear of 23 Underwood. They also look only slightly more
obliquely towards the rear of 15 Underwood (the property immediately to the north
of no. 23), which has an eaves level of 110.700m AOD and a ridge level of
112.810m AOD.
5.221. The minimum separation distance between plots 37/38 and 23 Underwood is
approximately 43m, more than twice the 20/21m often regarded as the rule-ofthumb minimum in such circumstances. But, once again, the situation here is
complicated by the dramatic change in levels; section B-B shows a difference in
floor levels between the existing and proposed properties in excess of 11m.
However, the 25 degree line is not bisected in this case, a reasonable indication
that loss of daylight and/or sunlight will not be an issue, and any increased potential
for overlooking resulting from the relative height difference will be mitigated by
existing and proposed planting. There is a large protected sycamore to the rear of
23 Underwood sycamore (identified as T61 in the submitted Arboricultural Impact
Assessment) and the submitted Landscape Structure Plan indicates a wide area of
new planting (a native shrub buffer) across the intervening break of slope.
5.222. Section G-G25 shows the relationship between the semi-detached pair of twostorey Branford house types on plots 39 and 40 (each with a finished floor level of
120.150m AOD) and 24 Underwood with an eaves level of 110.920m AOD and a
ridge level of 112.800m AOD. The two properties face each obliquely at a shortest
separation distance of approximately 43.5m.

24
25

BRS-SS-001B, Revision A
BRS-SS-001G

96

Page 158

5.223. The section shows a 25 degree line projected from the (assumed) ground level of
24 Underwood bisected by the roof of the new buildings, but given: (a) the relatively
generous separation distance; (b) the oblique nature of the relationship; (c) the fact
that the proposed roof is raking back above the line of the bisection; (d) the
screening effect of intervening planting (protected tree groups G62, G63 and G65 in
the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment) and proposed new planting, there
is unlikely to be a significant impact upon either the daylight, sunlight or privacy of
the existing property.
5.224. Section C-C26 also deals with 24 Underwood, this time showing the relationship
with the detached, two-storey, Stanford house type on plot 41, proposed with a
finished floor level of 119.850m AOD. The relationship is similar to that with the pair
of semi-detached units on plots 39 and 40, albeit that the separation distance is
greater (approximately 48.5m) and overlooking is more oblique. As with the
proposed units on plots 39 and 40, the relationship with the unit on plot 41 is
unlikely to lead to a significant impact upon either the daylight, sunlight or privacy of
the existing property.
5.225. Section H-H27 also considers the proposed Stanford house type on plot 41, this time
examining the relationship with 25 Underwood , a detached property surveyed with
an eaves level of 110.48m AOD and a ridge level of 112.56m AOD. The two
properties face each obliquely at a shortest separation distance of approximately
48m.
5.226. In this case the section shows no part of the proposed building bisecting a 25
degree line projected from the (assumed) ground level of 25 Underwood. This,
together with: (a) the relatively generous separation distance; (b) the oblique nature
of the relationship; and (c) the screening effect of protected tree groups G62, G63
and G65, plus proposed new planting, means that there is unlikely to be a
significant impact upon either the daylight, sunlight or privacy of the existing
property.

26
27

BRS-SS-001C, Revision A
BRS-SS-001H

97

Page 159

5.227. Moving further south along the eastern boundary, section D-D28 shows the
relationship between the detached two-storey Cranford house type proposed on
plot 43, shown with a finished floor level of 119.750m AOD, and 31 Underwood, an
existing two-storey property with principal eaves and ridge levels of 112.49m AOD
and 114.35m AOD respectively. The separation distance is shown to be in excess
of 40m. In common with other areas along this boundary, there are a significant
number of protected trees running along the boundary.
5.228. The section itself shows the 25 degree line extending well above the proposed
property. This, together with: (a) the relatively generous separation distance; (b) the
screening effect of protected tree group G67, plus new planting, means that there is
unlikely to be a significant impact upon either the daylight, sunlight or privacy of the
existing property.
5.229. There are no further sections along this boundary, but the relationships with the
remaining properties in Underwood are comparable to that shown on section D-D.
And by the time the application site boundary gets level with the rear of properties
in Maple Drive the intervening planting (in London Wood) provides a dense screen.
That will remain the case even with the proposed tree surgery described under the
“Impact on trees” section of this report.

Stainbank Green
5.230. We have no survey information for the existing properties in Stainbank Green, but it
is evident from a visual inspection of site levels together with an assessment of: (a)
the orientation of the proposed dwellings; (b) the generous separation distances (in
excess of 60m); and (c) the screening benefits of intervening planting, that there is
unlikely to be a significant impact upon either the daylight, sunlight or privacy of the
existing property.

28

BRS-SS-001D, Revision A

98

Page 160

Biodiversity
5.231. The strategic objectives of the Core Strategy include:
“Ensuring that new development safeguards and enhances the natural and
built environment, [and]
“[Increasing] the resilience of ecosystem services (the processes by which the
environment produces resources utilised by humans) by protecting against
harm to biodiversity and taking opportunities to enhance and create
ecologically-diverse habitats in all locations.”

International designations
5.232. Policy CS2 (Kendal Strategy) states that, amongst other things, [the] Council and its
partners aim to:
“Ensure that new development safeguards and enhances the natural
environment and local biodiversity – notably the SSSIs and SACs within the
area, including the River Kent and its tributaries – and opportunities are taken
to create new habitats.”
5.233. Policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) includes a statement that:
“Development proposals that would have a direct or indirect adverse effect on
nationally, subregional, regional and local designated sites and non-protected
sites that are considered to have geological and biodiversity value, will not be
permitted unless:


They cannot be located on alternative sites that would cause less or no
harm;



The benefits of the development clearly outweigh the impacts on the
features of the site and the wider network of natural habitats; and



Prevention, mitigation and compensation measures are provided.”

99

Page 161

5.234. In this case we have been advised by Natural England that the proposal could have
potential impacts on the nearby Scout and Cunswick Scars Site of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI). The SSSI is part of the Morecambe Bay Pavements Special Area of
Conservation (SAC). The area is already a popular recreational destination and
Natural England is concerned that additional housing at Stainbank Green could add
to that popularity, thereby increasing the potential impacts on the special features
and management of the SSSI/SAC through such things as disturbance of stock,
trampling of plant species and eutrophication from increased use by dog walkers.
5.235. Stainbank Green also lies within 1km of The River Kent Special Area of
Conservation (SAC), designated for its aquatic fauna, and particularly white-clawed
crayfish and fresh water pearl mussel. The River Kent is also an SSSI.
5.236. Special Areas of Conservation are so-called “European Site” for purposes of The
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (“the 2017 Regulations”).
South Lakeland District Council (SLDC) is termed a “competent authority” for the
purposes of the 2017 Regulations, meaning that in situations where it intends to
permit a project with potential effects on a “European Site”, either alone or in
combination with other plans or projects, further consideration of those effects is
necessary. This can require SLDC to undertake a Habitat Regulations Assessment
(HRA) where, as in this case, Natural England recommends one is necessary.
5.237. A HRA involves four stages.


Stage 1 involves screening to determine if the development is likely to have a
significant effect on a European site whether a full Appropriate Assessment (AA)
is required;



If required, Stage 2 involves undertaking an AA to determine whether the project
will adversely affect the integrity of any given European site(s), in view of their
conservation objectives. Conservation objectives specify the overall target for a
site’s qualifying features (habitats and species/populations listed in Annex I and
II of the 2017 Regulations) in order for that feature to be maintained or restored,
to reach favourable conservation status.

100

Page 162



Stage 3 is triggered if significant adverse effects are identified in stage 2. This
stage requires alternative options to be examined to avoid significant impacts on
European sites.



If it is deemed that the project should proceed for Imperative Reasons of
Overriding Public Interest (IROPI), Stage 4 involves an assessment of
compensatory measures which would be required.

5.238. In any situation where a planning application has the potential for effects on a
European Site the applicant is under an obligation to provide the information
necessary to inform the HRA. In this case the applicants have liaised directly with
Natural England, first producing a screening report29 in January 2021 and then an
Appropriate Assessment30 (AA) in March 2021. The AA concludes that any potential
impacts on The River Kent SAC, and by extension the SSSI, can be mitigated by
the production of, and adherence to, a Construction Environmental Management
Plan (CEMP). This would set out enforceable measures to ensure that any pollution
generated during the construction phase does not find a pathway to the River Kent
or its tributaries. It is standard practice to require a CEMP in such circumstances
and it can be secured via a planning condition.
5.239. The AA recognises that the potential impacts on the Scout and Cunswick Scars
SAC, and by the extension the SSSI, are, as Natural England identified in its
original consultation response, all associated with increased public access.
Consequently, by way of mitigation the AA recommends: (1) that all new properties
are provided with a home owner pack informing residents of the special qualities of
the SAC and how to protect them (this can be secured via a planning condition);
and (2) the provision and implementation (at the developer’s cost) of a scheme for
the delivery of signage and information boards and the provision of dog waste bins
in the main parking areas serving Scout and Cunswick Scars SSSI. This will need
to be secured via a planning obligation.

29
30

Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening Report, Urban Green, January 2021
Habitat Regulations Assessment (Appropriate Assessment), Urban Green, 31 March 2021

101

Page 163

5.240. With these mitigation measures in place the AA concludes that the development will
have no adverse impact on the either The River Kent SAC or the Scout and
Cunswick Scars SAC. Natural England accepts this conclusion and, consequently,
it is recommended that the analysis and conclusions of the applicant’s Habitat
Regulations Assessment (Appropriate Assessment) are adopted as meeting the
local planning authority’s obligations under the 2017 Regulations in this case and
that any permission includes: (a) a conditions requiring a CEMP; (b) a condition
requiring the provision of a home owner’s pack to each of the 88 new dwellings;
and (c) a planning obligation to secure a scheme for the provision and
implementation of signage, information boards and dog waste bins.

Meadow saxifrage
5.241. Allocating policy LA2.7 states that, amongst other things, the development must
make provision for:
“The undertaking of a detailed ecological survey to determine the extent of
meadow saxifrage within the north east corner of the site and [implementing]
acceptable mitigation measures to ensure the development as a whole
enhances this habitat.”
5.242. The north-east corner of the site is identified as a potential area of “natural open
space” on the indicative Land Use Proposal Map in the Development Brief (Figure
1.3), partly in recognition of the fact that it “includes pastureland of value for
Meadow Saxifrage.”
5.243. The site has now been surveyed for meadow saxifrage by ecologists acting for the
applicants on four separate occasions: July 2014 (to inform what became the 2016
planning permission, granted on appeal); June 2018, September 2020 and April
2021. The species was not found in any of these surveys and in their latest update
(April 2021) the applicant’s ecologists conclude that the flower “is not present on
site.” Nevertheless, the north-east corner of the site is to be kept largely free of
development in the current proposals; it is to remain as open space as it was in the
2016 planning permission. And the scheme for site-wide biodiversity improvements
(included as a condition of the recommendation) could even be used to encourage
the species into this area.

102

Page 164

Biodiversity net gain
5.244. DMDPD policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and
Landscaping) states that all development proposals:
“ …should, unless it can be demonstrated that it is not possible, result in
environmental net gains for biodiversity, green and blue infrastructure and
demonstrate how the use of multifunctional green and blue infrastructure will
deliver wider requirements and objectives.”
5.245. This reflects advice in paragraph 170 of the NPPF. And it also anticipates
forthcoming legislation. The Environment Bill is proposing a statutory obligation to
achieve biodiversity gain as a condition of planning permission.
5.246. In this case Natural England has recommended that the development should
achieve a biodiversity net gain of 10%, ideally on-site, calculated using DEFRA
Biodiversity Metric 2.0. The DEFRA Metric provides a way of measuring and
accounting for biodiversity losses and gains resulting from development and is
widely expected to become the industry standard if and when the requirements of
the Environment Bill pass into law. However, it has no statutory weight at the
moment. Furthermore, whilst it is understandable that Natural England might want
to quantify a specific net gain in this case, there is no statutory or policy justification
for the 10% figure it has put forward.
5.247. The applicant’s ecologists have presented the biodiversity net gain calculation for
this development in a Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment31. This adheres to current
best practice by using Metric 2.0. And by comparing the various site habitats preand post-development, taking into account the proposals in the submitted
Landscape Structure Plan32, it calculates a 15.32% loss of area habitats and a
66.68% gain in linear habitats resulting from new hedge planting.

31
32

Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment, Urban Green, January 2021
Landscape Structure Plan, 6219.01, Revision F

103

Page 165

5.248. The significant reduction in area habitats is mainly accounted for by the loss of
semi-improved grassland, which covers the majority of the site. In fact it covers so
much of the site that even achieving biodiversity parity would be unrealistic given
the policy expectations for housing delivery. Core Strategy policy CS6.6 (Making
effective and efficient use of land and buildings) expects “an average density of at
least 30 dwellings per hectare for all housing”, with even higher densities in more
sustainable locations, including “in or adjoining Kendal.” Policy CS6.6
acknowledges that densities may need to be lower where there are environmental
constraints and, reflecting this, the indicative density expectations for Stainbank
Green are significantly less than the average – 17.5 dwellings per hectare (189
dwellings on 10.8 hectares). The density of the current application is slightly higher
at 20 dwellings per hectare (88 dwellings on 4.4 hectares), although still well below
the Core Strategy’s average figure. But, even if at this reduced density, most of the
semi-improved grassland is lost.
5.249. The applicant’s argument could rest there. They have proposed a density of
development that meets a reasonable expectation for a major allocated site,
demonstrating in the process that it is not possible in this case to achieve a net gain
in biodiversity (in terms of area habitats). This is regrettable, but it is a policycompliant position. Nevertheless, the applicants recognise that this would be an
unpalatable conclusion and have looked at the potential for achieving a biodiversity
net gain through off-site compensation. They are under no policy obligation to do
this, but have pursued it anyway. And the result is an agreement with Cumbria
Wildlife Trust to make a financial contribution of £20,800 towards establishing 1.1
hectares (8.41 habitat units) of species rich wet and acidic pasture on former
agricultural land on the south side of Foulshaw Moss Nature Reserve and
maintaining this area for a 30 year period. If this is secured via a planning
obligation then it results in the development achieving a biodiversity net gain of
5.02%.
5.250. The developers have also committed to “Further species-specific enhancements
including bird and bat boxes and hedgehog highways [to] be specified within an
Ecological Strategy document […]”. Measures such as this do not feature in the
Metric 2.0 calculation, but can still make a valuable contribution to biodiversity

104

Page 166

gains. This is also encouraged by Natural England. It is proposed to secure these
additional measures through a condition.

Other ecological issues
5.251. The northern part of the site was subject to an Ecological Assessment in 201833
and the whole of the current application site was subject to an Ecological Walkover
in October 202034. An Ecological Update provided in April 202135 confirms that the
2018 and 2020 documents are to be treated as Phase 1 Habitat Surveys, having
been completed in accordance with the relevant guidance.
5.252. Phase 1 Habitat Surveys, sometimes referred to as Preliminary Ecological
Appraisals, comprise basic field surveys and analyses to establish an ecological
bassline against which qualified ecologists can identify, amongst other things, the
occurrence or likely occurrence, protected or notable species that might require
further investigation. In the case the ecologists have concluded that no further
surveys are required.
5.253. Some of the representations we have received are critical of the submitted
information, highlighting the fact that the species lists are incomplete when
compared to local knowledge. That is not unexpected. Phase 1 Habitat Surveys are
only ever snapshots; they are never intended to be comprehensive, detailed
surveys picking up every species. But they identify enough to allow qualified
ecologists to draw reasonable conclusions. It is also important to appreciate that
Phase 1 Habitat Surveys do not absolve a developer from the separate
responsibilities imposed by other legislation such as the Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981 for example.

Impact on trees
5.254. The application site is fringed and crossed by a significant number of trees, most of
which are protected by Tree Preservation Order (TPO) No. 264 2014. Of particular
33

Ecological Assessment, Urban Green, December 2018
Ecological Walkover, Urban Green, October 2020
35 Ecological update, Urban Green, 22 April 2021
34

105

Page 167

significance are the woodland belts running along the eastern boundary of the site
and aligned along footpath no. 536042.
5.255. DMDPD policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and
Landscaping) states:
“New development should positively incorporate new, and protect and
enhance existing trees unless there are clear and demonstrable reasons why
their removal would aid delivery of a better development overall.”
5.256. And policy LA2.7 of the Allocations DPD, which allocates Stainbank Green for
housing, expects any development to, amongst other things, make provision for the
“retention of tees and hedgerows”.
5.257. The application is supported by two key documents in respect of trees; (1) an
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA)36; and (2) Arboricultural Method Statement
(AMS). The former assesses the number and quality of trees to be affected by the
development, either through felling or necessary remedial works, and the latter puts
forward measures to protect those trees shown for retention.
5.258. There are three key areas of impact on trees; (1) along the frontage of the site with
Brigsteer Road, where a significant number of trees (not covered by the TPO) are
to be removed to create the new site access, associated visibility splays and the
new footpath connection to the junction with Underwood; (2) through the central
tree belt (aligned along footpath no. 536042) where a number of protected trees are
to be removed at the point where the main estate road links between the two main
areas of the site; and (3) along the eastern edge where a number of unprotected
freestanding specimens, together with a few protected specimens located directly
on the boundary, are shown for removal to facilitate the proposed layout. The Tree
Works Schedule in the AIA lists a total of 117 trees to be lost; a handful for
arboricultural management purposes (some are dead), but the majority “to facilitate
development”. A further 19 trees are to be pruned, again “to facilitate
development”.

36

Arboricultural Impact Assessment, Brigsteer Road Phase 1 and 2, Urban Green, October 2020, Revision 05

106

Page 168

5.259. The AIA puts every tree on the site into a tree retention category, conforming to the
best practice established in the British Standard: "Trees in Relation to Design,
Demolition and Construction to Construction - Recommendations" (BS 5837)
(2012). The British Standard details the steps that should be taken to ensure that
trees are appropriately and successfully retained when a development takes place.
Appendix 3 of the AIA provides more details of the four broad categories, but, in
essence, they are: (A) trees of high quality with an estimated life expectancy of at
least 40 years; (B) trees of moderate quality with an estimated life expectancy of at
least 20 years; (C) trees of low quality with an estimated life expectancy of at least
10 years, or young trees with a stem diameter below 150mm; and (U) trees of very
low quality that offer little or no amenity value. Of the 117 trees shown for removal,
seven are category A, eight are category B, 99 are category C and three are
category U. The Council’s arboriculturist concurs with this assessment.

Direct impacts
5.260. Much of the proposed tree loss is an unavoidable consequence of the site having
been allocated for development. The main site access onto Brigsteer Road will
involve the felling of unprotected trees wherever it is positioned. That loss might be
reduced if the access is positioned as indicated indicatively on Figure 1.3 in the
Development Brief, but, as explained under the “Highway access” section of this
report, that argument failed in consideration of the allowed appeal in 2016 and
nothing substantive has changed in the interim to suggest a different decision if we
attempted to challenge the point again.
5.261. The Brief’s expectation that the allocation as a whole is serviced by a single
vehicular access from Brigsteer Road also requires the main estate road to breach
the central protected tree belt at some point; the local highway authority remains
opposed to anything other than an emergency vehicular access at the southern end
of the allocation.
5.262. The location chosen for that crossing point in the current application involves the
removal of 16 protected trees: six category B specimens (ash and sycamore) and
10 category C specimens (a mix of ash, sycamore and hawthorn). Tree loss is
always regrettable, but the majority of those shown for removal at this point have

107

Page 169

been classified as trees of low quality (category C) and three of the category B
trees are ash, which are already vulnerable to the ash dieback fungus. The
Woodland Trust expects 80% of ash trees across the UK will eventually be killed by
this disease.
5.263. Figure 1.3 in the Brief indicates the main estate road crossing the central tree belt
at almost precisely the position it is now proposed. Significantly, it was also
effectively fixed in the same position by the layout approved in the 2016 appeal
decision. The situation was not challenged at that time, either by us or the
Inspector.
5.264. That part of the current application site south of footpath no. 536042 was not
covered by the 2016 planning approval; this is the first time that development for
this area has been proposed. It has a different character; unlike the northern part of
the site it features a scattering of 22 standalone trees, which it would be impractical
to retain. None are protected by the TPO; all bar four (in Groups G74 and G79) are
category C; and all are shown for removal. There are, however, five protected trees
shown for removal from two mixed groups of species adjoining the eastern
boundary, all from category A. These are required to be removed because of the
extent of engineering works required to accommodate the gabion structures on the
boundary, necessary to deal with the change of levels.
5.265. The Council arboriculturist’s overall assessment of the direct impacts of the
proposals is that provided the development is carried out in full accordance with the
AIA and AMS, the impact of the on retained trees can be minimised.
5.266. Ensuring that those trees shown for retention are protected during the course of
development is the job of the measures set out in the Arboricultural Method
Statement. It is proposed that these are enforced through a planning condition.

Indirect impacts
5.267. As well as the direct impacts of the development process itself, we also need to
give consideration to the pressure from any resulting indirect impacts. The vast
majority of the trees within and adjoining the application site are to be retained and
they will be a striking (and attractive) feature if and when this development

108

Page 170

proceeds. Many of the houses will be in close proximity to retained trees, and for
some this will mean that their gardens will be in shadow for appreciable parts of the
day. This is not uncommon; there are existing properties in Underwood and Maple
Drive for example where the belt of protected trees along the eastern boundary of
the application site is a similarly dominant feature.
5.268. Just because many of the retained trees are protected by a TPO is no guarantee of
their longevity. Anyone who feels that a protected tree is imposing unreasonably on
their standards of amenity can make an application (to the local planning authority)
for that tree to be pruned, or even felled. And they would ultimately have a right of
appeal to the Secretary of State if that application is refused. So we need to be sure
that the relationships being established at the outset are not creating insuperable
problems for the future.
5.269. The AIA proposes a scheme of surgery at the outset, in order to trim back the
crown of 19 trees. Tree surgery is likely to be a recurring event going forward, even
for specimens not subject to works at this early stage. Again, there is nothing
unusual about this; applications for routine arboricultural management in such
circumstances are commonplace.
5.270. For the most part the Council’s arboriculturist is content that the combination of
fellings and tree surgery proposed at this stage will establish reasonable living
conditions upon first occupation of the development; his only reservation is in
respect of plots 20 – 24 in the north-west corner of the site where trees overhanging
south-facing gardens could be a particular focus for pressure.
5.271. We have explored ways in which the houses on these plots might be moved further
north. But, this cannot be achieved (whilst maintaining the overall number of units
within the scheme) without compromising the improvements to the layout adjoining
the Stainbank Green access (relative to the 2016 appeal decision), discussed under
the “Character” heading of the report. Committee could take the view that the
number of units should therefore be reduced, and refuse the application as things
stand. But that would not be a strong argument to pursue. The 2016 appeal
decision was based on a similar arrangement of units for this part of the site (albeit
with slightly deeper back gardens) and, in any event, the Council’s arboriculturist

109

Page 171

does not consider that his reservations amount to a justifiable reason for refusal; he
feels that the relationship being created in this part of the site remains manageable.
5.272. Amendments to the layout to keep open a range of options for vehicular access to
the remainder of the allocation have resulted in the four apartments at the southern
end of the site (units 56 – 59) being turned through 90 degrees to back onto London
Wood. Concern has been expressed in the representations that this will inevitably
lead to the damage of tree roots.
5.273. The closest trees to this block are a protected group of mixed species – identified
as G76 in the AIA. The south-east corner of the proposed apartment block just clips
the edge of the identified root protection area (RPA), and in order to safeguard the
trees during the course of development the AIA proposes ground protection and
supervised root pruning within the RPA.
5.274. In acknowledgment of the longer term impacts on the amenity of the apartments the
AIA proposes that the six trees in group G756 which overhang the boundary are
pruned to “obtain 6m ground clearance” and have their canopies reduced by 2m to
the north-west. If the development is approved this form of management is likely to
be a regular occurrence going forward. The Council’s arboriculturist is satisfied that
this relationship is acceptable and manageable in the long-term.

Replacement planting
5.275. The prospect of replacement planting is rarely sound justification on its own for
removing healthy, mature trees. As many of the representations have pointed out, it
will be many years before new trees will grow to deliver the current benefits of those
that are being removed. But where, as in this case, trees are being necessarily
removed to facilitate the development of an allocated site, new trees can establish a
continuity of tree cover for the future.
5.276. The application is supported by a Landscape Structure Plan37, which establishes
the broad principles for the landscaping of the new development. The fine details of
37

Landscape Structure Plan, 6219.01, Revision F

110

Page 172

this will be resolved through compliance with a condition, but the information
submitted so far confirms that new planting will combine a rich mix of new trees,
hedges and shrubs, offering some mitigation for the necessary tree loss associated
with bringing the development forward, but also providing a sound basis for a
continuity of tree cover well into the future. 143 new trees are proposed, all
comprising “heavy standards” (not whips) for immediate impact. There will be
concentrations of trees within the two main areas of open space, but, crucially,
trees will also be planted along streets to provide wildlife corridors. Of particular
significance will be the 3m wide planted verge along the main estate road, creating
the green corridor referred to in the Development Brief. Contrary to one of the
criticisms levelled in the representations we have received, this will not be
“ornamental”; the main corridor will comprise field maple (Acer campestre), a native
UK species, recognised for its wildlife value.

Archaeology
5.277. The application site does not contain any designated archaeological heritage assets
(Schedule Monuments). Nor does it contain any archaeological features appearing
on a list of non-designated heritage assets of local significance – often referred to
as a “local list”. It is, however, recognised as lying within an area of archaeological
potential.
5.278. The Historic Environment Officer at Cumbria County Council summarises the
current position as follows:
“Our records indicate that the site lies in an area of archaeological potential. It
is located between a Romano-British farmstead investigated at Lumbley Road
and a probable prehistoric burial found on a development site north of
Brigsteer Road. The course of a Roman Road is said to cross the proposed
development site and earthworks remains of an enclosure are also recorded
as surviving on the southern part of the site. The date of the enclosure is
unknown, but it predates the existing 18th century field boundaries.”
5.279. A number of the representations we have received highlight the archaeological
potential of the site. Many draw attention to the historic significance of the public

111

Page 173

right of way (footpath no. 536043) that crosses the site between Underwood and
Stainbank Green through the woodland belt. Reference is also made to the
presumed line of a Roman road which runs to the west of the application site.

Policy position
5.280. Core strategy policy CS2 (Kendal Strategy) states that the Council and its partners
aim to, amongst other things:
“Ensure greenfield development is sympathetic to the landscape character of
Kendal and to the historic character and setting of Kendal and may also need
to address archaeological impacts.”
5.281. Policy CS8.6 (Historic environment) makes clear that the Core Strategy supports:
“The safeguarding and, where possible enhancement of, locally important
archaeological sites and features within the historic environment.”
5.282. DMDPD policy DM3 (Historic Environment) states that:
“Any proposals that affect a non-designated archaeological asset (whether
known or on sites where there are reasonable grounds for the potential of
unknown assets) will be determined according to its significance and the level
of harm that would result from the proposal.
“The level of information required to support an application will be
proportionate to its significance and the scale of the proposal’s impact. Where
necessary to enable an application to be determined, a desk-based
archaeological assessment and/or a field evaluation should be provided.”
5.283. This is also the position in the Development Brief where paragraph 2.10.1 expects
“any forthcoming planning application [to] include an archaeological desk-based
assessment and evaluation, in this instance a geophysical survey”
5.284. To further reinforce this approach, paragraph 189 of the NPPF states:
“Where a site on which development is proposed includes, or has the potential
to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning

112

Page 174

authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based
assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.”

Assessment
5.285. As required for developments with this level of archaeological sensitivity, the
application is accompanied by an archaeological desk-based assessment38.
5.286. This concludes that the site:
“… has a low potential for any remains of high archaeological significance.
Therefore, the proposed development would not result in the loss of any
significant archaeological remains.
“Construction of the proposed development would remove any archaeological
remains which may be present.
“This assessment has determined the likely significance of any buried remains
within the site, which would be low, and the scale of the effect to their
significance, which would be their removal by the construction of the proposed
development […]. On this basis, no further information is considered
necessary to inform a planning application for the proposed development
regarding archaeological maters.
“A geophysical survey has been undertaken on the three northern fields
(Archaeological Services Durham University 2014). No features of probable
archaeological significance were identified.
“Although the archaeological potential of the site has been assessed to be
low, a possible enclosure of unknown date in the south of the site39 would
suggest that some level of additional archaeological work will be required.

38

Land South of Brigsteer Road, Kendal, Archaeological Desk Based Assessment, Orion Heritage Ltd.,
February 2020.
39 HER Record 2083 in Figure 2 in Orion’s Archaeological Desk Based Assessment

113

Page 175

This, in the first instance, would take the form of a geophysical survey on the
remainder of the site not previously subjected to such a survey.
“It is suggested that any further archaeological work can be undertaken as a
condition of consent of any application.“
5.287. The County Council’s Historic Environment Officer concurs with this view,
recommending that:
“[…] in the event planning permission is granted, the southern area of the site
(which has not been subject to earlier planning applications and where no
archaeological work has been undertaken to date) is subject to archaeological
investigation and recording in advance of development. I advise that this work
should be commissioned and undertaken at the expense of the developer and
can be secured through the inclusion of a condition in any planning consent.”
5.288. He then recommends a condition requiring the implementation of a programme of
archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation.
5.289. The scope of the further archaeological work can be extended to include the direct
impacts of the proposed development on the footpath 536043, where it is crossed
by the new estate road.

Pollution
5.290. DMDPD policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water
Quality) states:
“Development will be permitted, where the direct, indirect and cumulative
effects of pollution (including, but not restricted to air, noise, light, dust, odour,
smoke, fumes, gases, steam, smell, vibration and water) will not have a
negative impact on health, the environment (including wildlife and tranquility)
and general amenity of existing or future occupiers and users or any sensitive
receptor.”

Noise

114

Page 176

5.291. The application is accompanied by a Noise Assessment Report undertaken in
accordance with: (1) BS8233:2014 Guidance on sound insulation and noise
reduction for buildings: and (2) the Professional Practice Guidance document on
Planning and Noise (ProPG). The Assessment concludes that:
“On the basis of the measured ambient sound pressure levels, an initial site
noise risk assessment indicates that the proposed development site is Low
Risk.
“Standard double glazing and traditional building envelope constructions will
provide sufficient sound insulation for habitable rooms [and] Appropriate
daytime sound levels are anticipated for garden areas.”
5.292. The Council’s Public Protection Team finds “the report, calculations and findings to
be reliable” and has a requested a condition requiring a noise validation report,
demonstrating compliance with the noise criteria detailed in the assessment.

Blasting
5.293. Some concern has been expressed about the potential impacts of blasting at
nearby Kendal Fell Quarry, situated approximately 500m north-west of the northern
boundary of the application site. The quarry spans the boundary of the Lake District
National Park and is subject to two longstanding permissions from 1997, one
relating to that part of the quarry within the National Park40 (administered by the
Lake District National Park Authority) and another for the remainder41 (administered
by Cumbria County Council). For the last five years or so the owners of the quarry
have resumed the extraction of a limited amount of stone (from that part of the
quarry within the National Park) to meet demand from local housebuilders. This has
involved periodic blasting.
5.294. The impacts of blasting are governed by measures submitted in compliance with a
number of conditions on the relevant permission, specifically: noise monitoring
measures submitted in compliance with condition 17; a ground vibration limit set in

40
41

Planning permission reference 7/97/5183
Planning permission reference 5/97/9005

115

Page 177

compliance with condition 19; and a blast monitoring scheme submitted in
compliance with condition 20. These measures are monitored and enforced by
SLDC Public Protection, who are given advance notice of any blasting. Current
monitoring reveals no evidence that any restrictions are being exceeded. And there
has never been any suggestion that blasting regulated in this manner should act as
an embargo on further residential development in the area. Indeed, the Stainbank
Green and Underbarrow Road housing allocations both postdate the two Kendal
Fell Quarry permissions. The Underbarrow Road allocation is much closer to the
quarry and was granted planning permission for 80 dwellings in July 2020 (under
reference SL/2019/0398).

Air quality
5.295. The application is supported by an Air Quality Assessment42. The Council’s Public
Protection Team finds the “methodology and findings to be reliable” and
recommends the imposition of a condition requiring a site specific dust
management plan in accordance with mitigation measures identified in the
conclusion of the Assessment. This has been included as part of the broader
requirement for a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP).

Light pollution
5.296. DMDPD policy DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) states that new
development that requires external lighting should as appropriate:

42



use the minimum illumination required to undertake the task; and



minimise harm to the local amenity, wildlife, public and wider views through use
of appropriate landscaping measures and sensitive forms of design; and



be designed in a manner that avoids glare and erosion of tranquility and dark
skies.

Air Quality Assessment, Royal Haskoning DHV, October 2020

116

Page 178

5.297. The main source of external lighting likely to be an issue in this case is the street
lighting required by the local highway authority in association with the adoption of
the estate roads.
5.298. The local highway authority has confirmed that current lighting standards set-out in
Appendix 10 of the Cumbria Development Design Guide are “Dark Skies
compliant”, specifying: (1) a warmer white colour temperature lighting; and (2) zero
upward light output. We are also told that it is the local highway authority’s policy
that lighting dims to 50% power (not light output) from 9pm to 6am, resulting in a
reduction of light intensity by a little more than 50%. Furthermore, we have been
advised that the local highway authority is in the early stages of trialing new
dynamic lamps, which produce a more amber colour as the night draws on, thought
to have less impact on nocturnal creatures (including insects/moths etc.) in more
environmentally sensitive areas. Recognising the particular sensitivity of this site,
the local highway authority has indicated a willingness to work with the developer to
explore the potential of lamps with even less impact, which is to be welcomed. It
would not be appropriate to make this a planning condition; it is ultimately a
responsibility for the local highway authority. But Members could resolve to urge the
developer and the local highway authority to work collaboratively on this issue.
5.299. The landscaping condition proposed as part of the recommendation includes a
requirement to submit details of “essential lighting” as part of any scheme.

Ground contamination
5.300. The application is supported by a Geo-Environmental Site Assessment43, which,
amongst other things, assess the risks from ground contamination. The
Assessment concludes that, for the most part, soils across the site “pose no
unacceptable risk with respect to a proposed residential development and the site is
suitable for development for a residential end use without the requirement for
mitigation measures.” However, there are “marginal exceedances of Arsenic in the

43

Phase I and Phase II Geo-Environmental Site Assessment, e3p, June 2018

117

Page 179

topsoil” in two locations in the northern section of the site, which the Assessment
recommends should be excavated.
5.301. The Geo-Environmental Site Assessment also notes that the “site is in an area
where between 10% and 30% of homes are above the Radon Action Level
[meaning that] radon protection measures will need to be incorporated into any
proposed new dwellings.” This is not an uncommon issue and will be dealt with
under Part C of the Building Regulations.
5.302. The Council’s Public Protection Team finds the Assessment’s “methodology and
findings to be reliable” and recommends conditions to: (1) remove the occurrences
of arsenic; and (2) deal with any unexpected contamination found during the course
of the development.

Construction activity
5.303. A number of the representations we have received raise concerns about the
potential impacts from construction, which is not unusual where development is
proposed abutting established residential areas. There is a specific concern about
the potential impact of blasting as a means of excavating bedrock, particularly in the
construction of the new access onto Brigsteer Road. The Inspector’s decision letter
in respect of the 2016 appeal refers to the “appellant’s intention is to excavate the
cutting [associated with the access] by means of blasting”. However, the applicants
have confirmed that they will not be using blasting as a construction method in this
updated proposal, and this can be reinforced by a planning condition.
5.304. The Council’s Public Protection Team is recommending a condition requiring a
Construction Management Plan (CEMP) - addressing issues such as storage of
plant and materials, measures to control the emission of dust and dirt, etc. – and a
condition limiting construction working hours to 0800 - 1800 Monday to Friday and
0900 – 1300 on Saturdays, with no work on bank holidays. Restrictions of this
nature will not eliminate disturbance, but experience suggests that they will offer
some amelioration.

118

Page 180

6.0 Conclusion
6.1.

The application site lies within the development boundary of Kendal and forms part
of a larger area of land allocated for housing development by policies LA1.3
(Housing Allocations) and LA2.7 (Stainbank Green) of the Land Allocations DPD,
with an indicative total capacity of 189 dwellings. The allocation is subject to a
Development Brief adopted in 2015. The northern part of the allocation was granted
planning approval for 34 dwellings in 2016, following an appeal.

6.2.

It is a requirement of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) that local
planning authorities maintain a minimum of five years’ worth of available housing
land. The latest version of the South Lakeland Housing Land Annual Position
Statement assumes the Stainbank Green allocation will contribute 34 dwellings
before the end of 2024/25. However, if the current application is approved the
applicants predict that all 88 units will be delivered within the same timeframe,
appreciably bolstering our supply.

6.3.

The applicant has submitted a Residential Viability Report arguing that the proposal
is unable to make the minimum 35% contribution towards affordable housing
ordinarily expected by Core Strategy policy CS6.3 (Provision of affordable housing).
The report has been independently reviewed using the recommended approach to
viability assessment for planning set out in the government’s National Planning
Guidance and it has been accepted that the particular costs of developing this site
would make a contribution of anything more than 20.5% (18 dwellings) unviable.
However, separate from the planning process, the applicant is discussing with a
Registered Provider the possibility of securing an additional 13 units with the
assistance of the Council’s affordable housing grant scheme.

6.4.

A sustainable surface water drainage strategy has been supplied, based upon a
detailed site analysis. The strategy comprises three main elements: (1) roofs will
drain to geocellular soakaways; (2) driveways and shared parking areas will drain
directly into the ground via permeable paving; and (3) highways will drain via a
network of swales and SuDS basins. The lead local flood authority has confirmed
that it is content with the information supplied at this stage. It is proposed that

119

Page 181

further details will be confirmed by a planning condition. A planning obligation is
proposed to put in place arrangements for long-term maintenance of the final
scheme.
6.5.

Access and highway concerns feature prominently in local representations. Issues
in respect of the physical impact of the main site access onto Brigsteer Road were
explored in detail in the earlier appeal and nothing substantive has changed in the
interim to suggest a different outcome if these arguments were to be rerun. The
access proposal includes a new footpath along Brigsteer Road connecting to
Underbarow Road. And it remains the local highway authority’s intention to extend
the 30mph limit beyond the new site entrance and to mark the revised location with
a ‘gateway’/traffic calming feature.

6.6.

A major issue highlighted in many of the representations we have received is the
existing congestion on the eastbound routes and junctions from the site towards the
town centre and the A6 heading south out of the town – a situation many already
regard as intolerable and likely to get much worse if these additional houses are
allowed.

6.7.

Impacts on the wider highway network have been considered through a Transport
Assessment, using analyses based upon “industry standard” techniques and
software. This concludes that none of the impacts on existing junctions are likely to
be severe, which is the threshold established by paragraph 109 of the NPPF. The
local highway authority concurs with this conclusion.

6.8.

It is not a requirement of policy LA2.7 that the Stainbank Green allocation should be
developed comprehensively, a point further acknowledged in the Development
Brief. However, a piecemeal approach does bring complications in this case,
stemming in particular from: (1) the uncertainty about how the main estate road will
extend to serve the remainder of the allocation; and (2) the location of the
southernmost SuDs basin.

6.9.

The applicant has supplied details of the two most likely options for a future access
extension to the south, one of which adheres closely to the expectations of the
Development Brief and another, which assumes the southern part of the allocation
coming forward as a further piecemeal application, showing a connection further to

120

Page 182

the east. On the face of it the latter is more problematic; the necessary engineering
will be more intrusive and the multi-functional green space identified in the
Development Brief is likely to take a different form to that shown indicatively.
Officers consider that the information supplied is sufficient to demonstrate that
neither option will lead to insuperable problems, but Members are asked to give
particular attention to this point.
6.10.

It is possible that had a single application come forward to develop the allocation
comprehensively then the surface water drainage infrastructure might have been
configured differently, with a single larger SuDS basin located towards the southern
boundary for example, in lieu of the southernmost basin shown in the current
application.– relieving the pressure around the indicative area of “central multifunctional green space” identified in the Development Brief. It is officers’ opinion
that, with careful consideration, a SuDS feature in the positon shown could be an
asset to the Development Brief’s expectations for this part of the site, contributing
significant biodiversity value. However, this is another point that needs Members’
particular attention.

6.11.

Three public rights of way are affected by the proposals, directly and indirectly. This
is mainly an inevitable consequence of the land having been allocated for
development. The various impacts have been fully assessed and are judged
consistent with the expectations of DMDPD policy DM5 (Rights of Way and other
routes providing pedestrian, cycle and equestrian access). Any closures and/or
diversions of the affected rights of way would need separate orders processed by
the local highway authority.

6.12.

Within the constraints imposed by the proposed piecemeal approach to
development of the allocation, the physical character of the current scheme
responds appropriately to the site’s locational context, local and settlement
character and distinctiveness. The layout generally performs well against the
criteria set out by the Crime Prevention Officer.

6.13.

Character area 3, West of Underwood / Northwest of Maple Drive, includes a
number of cul-de-sacs, which are not encouraged by the Development Brief.
However, all bar one of these are likely to be temporary features; they have been

121

Page 183

designed to standards that will allow them to form adoptable highway links to later
phases of the development.
6.14.

The current application site is the least prominent part of the allocation in longer
distance views, including from within the Lake District National Park. And from
those locations where it can be seen existing and proposed landscaping will provide
very effective screening and softening.

6.15.

The layout provides areas of on-site open space in the broad locations anticipated
by the Development Brief, and the applicant has also agreed to make a financial
contribution towards further provision within the remainder of the allocation, or offsite provision as a failback. This contribution has been calculated using the
methodology established by the earlier appeal. The contribution will be secured via
a planning obligation, which will also be used to put in place arrangements for longterm maintenance of on-site open space and landscaping.

6.16.

The application site is elevated relative to established development to the east,
which sets up some potentially challenging relationships between existing and
proposed dwellings. These have all been fully explored, assisted by a series of
cross-boundary sections. In many cases the potential impacts are mitigated by
existing planting, which includes groups of preserved trees. Additional planting is
also proposed along this boundary. The detailed analyses indicate that existing and
proposed dwellings are unlikely to experience a significant impact upon appropriate
standards of either daylight, sunlight or privacy.

6.17.

The application site is in a location where it could potentially have an impact on the
nearby Scout and Cunswick Scars Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), part of
the Morecambe Bay Pavements Special Area of Conservation (SAC), and The
River Kent SAC. This requires completion of a Habitat Regulations Assessment
(HRA). The applicant’s ecologists have taken the initiative in producing this piece of
work and Natural England concurs with its conclusions, confirming that no
significant effects are likely, subject to mitigation in the form of: (a) conditions
requiring a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP); (b) a condition
requiring the provision of a home owner’s pack to each of the 88 new dwellings;
and (c) a planning obligation to secure a scheme for the provision and

122

Page 184

implementation of signage, information boards and dog waste bins in the main
parking areas serving Scout and Cunswick Scars SSSI.
6.18.

The allocating policy refers to the need for a “detailed ecological survey to
determine the extent of meadow saxifrage within the north east corner of the site”.
Repeated surveys have found no evidence of meadow saxifrage, but the north-east
corner of the site will remain largely free of development in any event.

6.19.

It has not been possible to achieve a biodiversity net gain on the site itself; there is
insufficient space to compensate for the loss of the extensive areas of semiimproved grassland that are to be developed. That is a policy-compliant position;
DMDPD policy DM4 acknowledges that there will be circumstances in which
achieving a net gain is not possible. Nevertheless, in this case the applicant is
presenting an overall net gain of fractionally over 5% via a scheme of off-site
compensation agreed with Cumbria Wildlife Trust. This is to be funded by a
financial contribution of £20,800 to be secured via a planning obligation.

6.20.

There will be additional on-site biodiversity improvements linked to the proposed
landscaping and SuDS features.

6.21.

The development brings an inevitable impact on the existing trees on the site. A
significant number of unprotected trees along Brigsteer Road will be lost to
accommodate the new site access. More trees, some of which are covered by a
Tree Preservation Order (TPO), will be lost to provide the vehicular link between the
northern and southern sections of the site, and to accommodate the layout abutting
the eastern boundary. A total of 117 trees are to be removed; 21 of which are
covered by the TPO. Tree loss is always regrettable, but the layout in this case has
been designed to minimise potential impact and to make the retained trees a key
feature of the completed development. And whilst replacement planting will always
take time to compensate for the immediate losses, the 143 new trees proposed in
this case will contribute to a long-term continuity of tree cover and strengthen onsite biodiversity.

6.22.

The intimate relationship between trees and housing going forward will establish
indirect impacts that will need ongoing management. This is not unusual;

123

Page 185

applications for routine arboricultural management in such circumstances are
commonplace.
6.23.

The application site does not contain any designated archaeological heritage assets
(Schedule Monuments). Nor does it contain any archaeological features appearing
on a list of non-designated heritage assets of local significance – often referred to
as a “local list”. It is, however, recognised as lying within an area of archaeological
potential. This has been explored through an archaeological desk-based
assessment which has persuaded the County Council’s Historic Environment
Officer that it is reasonable for the development to proceed with a condition
requiring the implementation of a programme of archaeological work.

6.24.

The application is accompanied by reports assessing the potential for existing and
future residents to be impacted by various sources of pollution. These reports have
been scrutinised by the Council’s Public Protection Team, who have concluded that
with the imposition of various conditions this development can safely proceed
without risk of adverse effects from noise, dust or ground contamination. They have
recommended that the construction phase of the development is controlled by
conditions requiring a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and a
limit on working hours. A further condition reinforcing the applicant’s commitment to
not using blasting during the construction process would also be justified.

6.25.

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which requires
that planning applications be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. And the NPPF expects
development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan to be
approved without delay. It is officers’ opinion that the development plan policies
which are most important for determining this application remain up-to-date and,
having considered the other material relevant to this case, it is recommended that
approval is given, subject to a number of important planning obligations and
conditions.

7.0 Recommendation
7.1.

The application is recommended for approval subject to:

124

Page 186

a) adoption by the Planning Committee of the “Habitat Regulations Assessment
(Appropriate Assessment), Urban Green, 31 March 2021 ” to meet the Council’s
responsibilities as a competent authority in accordance with The Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended by The Conservation of
Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019);
b) a section 106 agreement to secure the following:
(i)

Affordable housing
A minimum of 18 units of affordable housing, based upon: (1) a tenure
mix of nine units for rent and nine for intermediate tenure (5 shared
ownership and 4 discounted sale) in the locations indicated on the
Affordable Homes Layout drawing (40014.03.11, Revision B) received
06 May 2021; and (2) the Council’s other standard clauses.
Not to allow the disposal of and/or occupation of:

(ii)



More than 19 full market value units to be occupied until 4 affordable
units have been made ready for occupation and written notification of
such has been made to the council;



More than 32 full market value units to be occupied until 6 affordable
units have been made ready for occupation and written notification of
such has been made to the council;



More than 36 full market value units to be occupied until 10
affordable units have been made ready for occupation and written
notification of such has been made to the council;



More than 66 full market value units to be occupied until all
affordable units have been made ready for occupation and written
notification of such has been made to the council.

On-site recreation and SuDS

125

Page 187

A management company, or companies, to manage all of the on-site
open space and SuDS in accordance with an “On-Site Open Space
Management Plan” and a “SuDS Management Plan” to be first agreed.

(iii)

Off-site recreation
A financial contribution of £44,625 towards off-site open space.
[This is a pro rata calculation based on the £15,000 agreed for 34
dwellings in the 2016 section 106 agreement, plus inflation.]
The contribution to be used towards: (1) the provision / improvement of
open space and recreation/play space provision within the main
Stainbank Green allocation; or (2) the provision / improvement of open
space and recreation/play space provision within the “Vicarage Road
green wedge” if the remainder of the Stainbank Green allocation is not
substantially complete by the end of 2030.

(iv)

Public right of way improvements
A contribution of £11,000 towards off-site public right of way
improvements; specifically, upgrading the surface of footpath no.
536042 to improve accessibility to Underwood Road.

(v)

Travel Plan monitoring
A contribution of £6,600 to fund CCC monitoring of the submitted Travel
Plan

(vi)

Access to remainder of the Stainbank Green allocation

126

Page 188

A commitment to the provision of three adoptable highway links to the
application site boundary, or the applicant’s ownership interest if
different, in the positions shown on the approved layout.
[The objective of this is to ensure no ransom strips that might otherwise
frustrate future phases of the development.]

(vii)

Biodiversity net gain
A financial contribution of £20,800, for onward transmission to Cumbria
Wildlife Trust, for the establishment and future maintenance of 1.1
hectares of species rich wet and acidic pasture on former agricultural
land on the south side of Foulshaw Moss Nature Reserve.

(viii)

Mitigation of impacts on Scout and Cunswick Scars Site of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSI): part of the Morecambe Bay Pavements
Special Area of Conservation (SAC).
The provision of signage and information boards and the provision of
dog waste bins in the main parking areas serving Scout and Cunswick
Scars SSSI, all in accordance with a scheme to be first submitted to,
and agreed in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme to be
fully funded by the developer.

c) requests being passed onto the applicant and the local highway authority
encouraging them to work collaboratively to achieve the minimum street lighting
standards necessary for road adoption; and
d) the following conditions:

Condition (1):

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before
the expiration of THREE YEARS from the date hereof.

127

Page 189

Reason:

To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved plans
Condition (2):

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in
accordance with the following approved plans:


Location Plan, 40014.03.092, Rev B A0



General Arrangements Layout plan (40014.03.01
Revision T)



Affordable Homes Layout, 40014.03.11, Revision B



Landscape Structure Plan, 6219.01, Revision F



Boundary Treatments, 40014.03.03, Revision F



Boundary Details Plan, 40014.03.BDP



Standard Boundary Treatments Layout, 40014.03.03ST



Elevation Treatments, 40014.03.02, Revision D



Finish Floor Levels Layout, 40014.03.FFL, Revision A



Hard Surfaces, 40014.03.04, Revision C



Pond Section Layout, 40014 516



Site Section, East Boundary, BRS-SS-003



Section B-B, BRS-SS-001B, Revision A



Section C-C, BRS-SS-001C, Revision A



Section D-D, BRS-SS-001D, Revision A

128

Page 190

Reason:



Section E-E, BRS-SS-001E Revision A



Section G-G, BRS-SS-001G



Section H-H, BRS-SS-001H



Drainage Layout Phase 1, 40-01-01 Revision P3



Southern Parcel Highway Surface Water Drainage
Strategy Layout, 40014 517



Swept Path Analysis, 40014-515



House type Fulford (A) (Plot 15)



House type Fulford (A) (Oher plots)



House type Rutherford (A)



House type Belford (A)



House type Branford (A)



House type Castleford (A)



House type Cranford (A)



House type Hartford (A)



House type Linford (A)



House type Milford (A)



House type Stanford (A)



House type Wexford (A)



Single Garage 1, GB-PLP1/2 Revision A

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

129

Page 191

External materials
Condition (3 ): External walls and roofs of the dwellings hereby approved shall
be finished in accordance with the materials shown on the
approved Elevation Treatments plan (40014.03.02 Revision D),
and in accordance with natural stone and natural slate
specifications that shall first have been submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the local planning authority.
Reason:

To ensure compliance with: (1) policy CS8.10 (Design) of the
South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM1 (General
Requirements for all development) and DM2 (Achieving
Sustainable High Quality Design) of the South Lakeland
Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Plot boundaries
Condition (4):

No individual dwelling shall be first occupied until its boundary
has been enclosed in accordance with the details shown on the
approved Boundary Treatments plan (40014.03.03 Revision F).

Reason:

To ensure compliance with: (1) policy CS8.10 (Design) of the
South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM1 (General
Requirements for all development) and DM2 (Achieving
Sustainable High Quality Design) of the South Lakeland
Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Landscaping
Condition (5):

No development shall commence until a detailed soft
landscaping scheme based upon the principles established in
the submitted Landscape Structure Plan (6219.01, Revision F)

130

Page 192

has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The scheme shall include details of: (i)
planting plans; (ii) existing vegetation to be retained; (iii) written
specifications and schedules of proposed plants noting species,
planting sizes and proposed numbers/densities; (iv) any
essential external lighting; (v) an implementation timetable; and
(vi) a schedule of landscape maintenance proposals for a period
of not less than thirty years from the date of completion of the
scheme. Thereafter, the approved landscaping scheme shall be
implemented and maintained in accordance with the agreed
details and timetables.
Reason:

To safeguard and enhance the character of the area in
accordance with policies LA1.3 (Housing Allocations) and LA2.7
(Stainbank Green) of the South Lakeland Land Allocations
Development Plan Document and policy DM4 (Green and Blue
Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the
South Lakeland Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document.

Tree protection
Condition (6):

No development shall commence until physical tree protection
measures have been put in place (and confirmed as acceptable
following a site inspection by the local planning authority’s
representative) in accordance with the details in: (1) the
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA), Brigsteer Road Phase
1 and 2, Urban Green, October 2020, Revision 06 (May 2021);
and (2) the Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS), comprising
the following drawings:


Arboricultural Method Statement – Excavations and Root
Pruning, UG_23_ARB_AMS_01, Revision P05

131

Page 193



Arboricultural Method Statement – Cellular Confinement
System, UG_23_ARB_AMS_02, Revision P05



Arboricultural Method Statement – Boundary Treatments,
UG_23_ARB_AMS_03, Revision P05



Arboricultural Method Statement – Arboricultural Monitoring
Schedule, UG_23_ARB_AMS_04, Revision P01.

Thereafter, the protection measures shall be kept in place for the
duration of the construction phase of the development, and
development shall proceed in accordance the further measures
detailed in the AIA and AMS.
Reason:

To protect existing trees in accordance with policy DM4 (Green
and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping)
of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document.

On-site open space
Condition (7):

No individual dwelling hereby approved shall be first occupied
until a timetable for the laying out and completion of all areas of
on-site open space has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. Thereafter, all areas of
on-site open space shall be laid out and completed in
accordance with the agreed timetable.

Reason:

To ensure the timely provision of public open space in
accordance with policies CS8.3a (Accessing open space, sport
and recreation) and CS8.3b (Quantity of open space, sport and
recreation) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.
[The long-term maintenance of on-site open space will be
addressed by a planning obligation]

132

Page 194

Accessible and adaptable homes
Condition (8):

All of the dwellings hereby approved shall be constructed to
meet the Building Regulations M4(2) standards for accessible
and adaptable homes.

Reason:

To secure an appropriate level of compliance with Policy DM11
of the Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Broadband
Condition (9):

No individual dwelling hereby approved shall be first occupied
until connected to the necessary infrastructure to enable access
to high speed (superfast) broadband.

Reason:

To comply with Policy DM8 (High Speed Broadband for New
Developments) of the Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document.

Highways
Condition (10): No development shall commence until visibility splays providing
clear visibility of 70 metres measured 2.4 metres down the
centre of the access road and the nearside channel line of the
carriageway edge have been provided at the junction of the
access road with the county highway (Brigsteer Road).
Thereafter, notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England)
Order 2015 (as amended) (or any Order revoking and reenacting that Order), no structure, vehicle or object of any kind
shall be erected, parked or placed and no trees, bushes or other

133

Page 195

plants shall be planted or be permitted to grown within the
visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays.
Reason:

To maintain highway safety in accordance with: (1) policy
CS10.2 (Transport impact of new development) of the South
Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policy DM1 (General
Requirements for all development) of the South Lakeland
Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Condition (11): No dwellings shall be occupied until the estate road including
footways, cycleways, parking, and turning spaces, to serve such
dwellings has been constructed in all respects to base course
level and street lighting where it is to form part of the estate road
has been provided and brought into full operational use.
Reason:

To maintain highway safety in accordance with: (1) policy
CS10.2 (Transport impact of new development) of the South
Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policy DM1 (General
Requirements for all development) of the South Lakeland
Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Condition (12): No individual dwelling hereby approved shall be first occupied
until the 30mph speed limit on Brigsteer Road has been
extended and defined by a ‘Gateway’/traffic calming feature in
accordance with a scheme that shall first have been submitted
to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.
Reason:

To maintain highway safety in accordance with: (1) policy
CS10.2 (Transport impact of new development) of the South
Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policy DM1 (General
Requirements for all development) of the South Lakeland
Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

134

Page 196

Condition (13): No individual dwelling hereby approved shall be first occupied
until the new footpath link along Brigsteer Road to the junction
with Underwood has been constructed and made available for
use in accordance with the General Arrangements Layout plan
(40014.03.01 Revision T) and a further specification that shall
first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
local planning authority.
Reason:

To maintain highway safety in accordance with: (1) policy
CS10.2 (Transport impact of new development) of the South
Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policy DM1 (General
Requirements for all development) of the South Lakeland
Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Condition (14): No work on the construction of the main estate road at the point
where it crosses footpath no. 536043 shall begin until a
specification for the crossover of the footpath with the road has
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority. Thereafter, the crossover shall be constructed in
accordance with the approved specification.
Reason:

To maintain highway safety in accordance with: (1) policy
CS10.2 (Transport impact of new development) of the South
Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policy DM1 (General
Requirements for all development) of the South Lakeland
Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Condition (15): No individual dwelling hereby approved shall be first occupied
until the emergency vehicle access shown in the north-west of
the site on the General Arrangements Layout plan (40014.03.01
Revision T) has been constructed and made available for use in
accordance with a specification that shall first have been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority.

135

Page 197

Reason:

To maintain highway safety in accordance with: (1) policy
CS10.2 (Transport impact of new development) of the South
Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policy DM1 (General
Requirements for all development) of the South Lakeland
Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Travel plan
Condition (16): A final travel plan shall be submitted to the local planning
authority for written approval in accordance with the Action Plan
and timescales set out in section 4.4 of the submitted
Framework Travel Plan, produced by Croft, and dated May
2021.
Reason:

To encourage the use of more sustainable modes of transport.

Parking
Condition (17): No individual dwelling shall be first occupied until its parking
provision, as indicated on the General Arrangements Layout
plan (40014.03.01 Revision T) and, where applicable, integral
garages shown on the relevant house type designs, has been
constructed and made available for use. All dwellings with
garages shall be provided with charging points for electric
vehicles.
Reason:

To ensure the timely provision of car parking in accordance with
policy DM9 (Parking Provision, new and loss of car parks) of the
South Lakeland Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document.

136

Page 198

Drainage
Condition (18): Foul and surface water shall be drained to separate systems.
Reason:

To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding
and pollution.

Condition (19): No development shall commence until full details of a
sustainable drainage system consistent with the principles
established in: (1) the Flood Risk Assessment & Outline
Drainage Strategy, Brigsteer Road, Kendal, Report Ref. 881960R1(03)-FRA, RSK, October 2020; (2) 881960-R2(00)-FRAAddendum, RSK, 23 March 2021; (3) Drainage Layout Phase 1
drawing, 40-01-01 Revision P3; and (4) Southern Parcel
Highway Surface Water Drainage Strategy Layout drawing,
40014 517, have been submitted to, and approved in writing by,
the local planning authority. The full details must incorporate: (1)
hydraulic design; (2) treatment design; and (3) must be inclusive
of all off-site features. Treatment design must be in accordance
with the recommendations of the SuDS Manual. The full details
must also include an implementation timetable The existing
exceedance proposals shall be updated when detailed design
levels are available and should show a dropped kerb or similar
near plot 47 to allow spill to the east, and near plot 10 to allow
spill to the north east. Thereafter, the sustainable drainage
system must be installed in accordance with the approved
details and timetable.
Reason:

To reduce the risk of flooding and to promote the use of a
sustainable surface water drainage scheme in accordance with
policy CS8.8 (Development and Flood Risk) of the South
Lakeland Core Strategy and policy DM6 (Flood Risk
Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems) of the South
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

137

Page 199

[The long-term maintenance of the SuDS system will be
addressed by a planning obligation]
Condition (20): No development shall commence until a surface water drainage
validation strategy has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. The strategy must
include a timetable for the phased submission of validation
reports in respect of the main sustainable drainage system and
exceedance routes. No dwelling shall be first occupied until the
validation report for the relevant phase of the development has
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority.
Reason:

To reduce the risk of flooding and to promote the use of a
sustainable surface water drainage scheme in accordance with
policy CS8.8 (Development and Flood Risk) of the South
Lakeland Core Strategy and policy DM6 (Flood Risk
Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems) of the South
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Condition (21): No work on the construction of the southernmost of the two
SuDS basins shown on the General Arrangements Layout plan
(40014.03.01 Revision T) shall commence until a specification
for the construction and maintenance of the access track serving
it has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. Thereafter the access track shall be
constructed and maintained in accordance with the approved
specification.
Reason:

To support the use of a sustainable surface water drainage
scheme in accordance with policy CS8.8 (Development and
Flood Risk) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy and policy
DM6 (Flood Risk Management and Sustainable Drainage
Systems) of the South Lakeland Development Management
Policies Development Plan Document.

138

Page 200

Construction management
Condition (22): Construction work shall not take place outside the hours of 0800
– 1800 Monday to Friday or 0900 – 1300 on Saturdays, nor at
any time on bank holidays.
Reason:

In the interests of safeguarding the amenity and ecological
interest of the existing area in accordance with: (1) policy CS8.4
(Biodiversity and geodiversity) of the South Lakeland Core
Strategy; and (2) policies DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure
and Open Space) and DM7 (Addressing Pollution,
Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Condition (23): No blasting shall be undertaken as part of the construction
process.
Reason:

To safeguard the amenity of the area in accordance with policy
DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water
Quality) of the South Lakeland Development Management
Policies Development Plan Document.

Construction environment management plan
Condition (24): No development shall take place, including any works of
demolition, until a Construction Environment Management Plan
(CEMP) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The objectives of the CEMP must be
to reduce the impacts of the development on the amenity of the
local area in general and, specifically, to
a. Demonstrate the potential impacts on protected/notable fauna
and habitats anticipated and confirmed to be on site and within

139

Page 201

the wider area (such as the River Kent SAC and Blind Beck) in
relation to the proposed construction activities;
b. Describe the proposed measures in order to minimise debris
and dust from entering the River Kent SAC via Blind Beck using
protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs;
c. Describe the installation of silt control devices to catch sediment
water run-off where appropriate;
d. Demonstrate the locations of “Biodiversity Protection Zones” and
outline the working methods to be followed during the
construction phase, regarding on site habitats and associated
fauna, as well as the River Kent and Blind Beck;
e. Demonstrate physical measures and sensitive working practices
to avoid or reduce impacts during construction on
protected/notable habitats.
In addition, and consistent with the above, the CEMP shall
provide for:
(i)

a phasing scheme for the construction of the development,
including timescales for the installation of the access roads,
parking and turning areas;

(ii)

safe visibility at the access during the construction period;

(iii)

details of proposed crossings of the highway verge;

(iv)

dedicated areas for the parking of vehicles of site operatives
and visitors;

(v)

dedicated areas for loading and unloading of plant and
materials;

(vi)

dedicated areas for storage of plant and materials used in
constructing the development;

140

Page 202

(vii)

the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where
appropriate;

(viii)

wheel cleaning facilities;

(ix)

the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to
prevent spillage or deposit of any materials on the highway;

(x)

cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway;

(xi)

the management of junctions to and crossings of the public
highway and other public rights of way/footway;

(xii)

the scheduling and timing of movements, details of escorts
for abnormal loads, temporary warning signs and
banksman/escort details;

(xiii)

measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during
construction;

(xiv)

measures to control surface water run-off during
construction;

(xv)

a rock pecking method statement;

(xvi)

measures to control noise and vibration

.

The approved Construction Environment Method Statement
shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.

Reason:

To safeguard the amenity of the area in accordance with policy
DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water
Quality) of the South Lakeland Development Management
Policies Development Plan Document.

Land contamination

141

Page 203

Condition (25): No development shall commence until a method statement for
the removal of the two instances of arsenic contamination
identified at locations TP109 and TP110 in the submitted Phase
I and Phase II Geo-Environmental Site Assessment (e3p, June
2018) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
local planning authority. Thereafter, the removal of the arsenic
shall proceed in accordance with the agreed method statement.
Reason:

To safeguard the amenity of existing and proposed dwellings in
accordance with policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution,
Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Condition (26): If during the course of development any visible contaminated or
odorous material (for example, asbestos containing material,
stained soil, petrol / diesel / solvent odour, underground tanks or
associated pipework) not previously identified, is found to be
present, development shall immediately cease. Thereafter,
development shall only recommence in accordance with a
method statement detailing the nature and degree of the
contamination and the techniques proposed to remove it. The
method statement must be prepared by a suitably qualified
independent consultant and must first have been submitted to,
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason:

To safeguard the amenity of existing and proposed dwellings in
accordance with policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution,
Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Noise

142

Page 204

Condition (27): No individual dwelling hereby approved shall be first occupied
until a validation report has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority confirming that ambient
noise levels do not exceed: (a) 35dB LAeq 16hour within the
dwelling’s living room(s) and bedroom(s); and (2) do not exceed
30dB LAeq 8hour within the dwelling’s bedroom(s) between the
hours of 2300 and 0700.
Reason:

In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the proposed
dwellings in accordance with policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution,
Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Archaeology
Condition (28): No development shall commence until the developer has
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological
work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which
shall first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by,
the local planning authority.
This written scheme will include the following components:


An archaeological evaluation;



An archaeological recording programme the scope of which will
be dependent upon the results of the evaluation;



Where significant archaeological remains are revealed by the
programme of archaeological work, there shall be carried out
within one year of the completion of that programme, or within
such timescale otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning
authority, a post-excavation assessment and analysis,
preparation of a site archive ready for deposition at a store

143

Page 205

approved by the local planning authority, completion of an
archive report, and submission of the results for publication in a
suitable journal.
Reason:

To afford reasonable opportunity for an examination to be made
to determine the existence of any remains of archaeological
interest within the site and for the preservation, examination or
recording of such remains, in accordance with (1) policies CS2
(Kendal Strategy) and CS8.6 (Historic environment) of the South
Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policy DM3 (Historic
Environment) of the South Lakeland Development Management
Policies Development Plan Document.

Biodiversity
Condition (29): None of the dwellings hereby approved shall be first occupied
until an information pack to be made available to future
residents, highlighting the significance and sensitivity of the
nearby Scout and Cunswick Scars Site of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI) (part of the Morecambe Bay Pavements Special
Area of Conservation (SAC)), has been submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. Thereafter,
the information pack shall be made available to all future
residents for the lifetime of the development.
Reason:

To reinforce compliance with policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and
geodiversity) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.

Condition (30): No development shall commence until an ecological strategy
document, prepared by a qualified ecologist, has been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority. The document shall set out a strategy for the provision
of site-wide biodiversity improvements, including specific
proposals for the two approved SuDS basins shown on the
approved General Arrangements Layout plan (40014.03.01

144

Page 206

Revision T). The strategy must link to the detailed landscaping
scheme required by condition (5) and must include a schedule
of maintenance proposals for a period of not less than thirty
years from the date of completion of the development.
Thereafter, the improvements shall be implemented and
maintained in accordance with the approved strategy.
Reason:

To contribute towards the net gain in biodiversity required by:
(1) policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space,
Trees and Landscaping) of the of the South Lakeland
Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document; (2) paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.; and (3) section 40 of the Natural Environment and
Rural Communities Act 2006.

145

Page 207

Appendix A

146

Page 208

Item No.9

Planning Application no. SL/2021/0101
Kendal Rugby Union Football Club,
Mint Bridge, Shap Road, Kendal

www.southlakeland.gov.uk
Page 209

Contents
Planning Application no. SL/2021/0101................................................................................. 1
Summary ............................................................................................................................... 5
Recommendation .................................................................................................................. 5
1.0 Description and proposal ................................................................................................ 5
Site Description ............................................................................................................... 5
Proposal .......................................................................................................................... 6
2.0 Consultations .................................................................................................................. 6
Kendal Town Council ...................................................................................................... 6
Cumbria County Council Highways and LLFA ................................................................ 6
Sport England ................................................................................................................. 7
Public Protection ............................................................................................................. 7
Public Responses ........................................................................................................... 7
3.0 Relevant planning history ................................................................................................ 7
4.0 Relevant planning policies .............................................................................................. 8
National Planning Policy Framework .............................................................................. 8
Local Development Policies ............................................................................................ 8
5.0 Assessment .................................................................................................................... 8
Principle of Development and Local Plan Policy ............................................................. 8
Impact on Amenity .......................................................................................................... 9
Highways Impacts ........................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.
Landscape and Character of the Area ............................ Error! Bookmark not defined.
Economic Impact ............................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined.
Ecology ........................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.
Planning Balance and Conclusions............................................................................... 10
6.0 Recommendation .......................................................................................................... 11

2

Page 210

3

Page 211

4

Page 212

Summary
SL/2021/0101
PARISH: Kendal
Kendal Rugby Union Football Club, Mint Bridge, Shap Road, KENDAL, LA9 6NY
PROPOSAL: variation of condition 19 (Open Hours) attached to planning permission
SL/2015/0016
APPLICANT: Kendal Rugby Union Football Club
Grid Ref: E: 352423 N: 494596
Committee date: 29th July 2021
Case Officer: Nic Unwin
The proposal seeks the variation of condition 19 (Open Hours) attached to planning
permission SL/2015/0016.
The proposed site forms the existing Kendal Rugby Club.
The current application has been referred to committee as the application has been ‘called
in’ by Councillor Archibald.

Recommendation
The recommendation is to approve the application subject to conditions set out at the foot of
the report.

1.0 Description and proposal
Site Description
1.1.

The proposed site forms part of the existing training pitches of Kendal Rugby Club.

1.2.

Kendal Rugby Club is outside of, but adjoins the north-east of Kendal Development
Boundary.

1.3.

The proposed site is accessed via an existing vehicular access onto the A6 to the
west. Kendal Rugby Club comprises a club house, sports pitch and various training
pitches and, a car park.

1.4.

There is an access road running along the northern boundary of the site with open
agricultural land to the north and to the south-east of the proposed site. A cluster of
5 dwellings that look to have been converted from former mill buildings
approximately 50 metres to the north-east of the proposed site.
5

Page 213

1.5.

The proposed site is bordered by a drystone wall along the northern boundary, a
mature hedgerow along the north-eastern boundary and mature trees along the
south-eastern boundary.

1.6.

The proposed site is located within a combination of Flood Zones 1, 2 and 3 with
the eastern boundary of the site adjoining the River Kent and Tributaries SSSI.

Proposal
1.7.

The proposal seeks to vary condition 19 of approval SL/2015/0016 which relates to
the operational hours of the rugby club.

1.8.

Condition 19 prohibits the use of the clubhouse and grounds outside of the hours of
8am-11pm Sunday-Thursday and 8am-Midnight Friday and Saturday.

1.9.

Application SL/2021/0102 is to allow seasonal camping on an existing training pitch
forming part of the grounds of Kendal Rugby Club. This would rely on campers
using the existing toilet and shower facilities within the clubhouse.

1.10.

The condition is proposed to be amended as follows:
“The use of the clubhouse (excluding the toilet and shower facilities) and
grounds (excluding the land used for seasonal camping) shall not take place
other than between the following hours:08:00 – 23:00 hours Sunday to Thursday
08:00 – Midnight Friday and Saturday”

2.0 Consultations
Kendal Town Council
2.1.

No material objections.

Cumbria County Council Highways and LLFA
2.2.

Bearing in mind the existing use of the site, its car park and access, which is
designed to host rugby matches with their accompaniment of spectators arriving by
car, I do not consider that the proposal to operate 20 camping pitches during the
off-season will have a material impact on highway conditions nor will it increase the
flood risk for the site.

2.3.

I can therefore confirm that the Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority
have no objection to the proposal.

6

Page 214

Sport England
2.4.

No objections.

Public Protection
2.5.

I have reviewed the document entitled ‘Noise Management Plan: Kendal Rugby
Club – Seasonal campsite (May 2021) for the Kendal Rugby Club campsite and I
can confirm that the proposed measures are acceptable to control potential noise
impacts resulting from the development. I recommend any future permission
granted includes a condition for the operation to be in accordance with the Noise
Management Plan dated May 2021.

Public Responses
2.6.

Consultation responses – 10 objections, 0 support, 1 observations – The following
points were raised:


Noise pollution



Insufficient parking



Landscape impact

3.0 Relevant planning history
3.1.

The applications relating to Kendal Rugby Club are as follows:



SL/2015/0016 – Engineering operation and development to re-grade the site to form
one full sized floodlit rugby pitch, one full sized floodlit artificial pitch, two training
pitches, a clubhouse, parking and landscaping. Full Approval.



SL/2016/0026 – Discharge of conditions 4, 7, 14, 16, 21, 24 and 25 of approval
SL/2015/0016. Discharge of condition approval.



SL/2016/0330 – Discharge of conditions 3, 8, 9, 10, 11 and 23 of approval
SL/2015/0016. Discharge of condition approval.



SL/2016/1059 – Discharge of conditions 6, 17 and 26 of approval SL/2015/0016.
Discharge of condition approval.



SL/2017/0013 – Discharge of conditions 5, 7, 27 and 26 of approval SL/2015/0016.
Discharge of condition approval.



SL/2021/0102 – Change of use of land to allow seasonal camping. Live.

3.2.

Reference to some of the applications will be made later in the report

7

Page 215

4.0 Relevant planning policies
National Planning Policy Framework
Chapter 2, Achieving sustainable development
Chapter 12 Achieving well designed places

Local Development Policies
South Lakeland Core Strategy Policies (CS)
CS1.1 Sustainable development principles
CS1.2 The development strategy

Land Allocations Development Plan Document (LA)
LA1.1 Development Boundaries
LA1.11 Existing Outdoor Formal Sports Facilities

South Lakeland Development Management Development Plan
Document Policies (DM)
DM1 – General Requirements for all development
DM2 – Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design
DM4 – Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping
DM9 – Parking Provision, New and Loss of Car Parks
DM18 – Tourist accommodation – caravans, chalets, log cabins, camping and new purpose
built self-catering accommodation (outside the Arnside and Silverdale AONB)

5.0 Assessment
Principle of Development and Local Plan Policy
5.1.

The proposal is to vary condition 19 attached to approval SL/2015/0016 to permit
seasonal camping and use of the existing toilet and shower facilities by these users.

5.2.

Application SL/2021/0102 deals with the use of part of the existing Kendal Rugby
Club site for seasonal camping. This permission would rely on users of the
campsite using the toilet and shower facilities within the existing club house.

8

Page 216

5.3.

Condition 19 of approval SL/2015/0016, as it stands, prohibits the use of the
clubhouse and grounds between the hours of 11pm and 8am and would therefore
prohibit the use of the of the toilet and shower facilities by users of the camp site
between these hours.

5.4.

The proposed variation of condition 19 of approval SL/2015/0016 would continue to
prohibit the use of the clubhouse and grounds during these hours, with the
exclusion of the land used for seasonal camping and the toilet and shower facilities
within the clubhouse.

5.2.

Application SL/2021/0102 assesses the use of part of Kendal Rugby Club grounds
for seasonal camping. The proposed variation of condition application would
facilitate this approved use and is therefore reliant on the approval of
SL/2021/0102. Should application SL/2021/0102 be approved then the principle of
the proposed variation of condition application is considered acceptable.

Impact on Amenity
5.5.

Policy DM1 of the Development Management Policies DPD states that new
development should ensure the delivery of acceptable levels of amenity for existing,
neighbouring and future users. This is supported by Para 127 of the NPPF which
states that new development should provide high standard of amenity for existing
and future users.

5.6.

Condition 19 was attached to approval SL/2015/0016 to safeguard the amenity of
neighbouring residents. The proposal is to amend condition 19 to allow the use of
the toilet and shower facilities within the Club House and a section of land for
seasonal camping outside of the operating hours of 08:00 – 23:00 Sunday to
Thursday and 08:00 – midnight Friday and Saturday.

5.7.

All of the public objections raised the issue of potential noise generated from the
users of the proposed camp site.

5.8.

The proposed campsite would result in the creation of 20 seasonal pitches which
could be controlled through condition through application SL/2021/0102. The
campsite is approximately 50 metres from the 5 dwellings to the north-east at its
closest point which is not considered to be insignificant.

5.9.

The proposed site is approximately 60 metres east of the Shap Road Industrial
Estate and 50 metres east of the A6. It is therefore considered that there will be an
existing level of background noise observed at the site from the industrial uses of
the industrial estate and vehicular movements along the A6.

5.10.

It is acknowledged that some of the neighbour responses state that they have
experienced excessive noise levels from the site when it was used in previous
years as a campsite on a temporary basis.

9

Page 217

5.11.

Public Protection were consulted on the application and application SL/2021/0102
the submission of a Noise Management Plan. The Noise Management Plan
stipulates that all vehicles will be parked within the existing parking area with no
vehicles permitted to enter the proposed camping area, a list of site rules which
customers will have to agree to (including an 11pm site curfew, no amplified
electronic music, no camp fires or BBQ’s etc) and staff at the existing Rugby Club
will monitor the campsite when in operation and be available to act on any
complaints by neighbours. The Noise Management Plan is part of the
recommended conditions for application SL/2021/0102. Public Protection reviewed
the submitted Noise Management Plan and raised no objections.

5.12.

Based on the above, it is considered that through the imposition of conditions
through application SL/2021/0102 relating to the maximum number of pitches and
Noise Management Plan, the impact of the proposal on the amenity of neighboring
residents can be reduced to an acceptable level.

Other Matters
5.13.

Other matters were raised through public representations including highways
impacts and landscape impacts. The proposal is for the variation of Condition 19 of
approval SL/2015/0016 which specifically relates to protecting the amenity of
neighbouring residents. As such the only considerations for the proposal relate to
its impact on residential amenity. Other material planning considerations raised are
addressed in application SL/2021/0102.

Planning Balance and Conclusions
5.14.

The proposed development will allow the proposed seasonal camping under
application SL/2021/0102 to operate outside of the existing hours of 8am-11pm
Sunday-Thursday and 8am-Midnight Friday and Saturday. The proposal would
additionally allow campers to use the toilet and shower facilities within the existing
clubhouse outside of these hours.

5.15.

Condition 19 of approval SL/2015/0016 was attached to protect the amenity of
neighbouring residents. It is considered that the use of part of the site for seasonal
camping and use of the toilet and shower facilities within the clubhouse outside of
the existing operational hours can be sufficiently controlled through conditions
attached under application SL/2021/0102 to reduce any amenity impact to an
acceptable level.

5.16.

Based on the above, on balance the proposed development is recommended for
approval.

10

Page 218

6.0 Recommendation
Planning permission SL/2021/0101 is recommended to be granted subject to the following
conditions:
Condition (1) No development shall take place other than in complete accordance
with the following plans and documents:


Drwg No 306-44 Site Location Plan;



Drwg No 306-28 C Topographical Survey;



Drwg No 306-39 H Site Plan as Proposed;



Drwg No 306-29 F Proposed Clubhouse Floor Plans;



Drwg No 306-41A Proposed Clubhouse Floor Elevations;



Drwg No 306-46 Site Sections;



Drwg No 306-48 Catch Net Plan;



Drwg No 2019/3 Landscape Proposals;



Design Ref UKS9667 External Floodlighting;



Drwg 130901/05 Rev B Proposed Access Arrangements;



Drwg 130901/10 Rev A Wider Highway Network details;



Dnwg No 2519/4 and No 2519/5 Landscaping Plan;



Air Quality Statement, dated 30 October 2015;



Noise Impact assessment (P15-558-RO1-V1);



Dnwg 2756/EX1 and UKS9667 Lighting Scheme;



Junction Details (5977 H600 Rev C);



Cycle Path (5977 H600 Rev G);



Drainage Scheme, date received 8th April 2016;



Proposed materials, date received 8th April 2016;



Dnwg 306-39J Floor Levels;



Air Conditioning Details, date received 11th November 2016;



Vehicle Control Barrier Details, date received 11th November 2016;

11

Page 219



Drawing No: 306-137 Rev C – UPVC Window Details and Full Window
Schedule;



Drawing No: 306-138 Rev D – Aluminium Window and Entrance Door Details;



Drawing 2519/4 Rev E & 2519/5 Rev D Hard and Soft Landscaping;



Drawing No: 306-110 Rev N Location of Bike Racks;



Drawing No: 306-151 Rev J Location and Number of Bike racks;



Travel Plan, date received 9th January 2017;



Noise Management Plan, date received 17/05/2021.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to define the permission.

Condition (2) All walls of the building to be stone faced shall be built from random
coursed natural limestone similar in colour and of similar texture to stone quarried
within the County of Cumbria.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance of development in accordance with
Policy CS8.10 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy.

Condition (3) The roof of the building shall be covered with slate coloured metal
profile sheeting.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance of development in accordance with
Policy CS8.10 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy

Condition (4) No air conditioning, extraction or ventilation units or any other ancillary
plant shall be installed unless precise details of its location, dimensions, appearance
and noise output have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt, in the interests of residential amenity and to
ensure a satisfactory standard of development in accordance with Policy CS8.10 of
the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy

Condition (5) The use of the balcony shall not take place other than between the
following hours:08:00 - 22:00 hours Sunday to Saturday.

12

Page 220

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the neighbouring residents in accordance with
the National Planning Policy Framework.

Condition (6) The use of the clubhouse (excluding the toilet and shower facilities)
and grounds (excluding the land used for seasonal camping) shall not take place
other than between the following hours:08:00 – 23:00 hours Sunday to Thursday
08:00 – Midnight Friday and Saturday
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the neighbouring residents in accordance with
the National Planning Policy Framework.

Condition (7) The car park area should not be used for any purpose other than the
parking of vehicles between 23.00 and 08.00 hours.
Reason: To minimise the impact of noise to safeguard against the development
having a significant adverse impact upon the residential amenity at nearby
properties.

Condition (8) Floodlighting provided for use on the training pitch shall not be used
other than between 10.00 and 21.30 hours.
Reason: To minimise the visual impact of light emitted from the site on neighbouring
light sensitive locations, and in the interests of visual amenity.

Condition (9) The visibility splays shown on Drwg 130901/05 Rev B Proposed
Access Arrangements, shall be maintained free of any obstruction over 1 metre in
height above the adjacent carriageway.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy CS10.2 of the
adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy

Condition (10) The parking spaces shall be used solely for the benefit of the
spectators and visitors of the rugby club and seasonal camping use, and for no other
purpose.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

13

Page 221

Condition (11) The herby approved development shall be conducted in accordance
with the approved Noise Management Plan (date received 17/05/2021).
Reason:
In the interest of residential amenity in accordance with Policy DM1 of
the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and Para 127
of the National Planning Policy Framework.

14

Page 222

Item No.10

Planning Application no. SL/2021/0102
Kendal Rugby Union Football Club,
Mint Bridge, Shap Road, Kendal

www.southlakeland.gov.uk
Page 223

Contents
Planning Application no. SL/2021/0102................................................................................. 1
Summary ............................................................................................................................... 5
Recommendation .................................................................................................................. 5
1.0 Description and proposal ................................................................................................ 5
Site Description ............................................................................................................... 5
Proposal .......................................................................................................................... 6
2.0 Consultations .................................................................................................................. 6
Kendal Town Council ...................................................................................................... 6
Cumbria County Council Highways and LLFA ................................................................ 6
Sport England ................................................................................................................. 6
Public Protection ............................................................................................................. 7
Public Responses ........................................................................................................... 7
3.0 Relevant planning history ................................................................................................ 7
4.0 Relevant planning policies .............................................................................................. 8
National Planning Policy Framework .............................................................................. 8
Local Development Policies ............................................................................................ 8
5.0 Assessment .................................................................................................................... 8
Principle of Development and Local Plan Policy ............................................................. 8
Impact on Amenity ........................................................................................................ 11
Highways Impacts ......................................................................................................... 12
Landscape and Character of the Area .......................................................................... 12
Economic Impact .......................................................................................................... 13
Ecology ......................................................................................................................... 13
Other Matters ................................................................................................................ 14
Planning Balance and Conclusions............................................................................... 14
6.0 Recommendation .......................................................................................................... 14

2

Page 224

3

Page 225

4

Page 226

Summary
SL/2021/0102
PARISH: Kendal
Kendal Rugby Union Football Club, Mint Bridge, Shap Road, KENDAL, LA9 6NY
PROPOSAL: Change of use from training pitches to training pitches and seasonal (1st May
– 31st August) camping
APPLICANT: Kendal Rugby Union Football Club
Grid Ref: E: 352423 N: 494596
Committee date: 29th July 2021
Case Officer: Nic Unwin
The proposal seeks full planning permission for the change of use of the land to allow
seasonal (1st May – 31st August) camping.
The proposed site forms part of the existing training pitches at Kendal Rugby Club.
The current application has been referred to committee as the application has been ‘called
in’ by Councillor Archibald.

Recommendation
The recommendation is to approve the application subject to conditions set out at the foot of
the report.

1.0 Description and proposal
Site Description
1.1.

The proposed site forms part of the existing training pitches of Kendal Rugby Club.

1.2.

Kendal Rugby Club is outside of, but adjoins the north-east of Kendal Development
Boundary. The proposed site forms part of the training pitches, approximately 80
metres north-east of the existing club house.

1.3.

The proposed site is accessed via an existing vehicular access to Kendal Rugby
Club onto the A6 to the west. There is an existing car park serving the rugby club
adjoining the western section of the proposed site.

1.4.

There is an access road running along the northern boundary of the site with open
agricultural land to the north and to the south-east of the proposed site. A cluster of
5

Page 227

5 dwellings that look to have been converted from former mill buildings
approximately 50 metres to the north-east of the proposed site.
1.5.

The proposed site is bordered by a drystone wall along the northern boundary, a
mature hedgerow along the north-eastern boundary and mature trees along the
south-eastern boundary.

1.6.

The proposed site is located within Flood Zone 1 with the south-eastern boundary
of the site adjoining the River Kent and Tributaries SSSI.

Proposal
1.7.

The proposal seeks full planning permission for the change of use of the land to
permit camping of up to 20 pitches between the 1st of May – 31st of August. Outside
of these dates the proposed site will continue to be used as a training pitch in
association with the rugby club. The land will exclusively be used for camping with
no caravans or campervans permitted on the proposed site.

1.8.

The proposal would utilize the existing toilet and shower facilities within the club
house (current variation of conditions application SL/2021/0101 would facilitate
this). All vehicles associated with the proposed camping use would use the existing
club house car park.

2.0 Consultations
Kendal Town Council
2.1.

No material objections.

Cumbria County Council Highways and LLFA
2.2.

Bearing in mind the existing use of the site, its car park and access, which is
designed to host rugby matches with their accompaniment of spectators arriving by
car, I do not consider that the proposal to operate 20 camping pitches during the
off-season will have a material impact on highway conditions nor will it increase the
flood risk for the site.

2.3.

I can therefore confirm that the Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority
have no objection to the proposal.

Sport England
2.4.

No objections.

6

Page 228

Public Protection
2.5.

I have reviewed the document entitled ‘Noise Management Plan: Kendal Rugby
Club – Seasonal campsite (May 2021) for the Kendal Rugby Club campsite and I
can confirm that the proposed measures are acceptable to control potential noise
impacts resulting from the development. I recommend any future permission
granted includes a condition for the operation to be in accordance with the Noise
Management Plan dated May 2021.

Public Responses
2.6.

Consultation responses – 9 objections, 0 support, 0 observations – The following
points were raised:


Noise pollution



Insufficient parking



Landscape impact

3.0 Relevant planning history
3.1.

The applications relating to Kendal Rugby Club are as follows:



SL/2015/0016 – Engineering operation and development to re-grade the site to form
one full sized floodlit rugby pitch, one full sized floodlit artificial pitch, two training
pitches, a clubhouse, parking and landscaping. Full Approval.



SL/2016/0026 – Discharge of conditions 4, 7, 14, 16, 21, 24 and 25 of approval
SL/2015/0016. Discharge of condition approval.



SL/2016/0330 – Discharge of conditions 3, 8, 9, 10, 11 and 23 of approval
SL/2015/0016. Discharge of condition approval.



SL/2016/1059 – Discharge of conditions 6, 17 and 26 of approval SL/2015/0016.
Discharge of condition approval.



SL/2017/0013 – Discharge of conditions 5, 7, 27 and 26 of approval SL/2015/0016.
Discharge of condition approval.



SL/2021/0101 – Variation of condition 19 of approval SL/2015/0016. Live.

3.2.

Reference to some of the applications will be made later in the report

7

Page 229

4.0 Relevant planning policies
National Planning Policy Framework
Chapter 2, Achieving sustainable development
Chapter 9 Promoting sustainable transport
Chapter 12 Achieving well designed places

Local Development Policies
South Lakeland Core Strategy Policies (CS)
CS1.1 Sustainable development principles
CS1.2 The development strategy
CS8.2 Protection and enhancement of landscape and settlement character
CS8.10 Design

Land Allocations Development Plan Document (LA)
LA1.1 Development Boundaries
LA1.11 Existing Outdoor Formal Sports Facilities

South Lakeland Development Management Development Plan
Document Policies (DM)
DM1 – General Requirements for all development
DM2 – Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design
DM4 – Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping
DM9 – Parking Provision, New and Loss of Car Parks
DM18 – Tourist accommodation – caravans, chalets, log cabins, camping and new purpose
built self-catering accommodation (outside the Arnside and Silverdale AONB)

5.0 Assessment
Principle of Development and Local Plan Policy
5.1.

Policy DM18 of the Development Management Policies DPD supports proposals for
new camping sites where “the site is sustainably located within or adjoining
8

Page 230

Principal, Key, or Local Service Centres. In the first instance, priority will be given to
the re-use of previously developed sites, provided these are not of high
environmental value”.
5.2.

The proposed site is considered to be within a highly sustainable location adjoining
the Kendal Development Boundary defined as a Principle Service Centre within the
Core Strategy.

5.3.

The NPPF defines previously developed land as “Land which is or was occupied by
a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the developed land and any
associated fixed surface infrastructure”. The proposed site is considered to be part
of the curtilage of Kendal Rugby Club and there represents previously developed
land.

5.4.

Policy DM18 requires all new caravan and camping sites to:
“a) be of a scale and design appropriate to the locality; and”
The proposal is for 20 camping pitches with no physical alterations to the proposed
site. Given this small scale and size of the existing site the scale of the proposal is
considered appropriate for its locality.
“b) not have an adverse impact (individually or cumulatively) on the countryside or
coast, in terms of landscape, character and visual amenity; and”
The proposal is for camping only with no caravans or vehicles permitted on the site
which reduces visibility. The site is well screened from existing public view points.
The proposal adjoins the Kendal Development boundary and will be viewed in the
context of the surrounding built environment. The proposal is not considered to
have any adverse landscape or visual impact (this is assessed further in the
Landscape and Character of the Area section).
“c) be capable of being effectively screened by existing landform, trees or planting.
Additional effective landscaping may be needed to supplement existing
landscaping; and”
The proposed development is considered to be well screened from the primary
public view point of the A6 by the rise in land to the north and existing vegetation to
the west (this is assessed further in the Landscape and Character of the Area
section).
“d) not have an adverse impact on surrounding residential amenity; and”
The proposed site is approximately 50 metres from the closest dwellings. The
proposal is for a modest 20 pitches maximum (controlled through condition). The
A6 lies to the west of the site and an existing industrial estate and therefore there is
an existing level of background noise. A Noise Management Plan was submitted
and reviewed by Public Protection who raised no objections. Based on this, the

9

Page 231

impact of the proposed development on residential amenity is considered limited
(this is assessed further in the Impact on Amenity section).
“e) not give rise to unacceptable impacts on the local road network, either through
traffic generation from the site itself, or through cumulative impacts alongside other
sites; and”
The proposed camping use would be used outside of the rugby season. The
existing car park has approximately 164 parking spaces which is considered more
than capable of accommodating the proposed 20 pitches. Cumbria County Council
as Highways Authority were consulted on the application raising no objections. The
proposal is not considered to impact highway safety (this is assessed further in the
Highways Impacts section).
“f) protect and enhance biodiversity assets; and”
The proposed development will not require the removal of any vegetation. A
condition has been recommended for the submission of a scheme of biodiversity
net gain.
“g) be constructed of appropriate external materials and colours that are
sympathetic to its locality; and”
The proposal does not involve any physical alterations to the site and therefore this
element of the policy does not apply.
“h) demonstrate the delivery of tangible local economic benefits”
Accurately quantify the economic benefits of a relatively small scale camp site such
as the proposed development is difficult. However, the BH&HPA UK Holiday Parks
– Economic Impact Study January 2012 calculates that visitor expenditure per
pitch, per annum as £2,600. This would give the proposal an annual visitor
expenditure (factoring in inflation) within the local economy of approximately
£62,795. Based on the above it is considered that tangible local economic benefits
can be demonstrated and the proposal complies with criteria h).
5.5.

Policy LA1.11 of the Land Allocations DPD which states that “the Outdoor Sports
Facilities identified within the Policies Map will be safeguarded”. This is supported
by Para 92 of the NPPF which requires planning decisions to guard against the
unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services.

5.6.

The existing site is used used as a training pitch associated with \Kendal Rugby
Club. Kendal Rugby Club was given permission in 2015 and is therefore not
included within the Land Allocations DPD (2013). Never the less, it is considered to
be a designated Outdoor Sports Facility and as such benefits from the protections
afforded to within the Land Allocations DPD and NPPF.

5.7.

The proposed development would retain the existing use of the land as a training
pitch for Kendal Rugby Club, however in the off season (1st May – 31st August) it
10

Page 232

would allow for the unutilised site to be used for 20 camping pitches. The revenue
generated would contribute to the finances of the Kendal Rugby Club. Sport
England were consulted on the application and raised no objections.
5.8.

Based on the above the proposed development is considered to comply with Policy
DM18 of the Development Management Policies DPD governing the principle of
new camping sites. The proposed camp site would operate during the closed
season and therefore would not result in the loss of any Outdoor Sports Facilities.

Impact on Amenity
5.9.

Policy DM1 of the Development Management Policies DPD states that new
development should ensure the delivery of acceptable levels of amenity for existing,
neighbouring and future users. This is supported by Para 127 of the NPPF which
states that new development should provide high standard of amenity for existing
and future users.

5.10.

All of the public objections raised the issue of potential noise generated from the
users of the proposed camp site.

5.11.

The proposed campsite would result in the creation of 20 pitches which could be
controlled through condition. The campsite is approximately 50 metres from the 5
dwellings to the north-east at its closest point which is not considered to be
insignificant.

5.12.

The proposed site is approximately 60 metres east of the Shap Road Industrial
Estate and 50 metres east of the A6. It is therefore considered that there will be an
existing level of background noise observed at the site from the industrial uses of
the industrial estate and vehicular movements along the A6.

5.13.

It is acknowledged that some of the neighbor responses state that they have
experienced excessive noise levels from the site when it was used in previous
years as a campsite on a temporary basis.

5.14.

Public Protection were consulted on the application and requested the submission
of a Noise Management Plan. The Noise Management Plan stipulates that all
vehicles will be parked within the existing parking area with no vehicles permitted to
enter the proposed site, a list of site rules which which customers will have to agree
to (including an 11pm site curfew, no amplified electronic music, no camp fires or
BBQ’s etc) and staff at the existing Rugby Club will monitor the campsite when in
operation and be available to act on any complaints by neighbors. The Noise
Management Plan is part of the recommended conditions. Public Protection
reviewed the submitted Noise Management Plan and raised no objections.

5.15.

Based on the above, it is considered that through the imposition of conditions
relating to the maximum number of pitches and Noise Management Plan, the
impact of the proposal on the amenity of neighboring residents can be reduced to
an acceptable level.
11

Page 233

Highways Impacts
5.16.

Policy DM9 of the Development Management Policies DPD requires all
developments to provide acceptable levels of car, motorcycle and bicycle parking.

5.17.

The public responses to the application raised concerns surrounding the proposal’s
parking provision.

5.18.

Kendal Rugby Club has approximately 164 car parking spaces. Given the proposal
is for a maximum of 20 camping pitches and would operate during the off season, it
is considered that the existing car park could comfortably accommodate the parking
requirements for the proposal. Cumbruia County Council were consulted on the
application and raised no objections.

5.19.

Based on the above the proposal is considered acceptable from a highways
perspective.

Landscape and Character of the Area
5.20.

Policy DM1 of the Development Management Policies DPD requires new
development to protect and enhance the District’s distinctive landscapes and
townscapes. Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies DPD states that
new development should respond appropriately to local and settlement character
and be well proportioned and positioned with its surroundings.

5.21.

Policy CS8.2 of the Core Strategy states that new development should support and
enhance local distinctiveness and protect and enhance key local features and
characteristics. Policy CS8.10 requires new development to maintain or enhance
the quality of the landscape or townscape.

5.22.

Chapter 12 ‘Achieving well-designed places’ of the NPPF requires new
development to be sympathetic to local character and landscape setting.

5.23.

Some of the public objections raised concerns regarding the proposal’s impact on
landscape and character of the area.

5.24.

The proposed site forms part of the training pitches for Kendal Rugby Club. The
large car park for the rugby club adjoins the western corner of the proposed site.
Kendal Rugby Club adjoins the Kendal Development Boundary. Due to the
proposal’s location adjoining the existing built environment with an industrial estate
60 metres to the west, it will be viewed within the context of this surrounding built
environment.

5.25.

The primary public view point of the proposal is from the A6 to the west. When
approaching the site via the A6 from the south, brief views of the site are possible,
however these views are in the context of the large car park on the foreground.
When approaching the site via the A6 from the north, the land to the north of the
12

Page 234

proposed site had a higher topography and screens the site from this direction.
5.26.

The proposed site can be limited to a maximum number of 20 camping pitched with
vehicles and caravans prohibited from entering the site through condition. This is
considered to further reduce any potential landscape impact with caravans usually
larger and more visually prominent.

5.27.

Based on the sites location adjacent to the Kendal Development Boundary and built
environment of Kendal, the proposed development is considered to have a limited
landscape impact.

Economic Impact
5.28.

Policy CS1.1 of the Core Strategy emphasizes the need to grow the local economy
in a sustainable way. This is supported by Para 80 of the NPPF which states that
significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and
productivity.

5.29.

Although the proposed site is limited to a maximum 20 pitches, these guests will
spend money within the local economy. Accurately quantify the economic benefits
of such a proposal is difficult. However, the BH&HPA UK Holiday Parks – Economic
Impact Study January 2012 calculates that visitor expenditure per pitch, per annum
as £2,600. This would give the proposal an annual visitor expenditure (factoring in
inflation) within the local economy of between £62,795.

5.30.

Based on the above, the proposal is considered to contribute to the local economy
and should therefore benefit from the weight afforded to it through Para 80 of the
NPPF.

Ecology
5.31.

Policy DM4 is focused on ensuring that all new development proposals will, unless
it can be demonstrated that it is not possible, result in environmental net gains for
biodiversity, green and blue infrastructure and demonstrate how the use of
multifunctional green and blue infrastructure will deliver wider requirements and
objectives. The design of proposals should mitigate the negative impacts of the
development by incorporating beneficial biodiversity and geodiversity conservation
features, including features that will help wildlife to adapt to climate change where
appropriate.

5.32.

The supporting text to Policy DM4 states it is recognised the nature and scale of net
gains that can be achieved from proposals will vary depending on the size, location
and type of development under consideration. In this respect, policy requirements
relating to net gain will be applied to all new developments as relevant to the
proposal under consideration.

13

Page 235

5.33.

No evidence of biodiversity net gains has been submitted with the application. It is
considered that due to the size and condition of the existing site, biodiversity net
gains are achievable. A condition has been recommended to secure the provision
of biodiversity net gains.

Other Matters
5.34.

The application is reliant on the use of the toilet and shower facilities within the
existing Rugby Clubhouse. The use of the toilet and shower facilities in connection
with the proposal can only be achieved through the granting of the variation of
condition application SL/2021/0101. Therefore should the proposal be approved,
SL/2021/0101 will additionally need to be approved so that this permission is
implementable.

Planning Balance and Conclusions
5.35.

The proposal would allow a training pitch at Kendal Rugby Club to be used as a
camping site during the off season (1st May – 31st August (inclusive)). This would
provide an additional source of income to Kendal Rugby Club in addition to guests’
spending money within the local economy.

5.36.

It is acknowledged that the proposal has the potential to result in additional noise
levels which could impact the amenity of neighbouring residents. It is considered
that this can be reduced to an acceptable level and effectively controlled through
condition.

5.37.

The existing 164 space car park is considered to provide ample parking for the
proposal. Due to the site’s relationship with the existing built environment and
natural screening from public view points, it is considered to have a limited
landscape impact.

5.38.

Based on the above, on balance the proposed development is recommended for
approval.

6.0 Recommendation
Planning permission SL/2020/0102 is recommended to be granted subject to the following
conditions:
Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three
years from the date of this decision.
Reason:
To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

14

Page 236

Condition (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans:


Location Plan, date received 03/02/2021;



Noise Management Plan, date received 17/05/2021.

Reason:

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

Condition (3) The proposed camping use shall be limited to the 1st May – 31st
August unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Outside of
these dates the proposed site will continue to be used as a training pitch in
association with Kendal Rugby Club unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason:
To protect the existing Outdoor Sports Facility use in accordance with
Policy LA1.11 of the Land Allocations Development Plan Document and Para 92 of
the National Planning Policy Framework.

Condition (4) There shall be a maximum number of 20 pitches at any one time on
the Site Outline identified within the Location Plan (date received 03/02/2021).
Reason:
In the interest of residential amenity and to preserve the landscape in
accordance with Policies CS8.2 and CS8.10 of the Core Strategy Development Plan
Document, Policies DM1 and DM2 of the Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document and Para 127 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.

Condition (5) No vehicles or Caravans (as defined in the Caravan Sites and Control
of Development Act 1960 and the Caravan Sites Act 1968), shall be stationed on the
site at any time.
Reason:
To preserve the landscape in accordance with Policies CS8.2 and
CS8.10 of the Core Strategy Development Plan Document, Policies DM1 and DM2
of the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and
Chapter 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Condition (6) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting
that Order with or without modification), the written approval of the Local Planning
Authority shall be obtained for the construction and siting of any buildings, structures,
erections, motorhomes or touring caravans (whether temporary or otherwise) to be
placed or parked on the site.
15

Page 237

Reason:
To preserve the local environment and landscape in accordance with
Policy DM18 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document.

Condition (7) The herby approved development shall be conducted in accordance
with the approved Noise Management Plan (date received 17/05/2021).
Reason:
In the interest of residential amenity in accordance with Policy DM1 of
the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and Para 127
of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Condition (8) A register of all occupants of the site hereby approved shall be
maintained at all times and shall be made available for inspection by the Local
Planning Authority on request. The register shall comprise consecutively numbered
pages, which shall be kept in order, and each entry shall contain the name and
address of the principal occupier together with the dates of occupation.
Reason:
To safeguard the local tourist economy in accordance with Policy DM18
of the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and Policy
CS7.6 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.

Condition (9) Prior to the first use of the hereby approved development, a scheme of
biodiversity net gain shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The agreed scheme shall be carried out as approved to the
agreed timetable and remain in perpetuity.
Reason:
These details are required to secure a biodiversity net gain for the
proposal in accordance with Policy DM4 of the Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document.

16

Page 238

Item No.11

Planning Application no. SL/2021/0025
15 The Park, Old Hutton, Kendal, LA8
0NX

www.southlakeland.gov.uk
Page 239

Contents
Planning Application no. SL/2021/0025................................................................................. 1
15 The Park, Old Hutton, Kendal, LA8 0NX .......................................................................... 1
Summary ............................................................................................................................... 4
Recommendation .................................................................................................................. 4
1.0 Description and proposal ................................................................................................ 4
Site Description ............................................................................................................... 4
Proposal .......................................................................................................................... 5
2.0 Consultations .................................................................................................................. 5
Old Hutton & Holmescales Parish Council ...................................................................... 5
Neighbours/Others .......................................................................................................... 5
3.0 Relevant planning history ................................................................................................ 5
4.0 Relevant planning policies .............................................................................................. 5
National Planning Policy Framework .............................................................................. 5
Local Development Policies ............................................................................................ 5
5.0 Assessment .................................................................................................................... 6
Principle of Development and Local Plan Policy ............................................................. 6
Visual Amenity ................................................................................................................ 6
Net Biodiversity Gain ...................................................................................................... 7
Residential Amenity ........................................................................................................ 7
Planning Balance and Conclusions................................................................................. 7
6.0 Recommendation ............................................................................................................ 8

2

Page 240

3

Page 241

Summary
SL/2021/0025
PARISH: Old Hutton & Holmescales
15 The Park, Old Hutton, Kendal, LA8 0NX
PROPOSAL: Installation of a 3m x 3.9m raised timber deck to the rear.
APPLICANT: Mr J Hignett
Grid Ref: E: 355798 N: 488690
Committee date: 29 July 2021
Case Officer: Lucy Isham
This application seeks permission to erect 3m x 3.9m raised timber deck to the rear of the
property at No. 15 The Park, Old Hutton, Kendal, LA8 0NX.
The main issue to consider is whether the proposal will have significant impacts on the
visual and residential amenity of the area.
The application is reported to the Planning Committee as a family member of the applicant
is a member of staff. This is in accordance with the Council’s Constitution and the Scheme
of Delegation.
It should be noted that the description of the development read ‘installation of a 4m x 3m
raised timber deck to the rear’. However, from the proposed plans it is clear that the
proposed deck measures 3m x 3.9m, the description has been amended accordingly, but
has not been re-advertised as the change has no material affect on either visual or
neighbouring amenity.

Recommendation
The recommendation is to grant subject to conditions.

1.0 Description and proposal
Site Description
1.1.

The site is located at No. 15 The Park, Old Hutton and is a detached property. The
properties along this row have views out to open countryside at the rear. The land
levels along the street slope from north to south. The rear garden is enclosed by
established boundary planting.

4

Page 242

Proposal
1.2.

The proposal seeks planning permission for the installation of a raised timber
decking area to the rear elevtation of the property. The development includes a
balustrade and external access stairs.

2.0 Consultations
Old Hutton & Holmescales Parish Council
2.1.

The members of Old Hutton & Holmescales Parish Council could not understand
why this application is for the decking to be built so high off ground – no justification
for it is given in the application. While the application asserts that the privacy of
neighbouring gardens will be maintained, there is no photographic proof that this
will be so.

Neighbours/Others
2.2.

Neighbour Consultation letters expired 24 February 2021. No neighbour
correspondence has been received in response to the letters.

2.3.

A site notice was erected on 4 February 2021, the notice expired on 25 February
2021. No correspondence has been received in response to the site notice.

3.0 Relevant planning history
3.1.

No relevant planning history.

4.0 Relevant planning policies
National Planning Policy Framework
Chapter 12 Achieving well designed places

Local Development Policies
South Lakeland Core Strategy Policies (CS)
CS1.1 Sustainable development principles
CS8.2 Protection and enhancement of landscape and settlement character
CS8.10 Design

5

Page 243

South Lakeland Development Management Development Plan
Document Policies (DM)
DM1 – General Requirements for all development
DM2 – Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design
DM4 – Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping

5.0 Assessment
Principle of Development and Local Plan Policy
5.1.

A residential extension in this location is acceptable in principle and the key issues
that apply to this application are:


The impact on visual and landscape settlement character



The impact on residential amenity

Visual Amenity
5.2.

The proposed development includes the installation of a raised decking area
projecting from the rear elevation of the property, incorporating a balustrade and
external access stairs.

5.3.

The proposed scheme is not permitted development relating to the dwellinghouse,
as it would consist of the provision of a raised platform with a height greater than
0.3 metres.

5.4.

The platform of the decking area shall project 3 metres from the rear elevation of
the dwellinghouse and measure 3.9 metres in width. Due to sloping land, where the
ground level on which the deck is situated, is at its lowest point, to the southern
elevation, the decking area is required to measure, when including the balustrade, a
height of 2.4 metres above ground level. To the northern elevation, where the
ground level, on which the deck is situated, is at its highest point, the deck, when
including the balustrade reaches to a height of 2 metres above ground level. The
raised decking area alone reaches to a height of 1.3 metres above ground level to
the south of the development and 0.9 metres above ground level to the north of the
development. The decking area will provide external views over the existing rear
boundary hedge to the open countryside.

5.5.

It is considered that the proposed raised decking area, with incorporated balustrade
and external access stairs, is appropriate domestic development in relation to the
host dwelling. By scale and design the development is subservient to the dwelling.
The proposed works will not have an adverse impact on the visual amenity of the
area. The proposal complies with Policies CS1.1, CS8.2 &
6

Page 244

CS8.10 of the Core Strategy and Policies DM1 & DM2 of the Development
Management Policies Development Plan Document.

Net Biodiversity Gain
5.6.

The National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 170 (d) requires that proposals
minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity this is echoed through
Local Plan Policies DM1 and DM4 of the Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document which require that unless it can be demonstrated that
this is not possible, all development proposals should result in net gains for
biodiversity.

5.7.

The net biodiversity gain measures proposed should be proportionate to the scale
of the development. In this case the applicant shall place a hedgehog house and
bird box on site.

5.8.

It is considered that the proposed measures are an appropriate net biodiversity gain
in context of the development proposed.

Residential Amenity
5.9.

The rear raised decking area is wholly enclosed within the rear garden of the
dwelling.

5.10.

No. 16 The Park, sits north of the proposed development. The decking area is
situated 12.8 metres from the shared boundary between the properties. Land levels
drop from north to south. The properties are separated by established planting on
the boundary.

5.11.

No. 14 The Park, sits to the south of the proposed development. The decking area
is situated 5.4 metres from the shared boundary between the properties. Again land
leves drop from north to south, when stood on the existing external access steps to
the side, rear, of No. 15 the outlook is over and above the roof top of the property of
No. 14. It is considered that the proposed decking area shall also have this outlook
and again the properties are separated by established boundary planting.

5.12.

As a result of the design, scale and position of the rear raised garden deck, the
proposal will not cause further overbearing, overshadowing or overlooking impacts
to a degree which would be harmful to the living conditions of neighbouring
residents.

Planning Balance and Conclusions
5.13.

Local Policy and the National Planning Policy Framework both have a presumption
in favour of sustainable development. Policy CS1.1 states that the development will
be considered sustainable where it is of a high quality, localised and appropriate
design is incorporated to retain distinctive character/ sense of
7

Page 245

place and enhance the existing building. On balance it is considered that the
proposed development complies with the principles within supporting policy due to
the appropriateness of the proposed design, scale and materials.
5.14.

The scale and design of the proposal does not adversely affect visual amenities or
third party residential amenity of neighbouring properties. As a result the proposal is
compliant with the requirements of the Core Strategy, Development Management
Policies Development Plan Document and the National Planning Policy Framework
and on balance is acceptable.

6.0 Recommendation
6.1.

GRANT subject to:

Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years from
the date of this decision.
Reason:

To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Condition (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans:
‘Proposed Rear Raised Garden Deck’ Drawing Number: 15TP/DECK/001
‘15TP-DECK-001-LOCN’ Plan Reference Number: TQRQM21031161214773
‘15TP-DECK-001-SITE’ Plan Reference Number: TQRQ2103116928064
As received by the Local Planning Authority 01 February 2021
Reason:

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

Condition (3) The development hereby permitted shall be constructed of the materials
details of which are shown on Drawing Number: 15TP/DECK/001. The
approved materials shall be retained thereafter, unless otherwise approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason:

To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance with
Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan
Document and Policy CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.

Condition (4) Prior to the first occupation of the hereby approved development a hedgehog
house and bird box shall be erected on site as agreed in an email received by
the Local Planning Authority 01/06/2021 from the applicant of the application.
8

Page 246

Thereafter, the approved hedgehog house and bird box shall be retained for
the lifetime of the development, replaced on a like-for-like basis as necessary.

Reason

To ensure net biodiversity gains in accordance with Policies DM1 & DM4 of
the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and
Policies CS1.1 & CS8.4 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.

P & P Statement
In the exercise of its judgement in determining the appropriate balance of considerations,
the Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application proposal, taking into account all material considerations. Material considerations
include planning policies and any representations that may have been received preceding
the determination to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in
favour of sustainable development as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.
The Local Planning Authority is satisfied that its processes and practices are compatible
with the Human Rights Act and the decisions of the European Court of Human Rights.

9

Page 247

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 248

